# Nutritional Epigenetic Modifications in Beef Cattle

by

Mumuni Gibril

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Animal Science

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science University of Alberta

© Mumuni Gibril, 2023

#### Abstract

Nutrition of the beef cow during pregnancy influences fetal development and potential changes in phenotype. On average 9-10% of beef cows are below the optimal condition score of 2.5/5 at both pre-breeding and pregnancy tests, indicating potential nutritional stress during gestation (Waldner and García Guerra, 2013). Epigenetic modifications are reported to regulate the changes in phenotype due to maternal nutrition during gestation. Prior research on the impact of gestational feed restriction during early to mid-gestation on semen methylation, reproductive development, and carcass characteristics in cattle progeny revealed differentially methylated regions (DMRs) in the semen as well as influences on growth trends and carcass characteristics in bull and steer progeny. The objective of the current study is to evaluate further the influence of maternal nutrition during gestation on molecular mechanisms regulating the observed changes in semen, *Longissimus dorsi* (LD), *Semimembranosus* muscle (SM), and liver (LV) at slaughter in cattle progeny (steers and bulls) and validate the DMRs identified in the semen methylation analysis.

DNA and RNA were extracted from the progeny and categorized based on the diet provided to their respective dams (Moderate or low diet) during gestation and genetic potential for residual feed intake (High-RFI or Low-RFI). DNA methylation analysis was conducted in LD, SM, and LV in steers and semen in bull progeny using EpiTYPER technology to validate DMRs identified in semen WGBS analysis and assess the influence of prenatal nutrition and RFI on the methylation at slaughter. The influence of prenatal nutrition and/or RFI on gene expression was also conducted in LD, SM, LV, and testis in the progeny at slaughter using nCounter element Tagset carried out by NanoString technologies.

In the bull study, the DMR validation study showed a difference in the methylation trend between average methylation (EpiTYPER) and mean methylation difference (whole-genome bisulfite sequencing [WGBS]). However, semen CpG methylation analysis showed that prenatal diet increased methylation in moderate diet (Mdiet) progeny in DMRs associated with testicular development and reproductive development (*ALDH3B1* and *INSL3*) as well as genomic imprinting and growth development (*IGF2R*-DMR2 and *GRB10*). Additionally, Low diet (Ldiet) bulls displayed higher expressions of the growth-promoting gene *PDPK1* in LD and SM muscle.

In steers, DMR methylation due to prenatal nutrition in LD, SM, and LV tissues mostly did not corroborate the findings in semen WGBS analysis. However, DMRs, *INSL3*, and *IGF2R* showed similar methylation trends in semen and SM due to prenatal nutrition while *GRB10* displayed similar methylation trends in SM and LV tissues in the current study. Also, RFI had a greater influence on methylation in LD, SM, and LV tissues while prenatal nutrition had a higher influence on methylation in SM muscle compared to LD and LV. The findings from this project show potential molecular modifications as a result of prenatal nutrition and selection for feed efficiency and provide a further understanding of epigenetic mechanisms regulating fetal programming phenomenon.

#### Preface

This thesis is an original work of Mumuni Gibril. The research studies of this project involved the use of Angus heifers received ethics approval by the University of Alberta Animal care and Use Committee (AUPs 135, 457, 483, and 877) in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Canada Council on Animal Care.

The research was conducted under the leadership and supervision of Drs. Carolyn Fitzsimmons at the University of Alberta. Animal treatment and experimental design for study 1 and 2 were conducted by Aidin Foroutan Naddafi and Meale Sarah Jade under supervision of Drs. Carolyn Fitzsimmons.

This project was financed by Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada

### Dedications

I dedicate this work to the Almighty Allah and my mother Hajia Sahadatu Alidu

for the support, endless prayers, and encouragement.

I am eternally GRATEFUL

#### Acknowledgement

To my supervisor, Dr. Carolyn Fitzsimmons, I would like to express my gratitude for this opportunity and for providing a great learning environment for me to conduct this research. I have acquired not skills not only in academics but in addition, some interpersonal skills that has shaped me into becoming an upright individual.

I would like to thank Dr. Paul Stothard for his invaluable, encouraging, and constructive contributions as part of my supervisor committee and helping to guide and shape my research project.

I want to also express my gratitude to Amir Behrouzi who oversaw my initial stages in conducting this research. His contributions to providing me with the necessary technical knowledge that were crucial to undertaking this project are inestimable.

To Aidin Foroutan Naddafi, and Julia Devos whose previous studies with this lab group assisted me immensely in shaping my thoughts and guiding me throughout the period of writing my thesis. Finally, to Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, my eternal gratitude for providing the financial support for this research.

Abstract	ii
Preface	iv
Dedications	v
Acknowledgement	vi
List of Tables	X
List of Figures	xii
Chapter 1. Introduction and Literature Review	1
1.1. Introduction	1
1.2. Pregnancy in cattle and fetal developmental processes	2
1.2.1. Embryogenesis	4
1.2.2. Skeletal muscle development	5
1.2.3. Adipogenesis	6
1.2.4. Fibrogenesis	7
1.2.5. Fetal growth	7
1.3. Effect on prenatal nutrition on the fetal developmental processes	8
1.3.1. First trimester of gestation	10
1.3.2. Second trimester of gestation	12
1.3.3. Third trimester of gestation	14
1.4. Effect on prenatal nutrition on offspring postnatal performance	17
1.4.1. Fetal organ development and growth trajectory	18
1.4.2. Postnatal muscle growth	20
1.4.3. Effect of carcass composition and meat quality	22
1.4.4. Interaction of prenatal nutrition and genetic potential for feed efficiency	24
1.4.5. Effect of reproductive performance	24
1.5. Molecular mechanisms of fetal programming	26
1.5.1. Overview of epigenetic modifications	28
1.5.2. Role of epigenetics in fetal programming	30
1.5.3. Mechanisms of epigenetics	30
1.6. DNA methylation	30
1.6.1. DNA methylation and fetal development	33
1.6.2. Effect of prenatal nutrition on DNA methylation	34
1.6.3. Methods of measuring DNA methylation	36

### **Table of Contents**

1.6.3.1. Bisulfite conversion approach	36
1.6.3.2. Restriction enzyme-based approach	37
1.6.3.3. Affinity enrichment approach	38
1.6.3.4. Profiling DNA methylation	39
1.7. Concluding remarks	39
1.8. Thesis objectives	40
1.9. General thesis hypotheses	41
Chapter 2. Effect of prenatal feed restriction and RFI on semen methylation and tissue gene expression in bull progeny	42
2.1. Introduction	42
2.2. Materials and methods	45
2.2.1. Animals and experimental design	45
2.2.2. Semen collection, carcass characteristics, and tissue sample collection	56
2.2.3. Selection of DMR-associated genes	57
2.2.4. Semen DNA extraction and methylation analysis	57
2.2.5. RNA extraction and NanoString gene expression analysis	62
2.2.6. Statistical Analysis	66
2.2.6.1. DNA methylation data processing	66
2.2.6.2. Gene expression data processing and normalization	66
2.2.6.3. Differential methylation and gene expression analysis	67
2.2.6.4. Principal component analysis	68
2.3. Results	69
2.3.2. Principal component analysis of gene expression	71
2.3.3. Semen DNA methylation in bull progeny	73
2.3.4. Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in <i>longissin</i> dorsi	nus 76
2.3.5. Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in semimembranosus muscle in bull progeny	78
2.3.6. Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in testis	80
2.4. Discussion	82
2.4.1. Comparative semen methylation analysis (WGBS vs EpiTYPER)	82
2.4.2. Effect of prenatal feed restriction and genetic potential for RFI on semen CpG methylation	84

2.4.3. Effect of prenatal feed restriction and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in <i>Longissimus dorsi, Semimembranosus</i> muscle, and liver tissues
2.4.4. Effect of prenatal diet and RFI on gene expression in testis of bull progeny
2.5. Conclusion
Chapter 3. Impact of prenatal feed restriction during early to mid-gestation and genetic potential for RFI on DNA methylation and gene expression in <i>Longissimus dorsi</i> , <i>Semimembranosus</i> muscle, and liver in steer progeny
3.1. Introduction
3.2. Materials and methods
3.2.1. Animals and experimental design
3.2.2. Sample collection
3.2.3. Selection of DMR-associated genes
3.2.4. DNA extraction and methylation analysis
3.2.5. RNA extraction and NanoString gene expression analysis
3.2.6. Statistical analysis
3.2.7. Principal component analysis
3.3. Results
3.3.1. Principal component analysis results
3.3.2. Effect of prenatal diet and RFI on DNA methylation in LD muscle
3.3.3. Effect of prenatal diet and RFI on DNA methylation in <i>semimembranosus</i> muscle (SM)
3.3.4. Effect of prenatal diet and RFI on DNA methylation in liver (LV) 118
3.3.5. Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in LD muscle
3.3.6. Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in SM muscle
3.3.7 Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for REL on gene expression in LV tissue 126
3.3.8 Correlation between DNA methylation and gene expression 128
3.4 Discussion
3.5 Conclusion
Chapter 4 General Conclusion 141
4.1 Limitations of study 145
4.2 Future directions 145
References

### List of Tables

Table 2.1 Nutrient analysis of ration (%DM) fed to heifers during the initial GrowSafe trial, 30-150 days of treatment and 150 days to parturition
Table 2.2 Dietary adjustment of moderate and low diets over the course of the trial (as fed) 53
Table 2.3 Nutrient analysis of ration (%DM) fed to bulls during the transition stage and final feeding period.       55
Table 2.4 Gene and chromosomal location of the 15 DNA fragments selected for the methylation analysis      60
Table 2.5 List of genes analyzed by NanoString nCounter genes expression analysis in LD, SM, and LV.       64
Table 2.6 Comparison between mean methylation difference (WGBS) and average CpG methylation (EpiTYPER)
Table 2.7 Impact of prenatal feed restriction during early to mid-gestation and RFI on DNAmethylation in semen of bulls as assessed by EpiTYPER analysis74
Table 2. 8 Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in Longissimusdorsi muscle of bull offspring at slaughter as assessed by NanoString.77
Table 2.9 Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression inSemimembranosus muscle of bull offspring at slaughter as assessed by NanoString
Table 2.10 Effect of genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in testis tissue of bull offspringat slaughter as assessed by NanoString
Table 3.1 Dietary adjustments of M- and L-diets fed to pregnant heifers from 30 to 150 days of gestation.         99
Table 3.2 Nutrient analysis of feeds fed to pregnant heifers during the feeding trials 100
Table 3.3 Genes and chromosomal location of the 15 CpG that were selected for the methylation analysis.         103
Table 3.4 List of genes analyzed by NanoString nCounter genes expression analysis in LD, SM, and LV.         106

Table 3.7 Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on DNA methylation in liver of steeroffspring at slaughter as assessed by EpiTYPER.119

 Table 3.10 Effect of genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in liver tissue of steer offspring at slaughter.

 127

## **List of Figures**

Figure 1.1 The development of a bovine embryo from fertilization to placentation
Figure 1. 2 The process of myogenesis
Figure 1.3 Schematic of DNA methylation programming
Figure 1. 4 Diagram showing the change in coat color in progeny of agouti mouse when their dams are supplemented with diet enriched with methyl donor
Figure 2.1 A ggbiplot of PCA profiling the gene expression pattern between LD, SM, LV, and TS
Figure 2. 2 Bar graph indicating differential methylation between prenatal diet and RFI interaction groups for A) CpG 24-25 B) CpG 26 in IGF2R-WGBS fragment75
Figure 3.1 Principal component analysis for DNA methylation distribution between tissues with red, blue, and green ellipses representing LD, SM, and LV tissues respectively Error! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 3.2 Principal component analysis for gene expression distribution between tissues with red, blue, and green ellipses representing LD, SM, and LV tissues respectively
Figure 3.3 Bar graph displaying differential methylation between prenatal diet and RFI interaction steer sub-groups for A) <i>COLQ</i> (CpG 7) and B) <i>PDPK1</i> (CpG 16)
Figure 3.4 Bar graphs displaying differential methylation associated with the interaction of prenatal diet and RFI upon steer treatment groups in SM muscle for A) <i>ALDH3B1</i> (CpG 18), B) <i>COLQ</i> (CpG 11), C) <i>IGF2R</i> -DMR2 (CpG 3-4) and D) <i>SCD5</i> (CpG 8-9)
Figure 3.5 Bar graphs displaying differential methylation associated with the interaction of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI in steer LV tissue for A) <i>INSL3</i> (CpG 14), B) <i>RASGRF1</i> (CpG 5-6), and C) <i>SCD5</i> (CpG 6)
Figure 3.6 Bar graph indicating differential gene expression between prenatal diet and RFI interaction in steer groups for <i>PACS2</i>

### **List of Abbreviations**

5hmC	5-hydroxymethylcytosine
5mC	5-methylcytosine
ADG	Average daily gain
AI	Artificial insemination
BCS	Body condition score
C/EBPs	CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins
CpG	Cytosine-guanine dinucleotide
DM	Dry matter
DMI	Daily dry matter intake
DMRs	Differentially methylated regions
Dnmts	DNA methyltransferases
DOHAD	Developmental Origin of Health and Diseases
FBXO32	F-box only protein 32
FW	Final weight
GIT	Gastrointestinal tract
GS	GrowSafe System®
IFN- τ	Interferon- τ
IP	Immunoprecipitation
IUGR	Intrauterine growth restriction
LD	Longissimus dorsi
LV	Liver
MDWT	Midpoint weight
MEF2A	Myocyte enhancer factor 2A
MRFs	Myogenic regulatory factors
MWT	Metabolic bodyweight
NGS	Next generation sequencing
PGC	Primordial germ cells

$PGF_{2\alpha}$	Prostaglandin F2-alpha
PPARγ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma
RFI HPA	Residual feed intake Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
RRBS	Reduced representation bisulfite sequencing
SM	Semimembranosus muscle
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor-beta
TRIM63	Tripartite motif-containing protein 63
TS	Testis
WGBS	Whole-genome bisulfite sequencing

#### **Chapter 1. Introduction and Literature Review**

#### **1.1. Introduction**

The intrauterine environment provides conditions necessary for the growth and development of the fetus during pregnancy, making fetal growth and development highly susceptible to its conditions. During pregnancy, aberrations in the utero-environment impair the development of the placenta as well as organ systems and tissue (Burton et al., 2010). The placenta serves as a transport system for the supply of nutrients and other substrates for the formation and development of organs and systems that are required for the normal functioning of an individual. The fetal growth trajectory is largely dependent on maternal nutritional storage and supply and is also directly related to the morphology and efficiency in the functional capability of the placenta (Redmer et al., 2004). This implies that maternal prenatal nutritional status dictates the intrauterine conditions for fetal development (Funston et al., 2010).

Several epidemiological studies in humans and livestock have elucidated the importance of prenatal maternal nutrition to the development and performance of offspring both in pre-and postnatal stages (Mi et al., 2000). In humans, maternal undernutrition and overnutrition during pregnancy predispose offspring to metabolic and cardiovascular disorders and increase the risk of perinatal mortality and morbidity (Barker et al., 1990). In livestock studies, suboptimal nutrient supply to the fetus could lead to stunted development of organs and tissues that are deemed economically important, increased morbidity and mortality of offspring, impairment in postnatal development, and reduced feed efficiency, which consequently can reduce the general productivity of the livestock (Funston & Summers, 2013; Wu et al., 2006).

The process by which the fetus perceives and responds to both intrinsic and extrinsic signals during critical stages of development is known as fetal programming (Marciniak et al., 2017).

Intrinsic factors influencing fetal development are related to the placental functions while quality and quantity of maternal nutritional supply, environmental stress, and age during gestation serve as extrinsic factors that affect fetal development (Funston & Summers, 2013).

In beef cattle production, the productivity of cattle is dependent on genotype as well as production management. In a bid to maximize economic gains, cattle producers may compromise production factors such as quality or quantity of feed, which accounts for about 70% of total production costs (Lawrence et al., 2008). Also, due to extreme changes in climatic weather conditions over the production period, the quality and quantity of feed available for cattle are not always optimum. Furthermore, the feed and water intake of beef cattle exposed to extreme weather conditions are compromised resulting in increased stressed situations (National Research Council (US) Subcommittee on Environmental Stress, 1981)

These factors could lead cattle to be underfed at critical stages of production such as the breeding season, gestation, as well as the development of their offspring (Dunlap et al., 2015). The objective of this chapter is to describe and discuss the processes that occur during gestation in cattle, fetal development, and programming, the impact of prenatal nutrition on productivity, and mechanisms underlying fetal programming.

#### 1.2. Pregnancy in cattle and fetal developmental processes

Maternal cognizance of pregnancy is influenced by the interaction between the embryo, its membrane, and the uterus. The recognition of pregnancy in cattle initiates with the production of progesterone which results from inactivation of the process of luteolysis when fertilization occurs, allowing the corpus luteum to persist (Caleb et al., 2014). According to Peters (1996), failure of luteolysis inactivation, and thus insufficient progesterone secretion accounts for approximately 60-65% fall in pregnancy rates. The embryo inhibits the luteolytic process by preventing the

development of oxytocin receptors in the uterus. Oxytocin stimulates the secretion of the hormone prostaglandin F2-alpha (PGF<sub>2a</sub>). The presence of the PGF<sub>2a</sub> hormone is a luteolytic signal that indicates ongoing estrus activities and stalls the activities of the corpus luteum. The recognition of pregnancy requires the release of an anti-luteolytic signal, interferon- $\tau$  (IFN- $\tau$ ) by the conceptus (Spencer et al., 1996). The release of biochemical signals by the conceptus in the uterus is termed maternal recognition of pregnancy (Spencer & Bazer, 2004). The interaction between the maternal membrane, the embryo, and/or corpus luteum to prevent the regression of progesterone production signifies a successful recognition of pregnancy (Bazer et al., 1997).

The ovum begins to divide mitotically approximately 30 hours after fertilization leading to the formation of a 16 to 32 cluster of cells known as a blastomere (Valdão *et al.*, 2018). The blastomere will subsequently hollow out by day 8, forming a blastocyst consisting of trophoblast and an inner cell mass. The trophoblast is formed from the surface cells of the blastomere. It develops into the yolk sac and part of the placenta, eventually becoming the main nutritional source for the embryo (Figure 1.1). The inner cell mass eventually develops into the embryo and subsequently the fetus.



Figure 1.1 The development of a bovine embryo from fertilization to placentation

In cattle, the embryo establishes contact with the uterus by five weeks after fertilization in a process known as implantation. Major organs, systems, and tissues start to develop during the embryonic stage. As the developmental process progresses, the nutritional requirements of the embryo also increase leading to the formation of an extra-embryonic membrane. This extra-embryonic membrane creates a conduit for the transfer of nutrients, exchange of gases, and discharge of fetal waste, and is known as the placenta. The formation of the placenta creates an intimate connection between the fetal and maternal uterine membranes for physiological exchange. The blood flow within the placenta influences the efficiency to which nutrients and metabolites are transferred to the fetus (Reynolds & Redmer, 1995). Fetal growth and metabolism are also enhanced by placental steroidogenesis. Hormones including progesterone and estrogens help in the maintenance of pregnancy, hence proving a suitable intrauterine environment for fetal growth during mid to late gestation (Conley & Mason, 1990; Perin & Maluf, 2015).

#### 1.2.1. Embryogenesis

The period between fertilization to the completion of organogenesis is known as embryogenesis. The period usually begins from day 1 to about day 42 of pregnancy and is characterized by a process known as gastrulation (Papaioannou, 2004). Gastrulation is the development three germ layers namely endoderm, ectoderm, and mesoderm, which eventually give rise to various organs and systems. The endoderm is the innermost part of the germ layers, it develops into part of the digestive system, respiratory tract, majority of endocrine glands, and the urinary tract (Hogan & Zaret, 2002; Perin & Maluf, 2015; Wlizla & Zorn, 2015). The mesoderm is the mid-germ layer, and it is functionally associated with the endoderm and ectoderm. Mesoderm differentiates and evolves into parts of cranial tissues, muscle, cardiac, and circulatory systems. By its association with the endoderm, mesoderm aids in the formation of tissues such as the liver, pancreas, and

trachea. The mesoderm in association with ectoderm forms part of the dermis (Papaioannou, 2004). The mesoderm germ layer also gives rise to the excretory and respiratory systems. The ectoderm is the outer germ layer that mainly evolves into the nervous system and the integumentary system (Nowotschin & Hadjantonakis, 2020).

#### 1.2.2. Skeletal muscle development

The development of muscle fibers, which are the main constituent of skeletal muscle, is one of the more important prenatal developmental processes in beef cattle research as skeletal muscle is a major trait of economic importance. Therefore, the development of muscle fiber during gestation is crucial to the productivity of the offspring. The process of muscle development during the gestation period is known as myogenesis (Yan et al., 2013).

Muscle development takes place during the prenatal and postnatal stages of life. However, the most important aspect of the muscle developmental process occurs during the prenatal stage i.e., both embryonic and fetal periods of gestation. The embryonic and fetal muscle developmental process is known as primary and secondary myogenesis, respectively. Postnatally, muscle fiber tends to undergo hypertrophy with no new formation of muscle fiber (Rehfeldt et al., 2000). As mentioned earlier, the mesoderm is the germ layer involved in the development of muscle. The myogenic process is regulated by proteins Wingless and Int, paired box gene *Pax 3* and *Pax 7*. Wingless and Int initiate embryonic myogenesis by activating myogenic signaling pathways and *Pax 3* and *Pax 7* aid in the activities of myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs), Myf-5, Myo-D, and myogenin (Cisternas et al., 2014; Yan et al., 2013). These MRFs regulate myogenic progression and lineage (von Maltzahn et al., 2012). Myogenic precursor cells originating from mesenchymal are regulated by MRFs and converted into myoblasts. The myoblasts multiply, differentiate, and

fuse into multinucleated cells known as myotubes. These myotubes subsequently form muscle tissues (Du et al., 2010a; Rehfeldt et al., 2000).



Figure 1.2 The process of myogenesis

Primary myogenesis occurs during the first 2 months of gestation in cattle and produces a small number of muscle fibers. Many muscle fibers are formed during the secondary stage of myogenesis during the fetal stage and occur between the 2<sup>nd</sup> to 7<sup>th</sup> months of fetal development of gestation.

#### 1.2.3. Adipogenesis

Mesenchymal stem cells also differentiate into adipocytes in a process known as adipogenesis. The formation of adipocytes occurs during mid-gestation coinciding with myogenesis. Preadipocytes are formed in the initial stages of the process and differentiate into mature adipocytes in late gestation. Transcription factors peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARγ) and CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins (C/EBPs) regulate adipogenesis. Intramuscular adipocytes are formed during adipogenesis, and this is known as marbling. Marbling is a major criterion for meat quality due to its role in the tenderness, juiciness, and flavor of the meat (Tong et al., 2008). These meat quality factors influence consumer acceptance and palatability of the meat (Du et al., 2010a; Miller, 2014).

#### 1.2.4. Fibrogenesis

Fibrogenesis, a process whereby connective tissues are formed, occurs during mid-gestation in association with adipogenesis. Fibrogenesis also arises from mesenchymal cells (Du et al., 2011) through the expression of growth factor and cytokine, transforming growth factor-beta (TGF $\beta$ ) (Yan et al., 2013). Fibrogenesis plays a role in meat marbling and tenderness (Du et al., 2011).

#### 1.2.5. Fetal growth

The fetal stage of pregnancy begins after the end of the embryonic stage up until day 280. During this period, the fetus begins to increase in size. In cattle, fetal weight increases daily by 10 g during day 70 to 100 days of gestation (Elev et al., 1978). The growth exponentially increases to approximately 200-300 g/day during day 200 to 250 of gestation and eventually declines to about 100 g/day as parturition approaches. The extent of growth is influenced by maternal, placental and fetal factors (Vorherr, 1982). Maternal genetic and non-nutritional factors contribute about 25% and 55% variance in fetal growth respectively (Vorherr, 1982). Non-nutritional maternal factors includes age and parity (Ferrell & Ferrell, 1993). Placental efficiency which is defined partly by its weight is determined prior to the fetal stage, also contributes to fetal growth. Transplacental flow of nutrient and hormones is regulated by uteroplacental vascular development (Reynolds et al., 2010). Fetal factors that contribute to fetal growth are mainly its genotype which are inherited by both paternal and maternal genomes (McGrath & Solter, 1984). The physiological changes in fetal development increase its susceptibility to conditions within the intrauterine environment, which is influenced by factors such as placental insufficiency, maternal nutritional, and metabolic status.

The process of parturition is characterized by hormonal and physiological changes including enlargement of mammary glands and abdomen. In cattle, parturition begins at approximately 280 days of gestation. However, factors including breed of sire and dam, age and parity of the cow, calf sex, and diet affect the onset of parturition (Zaborski et al., 2009). Therefore, gestation length could differ, and parturition could begin days before or after the 280 days.

#### 1.3. Effect on prenatal nutrition on the fetal developmental processes

The importance of the quality and quantity of maternal dietary intake heightens during critical gestational periods. Conceptus development relies on histiotrophic and hemotrophic nutritional exchanges to survive and evolve from early gestation to parturition. Both histiotrophic and hemotrophic exchange involve a transfer of nutritional material from maternal membrane to conceptus to facilitate development. Histiotrophic exchange takes place during early embryonic development before the placenta is formed while hemotrophic exchange involves blood-borne exchange and occurs after placentation (Burton et al., 2020). Epidemiological studies on the origins of adult diseases revealed that suboptimal maternal prenatal nutrition affects pathological processes including placentation, glucose tolerance, and lipid metabolism of the developing fetus (Barker, 2004a). The impact on these processes independent of the postnatal environment can result in adult cardiovascular diseases (Barker, 1995). In a similar vein, prenatal nutrition influences the developmental processes of eutherian livestock such as goats, sheep, and cattle, and consequently postnatal performance. Undernutrition and suboptimal supply of nutrients for fetal development have been a focal point of animal agriculture research (Lucas, 1998).

Livestock research undertaken to evaluate the impact of prenatal nutrition on fetal development has implicated prenatal undernutrition as leading to undesirable effects on economic traits in production (Funston et al., 2010; Long et al., 2010). There are common instances in livestock production that could lead to undernutrition or suboptimal feeding during gestation. For example, in the beef, cattle industry producers are usually faced with issues of calving difficulty due to large fetal size and feed unavailability, in both intensive and extensive systems, respectively (Noya et al., 2019). Incidence of dystocia could render the cattle enterprise unproductive and uneconomical, as a result of increased risk of calf morbidity and mortality (Dhakal et al., 2013; Wallace et al., 1996). In pasture-based as well as intensive system productions, high stocking rate and grouping strategy can influence feed intake due to increased competition for feed by more dominant animals. Pregnant cows when grouped with more dominant and/or non-pregnant ones, can have limited access to feed. This creates a situation of undernutrition for the pregnant cows and eventually impacts fetal developmental (Beck et al., 2016; Grant & Albright, 2001). In extensive systems of production, seasonality of feed availability coupled with little to no supplementation also increases the incidence of suboptimal nutrition at different production stages. Feed restriction during gestation leads to intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR). Fetal growth restrictions can have diverse consequences depending on the timing, and level of the restriction (Belkacemi et al., 2010; Hyatt et al., 2008). Suboptimal nutrition in addition to hindering the smooth transition from an embryo to a fully developed neonate can also manifest its effects long-term by increasing offspring susceptibility to diseases, altered metabolic functions of tissues, and in some cases affecting the subsequent reproductive ability of the dam (Mossa et al., 2015). Therefore, adequate nutrition from conception to parturition is essential in not only ensuring successful fetal development but also improving the economic viability and sustainability of the livestock production enterprises. The succeeding sub-chapters discuss the effect of prenatal nutrition during the three stages of gestation on fetal developmental processes and postnatal performance.

#### 1.3.1. First trimester of gestation

Nutritional requirements of the conceptus have been reported to be almost negligible in the first trimester. However, histiotrophic nutritional exchange is essential for processes such as placentation to occur to facilitate other developmental processes successfully (Burton et al., 2020). Fetal growth is perturbed during the latter stages of gestation when the transplacental exchange is hindered due to improper formation of the placenta. The efficiency of the placenta in regulating the circulation of nutritional materials to a developing fetus is largely dependent on placental and fetal angiogenesis (Reynolds & Redmer, 2001). Angiogenesis involves the formation of vascular beds, which is a determinant of placental blood flow. This process is essential in ensuring an optimal transplacental exchange when hemotrophic nutrition begins. As gestation progresses, this ensures adequate uterine-umbilical blood flow (Bairagi et al., 2016; Reynolds et al., 2006). The process of placentation is affected by many factors including maternal age, genotype, heat stress, and maternal undernutrition (Reynolds & Redmer, 2001). Embryonic organogenesis begins to take place concurrently as germ layers differentiate and evolve into various organs including the brain, heart, and liver. An aberration in the development of these organs increases the susceptibility to fetal mortality or offspring morbidity. About 30 to 50% of embryonic loss occurs during early pregnancy, and perturbed placentation and embryonic organogenesis are cited as causative factors (Reynolds & Redmer, 2001). In livestock studies, maternal feed restriction during the first trimester of gestation affected the development of the utero-fetal membrane in heifers and consequently affected the growth trajectory of the fetus (Micke et al., 2010). A 50% feed restriction from day 28 to 78 of gestation in sheep affected placenta vascularity, limited the transplacental supply of glucose and affected organs such kidney, lungs, and liver of fetuses on day 78 of gestation (Vonnahme et al., 2003). Parr & Williams (1982), made similar observations when ewes

were provided differing feeding regimes for the first 35 days of gestation; embryonic liver weight and plasma glucose concentrations of feed restricted ewes were reduced. Fetal weight at day 90 of gestation was also significantly reduced when ewes were fed to lose 12% of body weight by the end of the first trimester (Everitt, 1964). In guinea pigs, placental efficiency was affected when feed was restricted to 40% of requirements during early gestation (Dwyer et al., 1992). In contrast, some studies observed no significant differences in either placental or foetal membrane development between feed restricted and non-restricted foetuses during early gestational stages (Heasman et al., 1998; Steyn et al., 2001; Wallace, 1948).

The first phase of the biphasic muscle formation process initiates during the first trimester. Primary myofibres are predominantly formed during early gestation and are setting the foundation on which secondary myofibres are formed in subsequent stages (Wilson et al., 1992). The number of myofibers formed in the primary phase is limited and is mainly influenced by genetic factors more so than extrinsic factors like maternal nutrition (Picard et al., 2002). Wilson et al. (1992) reported that primary myofibres make up only 2% of the total muscle fibers in an adult sheep. Due to the limited number of muscle fibers formed during primary myogenesis, and the fact that the process is highly influenced by genetics, the impact of nutrient restriction may not be severe postnatally, but it still may decrease the number of secondary myofibres. A 50% feed restriction from day 28 to 78 of gestation decreased the number of secondary myofibres in Longissimus dorsi muscle in sheep (Zhu et al., 2006). Also, Quigley et al., (2005) observed that feed restriction during early gestational period decreased secondary myofibres by 20% in the feed restricted ovine fetuses by day 75 of gestation. Although prenatal nutrition may not directly impact primary myogenic processes, research has shown that it could indirectly do so by influencing the fetal expression of genes relating to muscle development. Skeletal muscle development involves intricate activities

that require the activation of genes (Gossett et al., 1989). Foroutan et al. (2021) reported that restricting prenatal nutrition from day 30 of gestation influenced the expression of muscle development gene myocyte enhancer factor 2A (*MEF2A*) in adult bulls. It is essential, therefore, that the provision of diet to pregnant dams during early gestation is adequate to avoid potential long-term negative consequences.

#### **1.3.2. Second trimester of gestation**

The second trimester is a period in which most skeletal muscle formation takes place. Secondary myofibers are developed as well as the initiation of adipogenesis (Du & Zhu, 2009). Nutrients are partitioned into tissues according to their metabolic rate (Bauman & Currie, 1980). In the presence of suboptimal feed supply or restriction, priority supply of nutrients is given to vital organs including the brain, heart, and liver. This makes tissues with a lower metabolic rate such as skeletal muscle vulnerable to its impacts (Close & Pettigrew, 1990; Redmer et al., 2004; Zhu et al., 2006). Unlike the primary phase of myogenesis, the second phase taking place during mid-gestation is more influenced by extrinsic factors like maternal nutrition (Picard et al., 2002). Secondary myogenesis is a period where a greater number of muscle fibers are formed (Yan et al., 2013), and a severe feed restriction during mid-gestation would have a greater effect on fetal growth by limiting the number of myofibers formed. Ithurralde et al. (2020) evaluated pasture-based induced feed restriction and observed a decrease in the ratio of secondary to primary fibers in muscle tissues including Gluteus medius, Gluteobiceps, Longissimus lumborum, and Semimembranosus. Cafe et al. (2006) similarly conducted a pasture-based study where pregnant cows were restricted to either a low or a high plane of nutrition pasture starting mid-gestation until parturition. The results from this study indicated that prenatal nutritional treatment influenced progeny birth weight where calves born by cows exposed to low plane pastures had low birth weight, low growth rate, and low

weaning weight compared to those of cows provided with high plane pastures. Additionally, high birth weight progenies were 10% heavier at feedlot entry, displayed higher growth feedlot growth rate, and feed intake (Cafe et al., 2009). In a follow-up study to determine the long-term consequences on carcass characteristics, Greenwood et al. (2006), evaluated the carcass characteristics of calves from Cafe et al. (2006) at age of 30 months and observed that calves who had low birth weight had lighter hot carcass weight (~8% lower) and less overall retail beef yield as compared to their counterparts with high birth weight.

The overall acceptance of meat by consumers depends on carcass characteristics including tenderness juiciness, and flavor (Du et al., 2010b; Miller, 2014). These characteristics are predetermined by the various myogenic processes including adipogenesis, and fibrogenesis (Du et al., 2010a; Zhao et al., 2019). These processes have also been shown to be nutritionally programmed similar to myogenesis (Symonds et al., 2004). A 40% feed restriction from early to mid-gestation, increased the deposition of adipose tissue in the latter stages of gestation. There was also an increase in the mRNA abundance of *IGF1* and *IGF2* receptors (Bispham et al., 2003). Both IGF1 and IGF2 are involved in stimulating adipose deposition and this is usually accompanied by increased susceptibility of growth of adipose tissue to anabolic effects (Lorenzo et al., 1993). The increased anabolic effects on adipose tissue increase fat deposition and morbidity rate as a consequence of maternal prenatal nutrition. Since all muscle fibers are formed from early to mid-gestation, provision of quality and adequate feed should be a top priority in meat-based livestock production. Añez-Osuna et al. (2019), also made similar observations with a tendency of increasing IGF2 mRNA abundance in Longissimus dorsi muscle of newborn calves whose dams were given low fat during mid to late gestation. The authors explain that limited fat supplementation most likely resulted in a lower plane of nutrition, and therefore reduced level of nutrient uptake by the placenta due to occurrence of major developmental processes such as formation of essential tissue and organs during the second trimester of gestation, there is therefore the possibility of prenatal nutrition inducing a long-term impact of progeny performance postpartum.

#### **1.3.3.** Third trimester of gestation

Feed restriction during the late gestational stage in almost all species has been shown to decrease fetal growth and subsequent birth weight. The third trimester is a period of fetal muscle hypertrophy (McCoard et al., 2001). As gestation progresses, the transfer of nutritional materials needs to increase significantly in line with the increasing growth of fetal membranes as well as the increasing demand for nutritional supplies (Greenwood & Cafe, 2007; Molina et al., 1991; Vonnahme, 2012). About 75% of fetal weight is obtained during the third trimester (Bauman & Bruce Currie, 1980; Robinson et al., 1980). Essentially, an appropriate combination of macro-and micronutrients is key in ensuring adequate growth and development in the last stages of development (McMillen & Robinson, 2005). Energy-based feed restriction in the last trimester has been shown to impact fetal growth trends (Boyd et al., 1987). Maternal energy intake restricted to 70% during the last 40 days of gestation reduced the expression of genes involved in muscle development and metabolism in skeletal muscle of steers (Sanglard et al., 2018). Similarly, Radunz et al. (2012) demonstrated that feeding differing energy-sources during the late gestation period affected the metabolism of calves, and in the long run implicated their carcass characteristics and quality.

The supply of a high protein diet during late gestation is also essential to muscle hypertrophy. This is because muscle development is regulated by protein synthesis and degradation (Brown, 2014; Murach et al., 2018; Tipton & Phillips, 2013). Sandoval et al. (2020)

14

reported that protein degradation genes F-box only protein 32 (*FBXO32*) and Tripartite motifcontaining protein 63 (*TRIM63*) were upregulated in the skeletal muscle fetus in sheep during the last stage of gestation, which indicates a potential influence of restricting maternal diet (50%) on the expression of these genes and a potential association to the observed reduction in muscle hypertrophy during the last stage of gestation. As parturition approaches, fetal maturation does not only encompass skeletal muscle growth but also leads to fully developed vital organs to help transition the fetus to a postnatal environment (Gluckman et al., 1999). During the late gestation period, dietary supplementation is essential not only to meet the high nutrient demand of the fetus but also crucial in transitioning the dam to the lactating phase postpartum. A well-conditioned dam during late gestation ensures adequate milk production, which is essential to the postnatal performance of offspring (Stalker et al., 2006). A 42% protein supplementation during the final stages of gestation improved the reproductive performance of heifers compared to their counterparts whose dams were not supplemented (Martin et al., 2007).

The birth weight of neonates is the first phenotypic manifestation of the events of gestation (Rehfeldt & Kuhn, 2006). Birth weight is an important measure in livestock production as it factors in the survivability and postnatal performance of offspring (Donald et al., 1999; Quiniou et al., 2002; Vonnahme, 2012). Offspring with higher birth weight tend to have a greater survival rate and perform better postnatally than those born with low birth weight (Funston et al., 2010). Nutrition during late gestation is essential in determining birth weight due to the spike in nutrient demand and exponential growth of the fetus. Provision of adequate feed and or nutrient supplements to pregnant dams could help avoid any detrimental consequence that may arise due to restricted feed or inadequate nutrient supply. Restricting the diet of ewes during the last 6 weeks of gestation resulted in the birth weight of their ram lambs being significantly lower compared to

those that received adequate feed (Khanal et al., 2014). Similarly, LeMaster et al. (2017) reported that the birth weight of calves from nutrient-restricted and nutrient-restricted but proteinsupplemented dams was reduced compared to the control group when feed was restricted during the last 100 days of gestation. These observations are akin to those of Bellows & Short (1978), who observed that the birth weight of calves was affected by decreasing feed levels during the last 90 days of gestation to control calving difficulty. Also, supplementing protein into the diet of dams during late gestation produced steer progenies that were heavier compared to those whose dams did not receive protein supplementation (Larson et al., 2009). In humans, nutrient supplementation at the start of the third trimester of gestation resulted in a significant increase in the birth weight of male offspring (Mora et al., 1979).

In terms of survivability, there is an inverse relationship between birth weight and the risk of neonatal mortality i.e., the higher the birth weight, the lower the risk of mortality and vice versa (Christian, 2010; Vilanova et al., 2019). Feed restriction during the last 100 days of gestation increased the mortality rate in calves from feed-restricted dams as compared to their counterparts (Corah et al., 1975). Manning & Vehaskari (2001) induced intrauterine growth restriction by restricting protein supplementation during mid-gestation until birth in rats. Results from the study revealed that offspring from the low-protein group had 15% low birth weight and a 31% lower survival rate compared to offspring from the control group. In swine, intrauterine growth restriction due to inadequate maternal diet and litter size could lead to variations in birth weight within the litters (Foxcroft et al., 2006). Milligan et al. (2002) showed that individuals within a litter with a birth weight below the average of their respective litter had a low survival rate and recorded a higher pre-weaning death rate.

Although there is compelling evidence of the effect of gestational nutrition, birth weight, and the correlation between birth weight and survival rate, it is important to acknowledge that the impact of prenatal nutrition could manifest much later during production. This is especially true when feed restriction occurs earlier during gestation as vital organs and economically important issues were developing. Therefore, the provision of adequate feed and nutrients in their right proportions to pregnant dams throughout all stages of gestation is essential in optimum growth, health, and performance of offspring pre-and postnatal.

#### 1.4. Effect on prenatal nutrition on offspring postnatal performance

A common thread through most fetal programming research is the association of birth weight to fetal growth retardation. The use of birth weight as a marker of fetal programming has been challenged in recent times with some researchers citing that early and/or mid nutrient restriction during fetal development may not necessarily manifest its effect on the birth weight (Barker, 2004b). This absence of an effect is usually the case when nutrient supply is restored to an adequate level in late gestation (Gopalakrishnan et al., 2004; Khanal & Nielsen, 2017). However, the formation of tissues and organs that play a role in essential biological function could also be programmed without necessarily manifesting in low birth weight but impedes proper physiological function postpartum (Gluckman et al., 2008; Sangild, 2006). Suboptimal development during gestation leads to several physiological immaturities such as gastrointestinal immaturity and metabolic homeostatic immaturity (Fowden et al., 1994; Gluckman et al., 1999). These consequences will hinder a successful transition from intrauterine to the extrauterine environment (Avila et al., 1989).

In livestock production, the postnatal performance of offspring is determined by fetal uterine experiences during gestation coupled with postnatal health and lactational performance of dam, and quality of nutrients supplied after weaning (Greenwood et al., 2010; Robinson et al., 2013). Hence, ensuring an adequate body condition score (BCS) of the dam prepartum impacts the health and lactation performance of the dam as well as enhances neonatal survival and performance postnatally. The sustainability and economic viability of a livestock production enterprise depends on the postnatal performance of offspring in areas of growth, and reproductive performance (Caton et al., 2020). This section of the literature review discusses the impact of prenatal nutrition in areas considered to be of economic importance to beef cattle production.

#### **1.4.1.** Fetal organ development and growth trajectory

A well-developed digestive, metabolic and endocrine systems are pre-requisite for optimum postnatal growth performance (Greenwood et al., 2005). Growth restricted offspring can be metabolically immature due to the programming of the gastrointestinal tract (GIT). Neonatal piglets growth-restricted during gestation had lower levels of metabolic regulatory proteins in the small intestines, jejunum, and liver (Wang et al., 2008). In ruminants especially, low expressions of protein particularly in the small intestines may be detrimental to the efficiency of nutrient absorption and utilization as it is the site for terminal digestion (Trotta & Swanson, 2021; Wu, 1998). Similarly, Wang et al. (2005), reported evidence where the morphology of GIT including the stomach and small intestines of IUGR piglets was developmentally impaired when examined between 2 to 4 hours postpartum. In sheep, gastrointestinal growth was compromised when fetal growth restriction was induced by maternal feed restriction and carunclectomy (Trahair et al., 1997). Furthermore, Avila et al. (1989) reported that the total weight of small intestines and gut of IUGR fetuses was significantly reduced compared to non-IUGR fetuses. On the other hand, Liu et al. (2016) showed that increasing energy content in maternal diet during gestation influenced intestinal development of offspring, where piglets from high-energy diet sows had higher intestinal

and villus weight and height. Other evidence of morphological change in GIT due to prenatal nutrition has been reported in rats (Baserga et al., 2004). Conversely, in bovine, maternal nutrient restriction between day 30 to 125 days of gestation did not affect fetal visceral organ development, and by day 245, there was significant growth in the visceral organ of fetuses from nutrient restricted but alimented dams after day 125 of gestation. Additionally, for calves, maternal feed restriction did not significantly affect the majority of gastrointestinal development. However, the weight of the small intestines was negatively impacted (Duarte et al., 2013). Major organogenesis occurs in the early stages of gestation (Meyer et al., 2010) and research conducted on the influence of feed restriction on GIT development has been carried out when feed is restricted during either mid and/or late gestation. This findings implies that there may not be a prenatal nutritional effect on the neonatal stomach and its characteristics (Duarte et al., 2013). Hence, resulting in some variation in the observation of the influence of gestational maternal nutrition on early fetal development. Postnatally, the GIT and liver utilize about half of the total energy expenditure (Caton et al., 2000). Programming of the GIT affects factors influencing growth performance including feed intake, average daily gain (ADG), and growth rate (Bolhuis et al., 2009). Feed intake of female pups exposed to feed restriction during fetal development was significantly lower than the control counterparts at 100 days postpartum (Zambrano et al., 2006). These observations were in agreement with Schinckel & Short (1961), who reported a decrease in feed intake of lambs from feed-restricted ewes during the first 4 months postpartum. Low intake of feed affects growth rate in subsequent stages of production. Houssin & Davicco (1979) demonstrated that digestibility for dry matter, energy, crude protein organic matter, and calcium of neonates with lower birth weight were lower compared to those with higher birth weight. Therefore, an impairment of the GIT sets up situations where offspring nutrient utilization is affected. Inefficiency in nutrient

utilization results in a slower and/or impaired postnatal growth trajectory at various stages of production.

In terms of weight gain, Taplin & Everitt (1964) reported that lambs from feed-restricted ewes were smaller in weight compared to their counterparts within the first 20 weeks postpartum. However, there was significant catch-up on weight gain by lambs from ewes that were feed restricted during the latter stages of gestation. According to Greenwood et al. (1998), the average daily gain (ADG) in low birth-weight lambs was significantly decreased compared to those with higher birth weight. At weaning, the average daily gain (ADG) of sired calves from feed-restricted cows from birth to weaning, weight gain, and live weight at weaning were lower than their counterparts from well-fed cows during pregnancy (Cafe et al., 2006). Likewise, at weaning, nutrient restriction during gestation negatively affected the weaning weight of calves (Larson et al., 2009). At slaughter, the weight of pigs from nutrient-restricted sows weighed less than their counterparts from protein-supplemented sows (Schoknecht et al., 1993). Similarly, lambs from feed-restricted ewes were 9% smaller in weight compared to the lambs from non-feed restricted ewes at maturity (Schinckel & Short, 1961). IUGR was also reported not to affect growth parameters including the bodyweight of foals (Allen et al., 2004). Impaired postnatal growth increases the time for livestock offspring to reach market weight, raising the cost of production and negatively impacting the economic viability of the livestock enterprise. This evidence shows that prenatal programming of metabolic organs and tissues has the potential to negatively influence the sustainability of livestock production.

#### 1.4.2. Postnatal muscle growth

Skeletal muscle is an economically important tissue in raising livestock especially for meat-type enterprises and also an integral part of growth performance as it constitutes about 40% of body

weight (Alexander & Bell, 1975; Khanal & Nielsen, 2017; Thornton, 2019). Postnatal development of skeletal muscle is an accretion of the muscle fibers formed during early to midgestation as muscle fiber numbers are mostly fixed at birth (Buttery et al., 2009; Rehfeldt et al., 1999) and is influenced by genetic factors (Rehfeldt et al., 2000). The rate of growth and function of skeletal muscle is determined by the muscle fiber-type composition in terms of metabolism and contraction i.e., oxidative, or glycolytic, and slow or fast fibers respectively (Rehfeldt et al., 2011). Postnatally, most primary muscle fibers formed during gestation transform into slow muscle fiber types while secondary muscle fibers are transformed into fast fibers (Picard et al., 2002). Most muscle fibers are formed during the secondary myogenesis phase, hence secondary muscle fibers contribute significantly to growth performance (Picard et al., 2002). Both epidemiological and livestock research has provided evidence of prenatal nutrition having an impact on these processes. A nutrient restriction during the mid-gestation stage resulted in a decrease in the number of muscle fibers in *Longissimus dorsi* of beef progeny, which persisted throughout offspring's life (Costa et al., 2021). Lamb offspring subjected to nutrient restriction during gestation when their dams were provided 50% of nutrient requirements had fewer myofibres at 8 months postnatal. According to Fahey et al. (2005), neonatal lambs from feed-restricted ewes had fewer fast fibers for Vastus lateralis and Longissimus muscles as compared to those from unrestricted ewes. The ratio of secondary: primary (S:P) muscle fibers was impacted in pigs at 5 weeks postnatal; pig progeny from supplemented dams had a significantly greater S:P ratio during different phases of fiber hyperplasia, compared to the control group. Consequently, the supplemented group had an increased gain: feed ratio and faster growth rate (Dwyer et al., 1994).

The activities of satellite cells are another factor in muscle hypertrophy of established myofibres (Oksbjerg et al., 2013). Satellite cells merge with muscle fibers to increase DNA content

and protein synthesis (Rehfeldt et al., 2011). The rate of protein synthesis should exceed degradation for optimum skeletal growth (Brameld et al., 1998). The nutritional status of animals programmed due to IUGR and low birth weight can influence the activities of these cells and by default impact muscle growth (Thornton, 2019). The growth of semitendinosus muscle was slower as well a lower abundance of both DNA and RNA in the muscle was observed in lambs with low birth weight (Greenwood et al., 2000).

The expression of insulin-like growth factors *IGF1* and its receptor *IGF1R* regulate the activities of satellite cells in postnatal muscle growth (Chargé & Rudnicki, 2004). Both in-vitro and in-vivo studies have elucidated the positive effect of both *IGF1* and *IGF1R* on skeletal muscle development in postnatal stages of life by altering muscle-specific transcription factors and increasing DNA and protein content respectively (Adams & McCue, 1998; Coleman et al., 1995; Musarò et al., 2001). In humans, Verkauskiene et al. (2005) reported that the IGF1 axis of adults growth-retarded during gestation was programmed and resulted in decreasing concentration of plasma IGF1 and its binding protein IGFBP. The influence of IUGR on skeletal muscle development particularly in beef production not only impacts growth but also plays a role in other aspects of progeny performance such as carcass characteristics.

#### **1.4.3.** Effect of carcass composition and meat quality

The impact of prenatal nutrition on carcass composition and quality is determined by how severe feed restriction influenced fetal growth, subsequent effect on feed efficiency, and postnatal growth performance (Greenwood & Bell, 2019). These effects influence the body composition of livestock at slaughter. Hence, the quality of meat is determined by final body composition including skeletal muscle, fiber number, fat, and connective tissues (Wu et al., 2006).
Low-weight pigs at birth had higher levels of subcutaneous fat relative to high-birth-weight pigs as well as lower lean meat content at slaughter. In addition, total fiber number and meat tenderness were low in low-weight pigs for Semitendinosus muscle (Gondret et al., 2005). Likewise, Karunaratne et al. (2005) reported that the smallest littermates had an increased proposition of fat compared to the largest littermates, plus increased intramuscular fat and low meat tenderness scores. A 35% decrease in maternal nutrition during early gestation resulted in fatter carcasses, impaired meat tenderness, and affected meat color in adult bulls (Noya et al., 2022). Similarly, restricting maternal diet during early to mid-gestation may have altered gestational myogenic and adipogenic processes resulting in restricted steer progeny having significant lower dressing percentage compared to those from dams provided with moderate diet (Meale et al., 2021). Calves born from protein supplemented cows during gestation were shown to have higher meat quality grades compared to nutrient restricted offspring (Larson et al., 2009). On the other hand, postnatal studies reported no significant effect of prenatal nutrition on either carcass measurements and/or meat quality. For example, prenatal nutrition did not influence carcass characteristics including hot carcass weight and empty body weight, dressing percentage, and marbling score (Long et al., 2010). Also, Long et al. (2012) observed that while nutrient restriction did not affect carcass measurement in steers, there was an increase in adipocyte size in the nutrientrestricted steers. This increase could be an indication of altered metabolism; however, the animals were slaughtered as calves and long-term consequences were not investigated. Similarly, Sen et al. (2016) reported that there was no difference in meat quality measurement in lambs of nutrient restricted, moderately-fed, and over-nourished dams during the early to mid-gestation period.

#### **1.4.4.** Interaction of prenatal nutrition and genetic potential for feed efficiency

In cattle production, feed efficiency plays a significant role in profitability of the enterprise. Feeding accounts for at least 60% of production cost and therefore the use of feed-efficient cows aids in making cattle production sustainable (Elolimy et al., 2018). Efficient animals are determined by their residual feed intake (RFI) value, which is the difference between an animal's actual and expected feed intake required for maintenance and growth (Basarab et al., 2003). RFI has also been shown to affect feeding behaviour including daily feed intake, which could eventually affect weight gain and body condition score. Hence, this trait could interact with prenatal nutrition and impact fetal development and postnatal performance (Kelly et al., 2010). A study conducted by Foroutan et al. (2021) reported that maternal genetic potential for RFI influenced the expression of muscle-regulatory genes MEF2A in adult bull progeny. In steers, it was observed that there was an RFI-prenatal diet interaction on dressing percentage of progeny, where steer offspring from feed restricted dams with a high genetic potential for RFI (Ldiet-HRFI) had lower dressing percentage. Additionally, marbling content was also reported to be influenced by RFI for the study (Meale et al., 2021). Therefore, it is important to assess the influence of RFI in conjunction with prenatal diet on fetal development as well as potential long-term effect on performance.

## 1.4.5. Effect of reproductive performance

Livestock production relies on the reproductive ability of the animals to sustain production yearin and year-out. For beef cattle in Canada, a breeding age female should give birth to and successfully raise a calf to weaning every year. Hence, reproductive development of progeny is essential in sustaining the beef production industry. As in skeletal muscle, nutrition for the development of reproductive tissues during gestation is at the short-end of nutrient partitioning in cases of feed restriction (Vonnahme, 2012). In male offspring, reproductive performance can be affected when maternal prenatal nutrition hinders the development of the testes during early gestation (Mccoski et al., 2021). Testicular size has been used to quantitatively predict the production of spermatozoa in bulls (Willett & Ohms, 1957), ram lambs (Yarneyi et al., 1990), and humans (Arai et al., 1998). All these studies show a positive correlation between the size of testicles, hormone production, and the amount of semen produced. According to Bielli et al. (2002), restricting metabolizable energy intake of Merino ewes during gestation significantly decreased the number of Sertoli cells in neonatal lambs. There were also differences in the weight of paired testis, where lambs from non-restricted ewes had heavier paired testes. Sertoli cell number is highly correlated with testicular size and sperm production (Hochereau-de Reviers et al., 1995). A similar finding of a reduced number of Sertoli cells as well as Leydig cells due to prenatal energy restriction in swine was made by Lin et al. (2019). A reduced number of these cells could be an indication of potential negative effects on semen production in adulthood. The reproductive ability of bulls showed some implications with maternal feed restriction during the early gestation period. Sperm quality was lowered and increasing days in reaching puberty. Subsequently, the concentration of follicle-stimulating hormone was also lowered by days 330 and 438 postnatal (Copping et al., 2018). Although there are some impacts of prenatal nutrition on semen production and its quality, this may not provide enough evidence for the overall effect on male fertility (Cameron et al., 1984).

In female progeny prenatal maternal feed restriction during delayed fetal ovarian follicular development (Rae et al., 2001), which could have implications at later stages of life. In subsequent research, Rae et al. (2002) reported that the ovulation rate of female ewes from feed-restricted dams was reduced compared to those from the moderately fed dam during gestation. A 50% feed

restriction during mid-gestation in sheep was reported to decrease large corpora lutea in restricted female progeny at 10 months of age (Kotsampasi et al., 2009). Furthermore, Mossa et al. (2013) showed that restricting prenatal maternal diet during gestation resulted in their heifers possessing compromised ovarian reserve and a potential suboptimal fertility. Similarly, Hoffman et al. (2018) reported that ovarian follicle formation, uterine weight, and number of endometrial glands in the uterus of female progeny whose dams were feed restricted during late gestation were lower relative to their control counterparts.

In contrast, some researchers have observed a lack of discernable effects of prenatal feeding regime on reproductive factors in offspring. Testicular size and semen quality were not affected in male offspring at either 6 weeks or 20 months postnatal age when ewes were feed restricted by 50% (Rae et al., 2002). In ewe lambs, supplementing metabolizable protein during gestation did not affect the reproductive performance of the F1 generation (Van Emon et al., 2015). Also, Cracco et al. (2021), showed that providing differing levels of feed to dams during gestation had no influence on the reproductive development and performance of heifers at 18 months of age. As with other research on fetal programming, variations in results could be attributed to timing, the severity of feed restriction, as well as postpartum husbandry management.

#### 1.5. Molecular mechanisms of fetal programming

Data from both epidemiological and livestock studies have corroborated the impacts of uterine programming of the fetus through maternal insults. Although an extensive amount of research has been carried out on fetal programming, the mechanisms underlying its processes are still in the early stage of investigation (Vo & Hardy, 2012). However, mediators of intrauterine programming include the actions of glucocorticoids, genetic polymorphisms, and epigenetics (Gicquel et al., 2008; Harding et al., 2010). As gestation progresses into the last trimester and fetal maturation

surges, increasing levels of glucocorticoids in the maternal-fetal membrane play a significant role in the developmental switch of organs such as lungs, brain, and kidneys (Moisiadis & Matthews, 2014a), and regulate fetal gene transcription (Fowden et al., 2005). These changes are essential for postnatal survival (Fowden et al., 1998). However, in situations where the dam is exposed to stress factors including undernutrition, the levels of glucocorticoids exceed the normal threshold leading to an increase in the levels in the fetal membrane (Harding et al., 2010). Higher glucocorticoid levels affect fetal growth through their influence on fetal hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis activity (Chapman et al., 2013; Seckl & Holmes, 2007). The HPA axis is involved in regulating several functions including metabolic, cardiovascular, and reproductive function (Braun et al., 2013; Moisiadis & Matthews, 2014b) and influences response to stressful conditions (Fowden et al., 2005). Therefore, altered HPA axis activity affects fetal growth trajectory and possible alterations in postnatal physiological abilities (Gicquel et al., 2008). The association of the actions of glucocorticoids with the activities of the HPA axis and fetal growth trajectory makes it a possible mechanism regulating fetal programming (Harding et al., 2010).

Another possible mechanism influencing fetal programming is the somatotropic axis, which includes the IGF gene family and the genes encoding their receptors including *IGF1*, *IGF1R*, *IGF2*, and *IGF2R* (Bauer et al., 1995; Gicquel & Le Bouc, 2006; Ong et al., 2015). The somatotropic axis is mainly regulated by maternal nutritional status and in the case of the fetus, the state of its uterine environment (Bauer et al., 1995). The IGF family has been shown to play a significant role in fetal growth (Hattersley & Tooke, 1999). The *IGF2* gene regulates early embryonic growth and development while *IGF1* regulates growth during the final stages of gestation (Baker et al., 1993; Bloomfield & Harding, 1998). Therefore, genetic polymorphism of *IGF1* and *IGF2* may elucidate the effect of maternal undernutrition on fetal growth and possibly

postnatal performance (Gicquel et al., 2008). Heude et al. (2007) reported that polymorphism of *IGF2* was associated with height in human adults. Similarly, polymorphism of *IGF2* has been demonstrated to be associated with body mass index in middle-aged men (Gaunt et al., 2001). Although nutrition affects the circulation of both IGFs, levels of IGF1 appear to be more affected compared to IGF2 (Fowden, 2003). This implies that feed restriction would affect its concentration and consequently alter fetal growth trajectory. Low *IGF1* concentration has been shown to lead to lower birth weight (Arends et al., 2002). Vaessen et al. (2002) also reported that IGF1 polymorphism caused a 215 g decrease in the birth weight of diabetic individuals, suggesting that the IGF family is a mediator fetal programming.

Perhaps the most studied mechanism regulating fetal programming are epigenetic modifications, which could also be the mechanism influencing the activities of HPA and somatotrophic axis on fetal programming. Epigenetic modifications involve the regulation of gene expression beyond the genetic make-up of an individual. Epigenetic modifications can be influenced by the external environment including diet, stress, and trauma. Both epidemiological and livestock studies have linked epigenetics to fetal programming as well as the etiology of diseases including cancer, cardiovascular, and neurobehavioral diseases (Choi & Friso, 2010). The succeeding sections of this literature review will focus mainly on epigenetics, its mechanisms, and its influence on postnatal development and performance of offspring.

#### 1.5.1. Overview of epigenetic modifications

The genome of an organism constitutes its genetic make-up, which dictates how cells within the organism function through the process of DNA transcription and protein translation. Chemical compounds can attach to the DNA within a genome, controlling its function within a cell. It does so by influencing when a protein is produced, the rate of production, and possibly how a protein

is produced, without altering the DNA sequence. These chemical compounds are known as the epigenome or "epigenetic marks" (NHGRI, 2019.; Tiffon, 2018). This phenomenon implies that the manifestation of a phenotype is not only dictated and influenced by the genetic make-up of an organism, but also the epigenome. The activities of the epigenome allow for translation of the same genetic information into variable phenotypes (Agarwal & Weinstein, 2018). Epigenetics is defined as the heritable alterations of gene expression independent of its underlying genomic sequence (Agarwal & Weinstein, 2018). Developmental biologist, Conrad Waddington in 1942 first coined the word epigenetics to describe the complexities of developmental processes underlying the link between genotype and its resulting phenotype using *Drosophila melanogaster* (Waddington, 2012; Watson, 2014). Since then, interest in epigenetics and its influences on phenotypes has increased. In the field of health, epigenetics has been associated with diseases such as cancer and developmental disorders including Prader-Willi and Angelman syndromes (Choi & Friso, 2010; Esteller, 2008; Watson, 2014).

Epigenetic modifications play a role in embryonic development by initiating and maintaining the cellular differentiation process leading to tissue and cell-specific gene expression (Delcuve et al., 2009). Therefore, a change in the epigenetic modification leads to a change in the expression of a gene and subsequent variations in phenotype or diseased conditions (Esteller, 2008; Lillycrop et al., 2005; Tiffon, 2018). External environmental factors including stress, pathogens, drugs, and nutrition influence epigenetic processes by affecting the epigenome (Cropley et al., 2006; Tiffon, 2018). Due to fetal dependence on maternal nutritional status for the supply of nutrients for its development, prenatal nutrition affects the epigenetic constitution of the fetus, altering its gene expression and phenotypic expressions.

#### **1.5.2.** Role of epigenetics in fetal programming

The Developmental Origin of Health and Diseases (DOHAD) hypothesis has provided evidence that metabolic disorders in adulthood are not caused exclusively by genetic factors but in large part are influenced by fetal intrauterine factors (Zhu et al., 2019). From the plasticity of the epigenome to factors that influence intrauterine environment makes, the epigenetic modification is a prime mechanism behind fetal programming. Furthermore, epigenetic modifications can be transgenerationally inherited through mitosis and meiosis (Turek-Plewa & Jagodziński, 2005; Waterland & Michels, 2007). During embryonic development, inherited parental genomes undergo a series of processes to reprogramme the epigenetic landscape of the developing embryo (Hsu et al., 2015). The reprogramming enables the revision of previously acquired epigenetic modifications in the parental genome, a phenomenon known as genomic imprinting (Surani et al., 1993). However, some of these epigenetic modifications that control the expression of specific genes could be passed on to the embryos transferring undesirable traits to subsequent generations, and this is known as germline epigenetic inheritance (Rakyan et al., 2001).

#### 1.5.3. Mechanisms of epigenetics

Epigenetic mechanisms include DNA methylation, histone modification, chromatin remodeling, and non-coding RNA (Choi & Friso, 2010). DNA methylation studies were previously conducted by our research group and part of the objective of the current study is to validate the results from those studies. Therefore, the following section discusses the mechanisms of DNA methylation and its implications on gene expression and phenotype in livestock production.

# 1.6. DNA methylation

DNA methylation is the most studied and well-characterized of the epigenetic mechanisms. It involves the covalent addition of a methyl group to the 5-carbon position of a cytosine base in a

cytosine-guanine dinucleotide (CpG) region (Bird, 1978; Santi et al., 1983). In mammals, about 60-90% of CpGs are methylated and the remaining unmethylated CpGs cluster into regions known as CpG islands (Suzuki & Bird, 2008). A CpG island is approximately 200 bp in length and contains over 50% cytosine-guanine dinucleotide (Janitz & Janitz, 2010). The CpG islands tend to be present near the promoter or first exon region of a tissue-specific genes (Bird, 1986; Li et al., 2019; Turek-Plewa & Jagodziński, 2005). This property allows the methylated CpGs to induce an effect on gene transcription by either inhibiting the binding of transcription factors to the promoter, or to attract methylation binding proteins (methyl-CpG binding protein, MBPs) that then bind to the DNA and thus block transcription factors from binding to the DNA (Kass et al., 1997). Hence, methylation of the CpGs within the CpG island is generally linked to the silencing of genes and repressing their expression. Additionally, DNA methylation is also associated with other functions such as X chromosome modification, genomic imprinting, chromatin modification, and normal embryonic development (Sulewska et al., 2007). DNA methylation is a tissue-specific process whereby the methylation of CpGs within each tissue differs from others allowing for the expression of the gene that is essential to the functions of the tissue (Razin & Riggs, 1980; Razin & Szyf, 1984).

DNA methylation is catalyzed by enzymes known as DNA methyltransferases (Dnmts) which include Dnmt1, Dnmt2, Dnmt3a, and Dnmt3b. These methyltransferases perform different and specific roles in the DNA methylation process. Dnmt1, Dmmt3a, and Dnmt3b are involved in methylation processes during gametogenesis, embryogenesis, and the development of somatic tissues in mammals (Rakyan et al., 2001). Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are involved in *de novo* methylation processes during embryogenesis while Dnmt1 regulates the maintenance of methylation patterns (Hermann et al., 2004; Turek-Plewa & Jagodziński, 2005). Dnmt2 on the

other hand has been shown to have low methylation activity (Li, 2002). Some studies in mice have shown the necessity of these methyltransferases in embryonic development. Hirasawa et al. (2008) used conditional knockout mice and demonstrated that the absence of maternal and zygotic Dnmt1 resulted in complete demethylation of imprinted loci in the blastocyst of the mice. DNA methylation has emerged a leading epigenetic mechanism potentially inducing transcriptional changes to genes and subsequent variations in phenotype. Hence, deviation in methylation-regulated developmental processes, such as genomic imprinting could modify fetal development and postpartum performance.

Nutrition is a major regulator of the DNA methylation process. Nutrients such as methionine and folates which are involved in one-carbon metabolism, serve as methyl group donors (Anderson et al., 2012). These nutrients can also influence enzymes that activate DNA methylation (Choi & Friso, 2010; Cyr & Domann, 2011; Kim et al., 2009). Other nutrients such as zinc, selenium, and Vitamin C have been associated with DNA methylation. The deficiency of these nutrients resulted in either hypo or hyper-methylation in cells (Davis et al., 2000; Dreosti, 2001; Halliwell, 2001). The activities of the Dnmts have been shown to also be susceptible to external factors including stress. This implies that the environmental conditions in which an individual develops in could determine their DNA methylome. Furthermore, DNA methylation is potentially reversible since Dnmt activities can be regulated by external factors. Therefore, some modification factors make it possible to reverse the effects of the methylation process (Szyf, 2009). As mentioned in earlier sections of this literature review, there are possibilities of pregnant cows to be nutritionally stressed and studies have shown that such stress could influence fetal DNA methylation processes (Li et al., 2021). It is therefore crucial to understand the potential influence

of maternal gestational nutrition on DNA methylation and its regulation of fetal and progeny development.

#### 1.6.1. DNA methylation and fetal development

The embryonic stage of development is a period where an organism's DNA methylome and its patterns are first established. The methylation reprogramming of a developing fetus occurs in two phases (Figure 1.3). The first phase begins immediately after fertilization, where the paternal genome is demethylated rapidly while demethylation of the maternal genome takes a more gradual replication-dependent approach (Rougier et al., 1998). Methylation pattern are reestablished and remain stable after differentiation of somatic cells (Bommarito & Fry, 2019; Monk et al., 1987). The second phase of methylation programming takes place within primordial germ cells (PGC) (Figure 1.3) in a sex-specific approach during gametogenesis (Allegrucci et al., 2005). An example is the DNA methylation pattern in X-chromosome inactivation. X-chromosome inactivation is a mechanism whereby one of the X chromosomes of a female embryo is inactivated in cells excluding the oocytes (Matias et al., 2020). Yasukochi et al. (2010) reported that inactive Xchromosomes are hypermethylated at the CpG islands that are located within promoter regions of a gene, silencing their expression. Additionally, genomic imprinting is also an essential event that occurs during development. Imprinting refers to the expression of genes based on their parental origin. Examples include genes such as H19, IGF2, GRB10, and IGF2R (Deshpande et al., 2021). A study by Li et al. (1993) indicates that expression of H19, IGF2, and IGF2R was affected in mutant mice embryos as a result of impaired activities of Dnmts. Post-gastrulation development requires the *de novo* methylation patterns attained for normal development. An aberration in the methylation reprogramming results in impaired development and some situations could lead to mortality (Bommarito & Fry, 2019).



Figure 1.3 Schematic of DNA methylation programming. Initial phase of the programming takes place after fertilization during embryogenesis. Parental genome is first demethylated and then remethylated. The succeeding phase takes place after implantation in the primordial germ cell to develop sex-dependent methylation patterns

#### 1.6.2. Effect of prenatal nutrition on DNA methylation

For developing fetuses, maternal nutrition affects DNA methylation processes consequently affecting the fetuses' DNA methylome. This may influence fetal developmental processes and phenotypic characteristics postnatally, independent of their genomic constitution (Dolinoy et al., 2007). The agouti mouse is an example of an organism possessing an epigenetically determined phenotype, its coat color. The allele ( $A^{VY}$ ) controlling the expression of the *agouti* gene is susceptible to epigenetic modifications and its expression is associated with endocrine and physiological disorders (Cooney et al., 2002). Waterland & Jirtle (2003) supplemented *a/a* dams

with extra folic acid, choline, betaine, and vitamin  $B_{12}$  throughout pregnancy. This resulted in increased methylation of the  $A^{VY}$  loci and altered the coat color phenotype of  $A^{VY}/a$  progeny (Figure 1.4).



Figure 1.4 Diagram showing the change in coat color in progeny of agouti mouse when their dams are supplemented with diet enriched with methyl donor

Furthermore, a study in sheep showed that providing differing feed regimes ranging from restricted to overfeeding to pregnant ewes resulted in variations in cellular proliferation as well as DNA methylation patterns between the fetuses (Peterson et al., 2021). In bovine studies, restricting dams' feed in mid-to late gestation was reported to influence methylation in *IGF2*-DMR2 in fetal muscle tissue (Paradis et al., 2017). Devos et al. (2021) reported that maternal feed restriction during early to mid-gestation influenced DNA methylation in steer progeny where the progeny displayed differential methylation patterns in muscle and liver tissues at birth, weaning and at slaughter, with respect to prenatal diet. Also, in humans, maternal exposure to hunger and its resulting consequences have been associated with DNA methylation changes. A prime example is

evidence from the Dutch famine in the winter of 1944-45 which resulted in a surge in adult cardiovascular diseases in progeny. In 2008, Heijmans et al. reported that those individuals exposed to the famine had differential methylation patterns for the *IGF2* imprinted gene compared to their unexposed counterparts.

As mentioned earlier, in the absence of external factors influencing DNA methylation, progeny could inherit methylation patterns during embryonic development and lead to phenotypes that are associated with this modification. Although there has been extensive research conducted on DNA methylation, studies on DNA methylation effects in ruminant livestock are scarce. Therefore, more research is needed to gain more understanding of the relationship between DNA methylation, prenatal nutrition, and progeny gene expression.

# 1.6.3. Methods of measuring DNA methylation

There are several factors to consider when choosing a particular technology for analyzing DNA methylation including the aim of the study, sensitivity and specificity requirement of the DNA sample, availability of bioinformatics, specialized equipment and reagents, and cost (Kurdyukov & Bullock, 2016). There are three methods for detecting and measuring methylation patterns: bisulfite conversion, restriction enzyme-based, and affinity capture or enrichment approach (Laird, 2010; Šestáková et al., 2019). These methods serve as a pretreatment of the DNA and it involves the treatment of genomic DNA with a methylation-dependent step followed by the use of a molecular biology technique to identify and quantify methylated regions in terms of genome-wide, specific, or global methylation (Laird, 2010; Mansego et al., 2013).

# **1.6.3.1.** Bisulfite conversion approach

The bisulfite methylation analysis approach employs the conversion of genomic DNA as the first step. Sodium bisulfite treatment of DNA deaminates the region of unmethylated cytosine into uracil, leaving methylated cytosines unconverted (Hayatsu et al., 1970). The bisulfite conversion approach has been referred to as the gold standard of the methylation approaches as the approach is known to quantify methylation status both qualitatively and efficiently at single-base pair resolution (Li & Tollefsbol, 2011). There are however some disadvantages that come with the approach, some of which include; possible incomplete conversion of unmethylated cytosines, degradation of DNA after chemical treatment, and a relatively high amount of starting DNA sample required (Mansego et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2017). Another major limitation for the bisulfite conversion approach is the inability to differentiate between 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC) and 5-methylcytosine (5mC) (Huang et al., 2010). The 5hmC is a relatively novel cytosine modification for DNA demethylation (Shen & Zhang, 2013; Tahiliani et al., 2009). The antibodies developed in assessing 5mC methylation via bisulfite approach have been shown to not effectively assess 5hmC methylation (Huang et al., 2010).

After bisulfite treatment, methylation-based differences are converted into DNA sequencebased differences. This allows for the quantification of methylation status across the entire genome using various PCR-based methods (Kurdyukov & Bullock, 2016). Examples of PCR-based methods include bisulfite sequencing PCR, droplet digital PCR, bisulfite pyrosequencing, EpiTYPER, and methylation-sensitive high-resolution melting (MS-HRM) (Wani & Aldape, 2016).

# 1.6.3.2. Restriction enzyme-based approach

A restriction enzyme-based approach to the detection of methylation patterns involves the use of restriction enzymes such as HpaII, NotI, Smal, or MspI to specifically digest and cleave either methylated or unmethylated regions (Pajares et al., 2021). HpaII and MspI have been used in

conjunction to detect methylation patterns. Both HpaII and MspI detect CCGG sequences and can either digest or cleave these sequences based on their methylation status. HpaII is usually blocked and unable to cleave the sequence in situations where the second cytosine in the CCGG sequence is methylated (i.e., C<sup>m</sup>CGG) while MspI can cleave the sequence irrespective of its methylation status (Tost, 2016). After the use of restriction enzymes, methylation status can be detected using PCR methods or southern blot hybridization methods (Fraga & Esteller, 2002). This approach is especially limited by the specificity of the restriction enzymes used in the analysis. Some methods in association with restriction enzyme, quantifies DNA methylation including MSRE-southern blot and MSRE-PCR (Pajares et al., 2021)

### **1.6.3.3.** Affinity enrichment approach

The affinity enrichment approach utilizes antibodies or methyl-binding proteins to detect methylation status. This approach involves the immunoprecipitation (IP) of nonspecific DNA fragments by anti-5mC antibodies to identify methylcytosine or methyl-binding protein beads used to purify the DNA resulting in an enrichment for methylated sequences (Thu et al., 2010). Specifically, genomic DNA is fragmented and divided into an IP fragment and an untreated genome reference. The IP fragment is denatured and incubated with the anti-5mC antibody or a methyl-binding protein (Thu et al., 2010). The enrichment step is followed by labeling the IP fragment and reference genomic DNA with fluorescent dyes and then co-hybridized onto a microarray chip (Zuo et al., 2009). The methylation status of a gene is detected using the ratio of fluorescent intensities of enriched to total genomic DNA. The affinity enrichment approach is easy, sensitive, and specific, and suitable for genome-scale methylation analysis (Pajares et al., 2021). However, the approach does not provide quantitative DNA methylation values but enrichment values for the status of methylation over the genomic region. Another limitation is that due to the

high specificity of the approach tailored for dense methylated CpG regions, the approach may not be suitable for low methylated CpG regions (Zuo et al., 2009).

#### 1.6.3.4. Profiling DNA methylation

The approaches of identifying methylation status allows for profiling DNA methylation on a whole genome or specific fragment level. These approaches distinguish between methylated and unmethylated DNA regions followed by techniques to quantify the methylation status. Some of these techniques includes high throughput technologies such as next generation sequencing (NGS) and array hybridization techniques. While the approaches discussed above could be used in assessing methylation at whole-genome level, each approach does have its pros and cons. Bisulfite approach allows for methylation status identification at single nucleotide resolution while requiring a relatively low DNA input compared to the affinity enrich approach. The restriction enzyme approach has been reported to be prone to false-positive result due to incomplete digestion (Fan & Chi, 2016). Also, bisulfite conversion can be used to interrogate methylation status at whole-genome and specific locus level unlike the affinity enrichment approach. Examples of such techniques are whole-genome bisulfite sequencing (WGBS), and reduced representation bisulfite sequencing (RRBS), and EpiTYPER. Compared to the bisulfite approach, the affinity enrichment is cheaper. Therefore, the choice of approach in interrogating DNA methylation status could depend on level of methylation information required, cost, and quantity of DNA sample.

# 1.7. Concluding remarks

Prenatal nutrition plays a significant role in fetal development. The development of tissues and/or organs essential to the functions and performance of offspring in postnatal life is dependent on maternal nutrient supplies, and therefore maternal feed restriction at critical stages of gestation affects fetal development. Furthermore, the selection for feed efficiency could also influence

feeding behavior and consequently interact with gestational diet to regulate fetal development. Impaired fetal development affects postnatal development in areas of growth, reproduction, carcass composition, and meat quality. The phenomenon of maternal experiences during gestation influencing fetal development is known as fetal programming. Epigenetic modifications have been speculated to be the mechanism underlying the fetal programming process. This implies that the provision of adequate nutrition to dams is essential in the sustainability of every livestock production. Therefore, this study seeks to elucidate the effects of prenatal feed restriction at day 30 to 150 of gestation and genetic potential for RFI on DNA methylation patterns and the expression of genes of metabolic importance. The results from this study will aid in explaining the molecular mechanisms, specifically DNA methylation, and their relation to some phenotypic variations in cattle progeny.

#### **1.8.** Thesis objectives

The objectives of this study are:

- 1. To Determine if differential methylation patterns discovered from WGBS of bull semen can be verified by another method in semen.
- To Determine if differential methylation patterns discovered from WGBS of bull semen can be found in other tissues of the same and other animals belonging to the same experiment.
- 3. To determine the effect of prenatal feed restriction from day 30 to 150 of gestation and genetic potential for RFI on DNA methylation in semen and gene expression *in Longissimus dorsi, Semimembranosus* muscle, liver, and testis tissues between bull offspring: and

4. To determine the effect of prenatal feed restriction from day 30 to 150 of gestation and genetic potential for RFI on DNA methylation and gene expression in *Longissimus dorsi*, *Semimembranosus* muscle, and liver tissues between steer offspring.

# 1.9. General thesis hypotheses

This thesis proposes the following general hypotheses

- 1. EpiTYPER quantification of DNA methylation in this study would validate the DMRs identified using WGBS technique.
- 2. Similar DMRs identified in semen due to prenatal restriction would be present in *Longissimus dorsi, Semimembranosus* muscle and liver tissues in steer progeny.
- Prenatal feed restriction during day 30 to 150 of gestation alters DNA methylation pattern in *Longissimus dorsi, Semimembranosus* muscle and liver tissues of steers and semen in bull offspring; and
- 4. Prenatal nutrition feed restriction during day 30 to 150 days of gestation influences the expression of genes in *Longissimus dorsi, Semimembranosus* muscle and liver tissues of steer offspring and *Longissimus dorsi, Semimembranosus* muscle, liver, and testis tissues of bull offspring.

# Chapter 2. Effect of prenatal feed restriction and RFI on semen methylation and tissue gene expression in bull progeny

# **2.1. Introduction**

Global beef cattle production is expected to increase by 6% and account for 9% of total protein consumption by 2030, compared to 52% projected contribution by poultry (OECD/FAO, 2021). The slow growth in beef production is attributed to increasing production costs (OECD/FAO, 2021). Feeding constitutes the largest input expenditure accounting for approximately 60% of the total production cost in a beef production enterprise (Greenwood, 2021). Cattle producers can reduce feed costs by practicing a semi-intensive or extensive system of production that is highly reliant on pasture availability (Noya et al., 2019). However, the quality and quantity of the pastures are dependent on climatic conditions which can vary extremely throughout the production stages (Greenwood, 2021). Ultimately, variations in the availability and quality of feed result in situations of underfeeding arising in the cattle herd. Furthermore, factors such as herd dynamics introduce competition for feed within the herd, where socially and physically dominant individuals tend to have more access to feed than others (Grant & Albright, 2001). Potentially, these situations could result in cases of underfeeding that may coincide with gestational periods and consequently affect fetal development (Long et al., 2010).

Prenatal maternal nutrition regulates fetal growth and subsequent postnatal development of progeny (Du et al., 2011). Fetal development is a nutrient-dependent process that relies on maternal nutritional supplies via the placenta to ensure their efficiency (Wang et al., 2012). The formation of the placenta can be impaired by nutrient restriction in the early gestational stages, which disrupts the materno-fetal exchange of nutrients (Belkacemi et al., 2010; Greenwood et al., 2017; Toschi & Baratta, 2021). Nutrient restriction at different stages of gestation affects the formation of vital tissues and organs regulating postnatal development dictating the economic potential of a livestock enterprise (Wallace, 1948). Hence, limited or restricted nutrition at critical periods of gestation results in fetal intrauterine growth retardation (IUGR) (Wu et al., 2006). In a study by Long et al. (2009), feed restriction during early gestation negatively impacted the growth of bovine fetuses by day 125 of gestation. Furthermore, Meyer et al. (2010) reported that early to mid-gestation feed restriction negatively affects the formation of fetal visceral organs and gastrointestinal tract development. Thus, nutrient absorption and utilization in subsequent stages of production could be perturbed. Similarly, Andrés et al. (2020), showed that growth-retarded fetuses have lower birthweights, which potentially could impair postnatal development. Therefore, ensuring adequate and quality nutrient supply to pregnant dams to produce well-developed offspring is prudent and essential for maximum progeny performance and economic benefit.

As compared to other livestock species such as poultry and swine, cattle are less efficient due to relatively high energy requirements for maintenance, and slow reproductive rates (Basarab et al., 2003). Feed efficiency of beef cattle influences production cost as well as the profitability of the enterprise. Thus, the use of feed-efficient cattle could reduce input costs and can improve the economic prospects of production (Arthur & Herd, 2008; Elolimy et al., 2018). Residual feed intake (RFI) is a feed efficiency measurement employed by cattle producers to determine and select feed-efficient animals for production (Koch et al., 1963). RFI is the difference between the actual and expected feed intake needed for the growth and maintenance of livestock (Arthur et al., 2001; Basarab et al., 2003). The heritability of the genetic potential for RFI has been estimated to range from moderate (0.21) to high (0.60) (Hoque & Suzuki, 2009; Seabury et al., 2017). Hence, cattle producers also employ the use of RFI to produce genetically feed-efficient progeny for subsequent production (Herd et al., 1997). Although selection for feed efficiency has its advantages, it may interact with other production traits in both positive and negative ways. Selection for RFI has been

associated with reproductive impairment in livestock species (Hagger, 1994; Kerr & Cameron, 1995). In bulls, Fontoura et al. (2016) reported decreased sperm motility in high feed efficient groups, indicating potential influences on fertility. Similarly, Behrouzi et al. (2022) also reported that selection for high feed efficiency (LRFI) impacted pregnancy rates in heifers. In contrast, Hafl et al. (2012) and Kowalski et al. (2017), reported similar reproductive traits and performance irrespective of RFI potential. Further interrogation on the impacts of RFI on production traits is needed to address the growing concerns of its interference in the efficiency of some economic characteristics.

Epigenetic modification is the molecular mechanism hypothesized to regulate the effect of maternal metabolic status on fetal development (Bernal & Jirtle, 2010). It is defined as heritable changes in gene expression without a change in the underlying DNA sequence (Casadesús & Nover-Weidner, 2013). Mechanisms of epigenetic modifications include DNA methylation, histone modification, and microRNA (Lee, 2015). DNA methylation is the most studied epigenetic modification and it involves the covalent addition of a methyl group to the 5' carbon position of cytosine in a cytosine-guanine (CpG) dinucleotide (Bird, 1992; Moore et al., 2013). DNA methylation is an integral part of fetal development and plays a significant part in X-chromosome inactivation and genomic imprinting (Bird & Wolffe, 1999). Methylation in the promoter region of a gene generally downregulates its transcriptional activities, thereby potentially regulating biological pathways involved in physiological functions. Maternal nutritional status during gestation could alter the methylation process of DNA in the developing offspring, leading to variation in phenotype of economic traits. Prenatal feed restriction has been shown to lead to differential methylation of genes involved in cellular processes, and immune or reproductive function in fetuses of restricted dams (Andrés et al., 2021). Tobi et al. (2014) showed that maternal

exposure to hunger during the Dutch famine was associated with differential DNA methylation in regulatory genes involved in organ development, growth, and metabolism in exposed offspring. There is limited knowledge on the molecular mechanisms regulating the effect of prenatal nutrition on gene expression within different tissues of the offspring during postnatal stages of development.

Previously, our research group identified differentially methylated regions (DMRs) associated with prenatal diet in beef cattle via whole genome bisulfite sequencing (WGBS) of DNA isolated from semen obtained from progeny of feed-restricted dams (Foroutan et al., 2021). In the current study, we employed the use of quantitative individual fragment bisulfite sequencing analysis (EpiTYPER) to interrogate the results from WGBS. Therefore, our first objective is to determine if DMRs identified by our WGBS can also be identified via EpiTYPER in the same tissue (semen). Additionally, a study conducted by Johnson et al. (2019) investigated the effects of prenatal nutrition and RFI on the reproductive potential of the same bull offspring. Results from this study indicated a prenatal diet and time interaction effect on weight of the bull progeny, where prenatal feed restricted groups had a faster growth rate between 10 to 16 months of age. Furthermore, a potential influence of RFI on the fertility of bull progeny was reported. This prompted us to investigate possible molecular mechanisms underlying the epigenetic control of growth in these bulls, and the genetic control of RFI. Utilizing the DMR results from WGBS, we prioritized genes involved in to investigate for expression differences within in *Longissimus dorsi* (LD), Semimembranosus muscle (SM), liver (LV), and testis (TS) tissues resulting in altered gene expressions.

### 2.2. Materials and methods

## 2.2.1. Animals and experimental design

The experimental protocol for this study was approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Alberta (AUPs 877 and 1129), under the Canadian Council on Animal Care

(CCAC) guidelines on: the care and use of farm animals in research, teaching and testing (Canadian Council on Animal Care, 2009). Sixty purebred Angus heifers previously measured for RFI using the GrowSafe System<sup>®</sup> automated feed recording system (Vytelle<sup>®</sup> LLC., Calgary, Alberta, Canada) were used for the experiment. Housing of heifers and dietary test were carried out at the University of Alberta Roy Berg Kinsella Research Ranch (Kinsella, Alberta, Canada). The population from which these heifers originated was described previously by Mao et al. (2013). The animals and experimental design of this study is detailed by Johnson et al. (2019) and Foroutan et al. (2021), and the following description of the initial RFI test for virgin heifers, estroussynchronization and artificial insemination, pregnancy detection and allocation of pregnant heifers into prenatal diet treatment groups, conduct of the prenatal feeding trial, and subsequent husbandry of both dams and their calves until slaughter of steer progeny is detailed in these publications, but is included here for the convenience of the reader.

Heifers whose age ranged between 9 and 12 months were housed in dry-lot pens that contained feed bunks monitored by the GrowSafe System® (GS), as described by Basarab et al. (2003) and Mao et al. (2013). The RFI test was carried out over 74 days in late winter and early spring of 2013, and was described previously by Johnson et al. (2019) and Foroutan et al. (2021). The test diet consisted of 70% silage and 30% barley grain, and a 21-day acclimatization period was allowed for heifers to adjust to the diet and GS feeding system before the intake measurements were officially recorded. Daily feed intake was measured using the GrowSafe software and used to calculate total feed intake over the entire test. Feed samples were collected weekly and pooled monthly, and from the pooled samples dry matter (DM) and energy content analysis (Table 2.1) were determined using wet chemistry by Parkland laboratories (Red Deer, AB, Canada), in accordance with recommended methods of professional association of official Analytical

Chemists, and the National Forage Testing Association. Heifers were weighed twice at the beginning and end of the test, and once every 14-day interval during the test. An Aloka SSD-210 portable ultrasonographic scanner (Aloka Co., Tokyo, Japan), was used to measure rib fat thickness (12/13<sup>th</sup> rib fat depth and longissimus thoracis (LT area) at the end of the test.

Diet composition (%DM)	GrowSafe trial ration	30-150 days ration		150 days to parturition
Feed type	TMR <sup>1</sup>	Brome grass hay	Oats	Hay
DM <sup>2</sup> (%)	62.0	81.8	89.7	81.4
$CP^3$ (%DM)	11.9	10.3	11.9	18.7
$ADF^{4}$ (%DM)	28.6	49.5	15.0	32.3
$NDF^{5}$ (%DM)	45.7	70.1	29.9	39.1
$TDN^{6}$ (%DM)	67.5	52.8	77.0	64.8
Ca (%DM)	1.67	0.65	0.13	1.67
P (%DM)	0.39	0.25	0.37	0.26
K (%DM)	0.91	2.55	0.59	2.12
Mg (%DM)	0.23	0.20	0.15	0.33
Na (%DM)	0.42	0.01	0.02	0.04
Salt (%DM)	1.05	0.04	0.04	0.10

Table 2.1 Nutrient analysis of ration (%DM) fed to heifers during the initial GrowSafe trial, 30-150 days of treatment and 150 days to parturition

<sup>1</sup>Total mixed ration

<sup>2</sup>Dry matter <sup>3</sup>Crude protein <sup>4</sup>Acid detergent fibre <sup>5</sup>Neutral detergent fibre <sup>6</sup>Total digestible nutrient

Daily feed intake was calculated by dividing the total feed intake over the test period obtained from GS, by the number of days of the test. Daily dry matter intake (DMI) of each heifer was calculated using DM content (62%) of diet and the calculated daily feed intake. DMI was standardized to 10 MJ per kg DM based on the energy content of the diet, to obtain standardized daily DMI. Average daily gain (ADG) of each heifer was calculated based on their plotted serial weights over time and calculated linear regression of weight over time (days). Growth was normal amongst all heifers, as indicated the coefficient of determination (R<sup>2</sup>) of their growth curve, which was not less than 95% for any heifer. Midpoint weight (MDWT) of each heifer was calculated as their initial weight in kg, plus the product of ADG multiplied by half of the days on test. Metabolic bodyweight (MWT) was calculated from midpoint bodyweight (MDWT<sup>0.75</sup>). A linear regression model was fit using PROC GLM in SAS (SAS institute, Inc, Cary, NC, USA) to generate regression coefficients to predict expected DMI of a heifer with respect to its body weight and growth. The model was:

$$Y_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 ADG_i + \beta_2 MWT_j + \beta_3 FUFAT_k + e_{ijk}$$
(1)

Where  $Y_i$  is the standardized daily DMI for the *i*th heifer,  $\beta_0$  is the intercept,  $\beta_1$  is the partial linear regression coefficient of ADG,  $\beta_2$  is the partial linear regression coefficient of MWT,  $\beta_3$  is the partial regression coefficient of final ultrasound rib fat thickness (FUFAT), and  $e_i$  is residual error for the *i*th heifer. RFIf (RFI corrected for FUFAT) for each heifer was computed as the difference between the standardized daily DMI, and the expected DMI that was predicted using the regression intercept and regression coefficients generated from the model. Heifers were categorized based on their calculated RFIf as either high residual feed intake (HRFI) or low residual feed intake (LRFI) by ordering heifers from high to low RFIf and allocating them into two equal groups. No statistical

differences in other traits such as bodyweight, ADG, or age, were detected between the HRFI and LRFI heifer groups (data not shown).

Heifers categorized based on their RFI were bred to sires identified to be of the same RFI group i.e., HRFI heifers were bred to HRFI sires (n=2) and LRFI were bred to LRFI sires (n=2), as per Johnson et al. (2019) and Foroutan et al. (2021). RFI estimated breeding value (EBV) of HRFI sires and LRFI sires at the time of selection were +0.174, +0.140 kg DMI/day, and -0.230 and -0.482 kg DMI/day, respectively. EBV accuracies were 0.859, 0.874, 0.805, and 0.712, respectively. The sires' RFI EBV and accuracy were predicted based on a traditional pedigree-based Best Linear Unbiased Prediction method with the numerator relationship matrix defined from the pedigree as previously described (Chen et al., 2015). AI sires were also selected so that EBV for other recorded traits were similar across all four sires. Heifers from each RFI category were subdivided into two groups by stratified random sampling, and sub-groups were tested for any bias in RFIf and weight. The heifers' pedigree was examined to ensure they were not related to any of the sires, and then each subgroup was then assigned one of the sires with the same RFI group for breeding via oestrous synchronization and artificial insemination.

Free-choice hay was fed to the heifers after the GrowSafe test until mid-May. Heifers were allowed to graze on perennial mixed sown and native grass during oestrus-synchronization and artificial insemination (AI) until pregnancy was confirmed. Breeding of heifers also was described previously by Johnson et al. (2019) and Foroutan et al. (2021). It followed two estrous synchronization protocols. The first AI was timed, whereas the second was performed 12 h after detection of oestrus. During the first round of the estrous synchronization, a CIDR<sup>®</sup> (controlled internal drug release, Eazi-Breed<sup>TM</sup>, Zoetis Animal Health, Kirkland, QC, Canada) was inserted into the vagina of each heifer (day 0). Simultaneously, 100 μg of gonadotrophin releasing hormone

(GnRH) (GnRH; Fertiline®, Vétoquinol Canada Inc., Lavaltrie, QC, Canada) was delivered to the heifer by intramuscular (IM) injection. On day 7, the CIDR® was then removed and 500 µg cloprostenol (Kirkland, Quebec, Canada) was administrated IM. The first round of the estrous synchronization concluded with a second injection of GnRH administered intramuscularly 55 hours after CIDR<sup>®</sup> removal, and the heifer was artificially inseminated (timed AI). In the beginning of the second synchronization phase, a CIDR<sup>®</sup> was again inserted vaginally into each heifer on day 22 relative to the start of the first synchronization. Due to the possibility of heifers being pregnant after first insemination, there was no administration of GnRH or cloprostenol in the second round of estrous synchronization. CIDR<sup>®</sup> s were removed 7 days after insertion (day 29), and a KAMAR Heatmount<sup>TM</sup> detector (Kamar Inc., Steamboat Springs, CO, USA) was mounted anterior to each heifer tailhead with a liquid adhesive and aided in oestrus detection. Visual observation of the occurrence of oestrous was preformed three times daily from Day 30 to 36. Heifers observed to be in oestrus either by a fully activated KAMAR, or in standing oestrous, were inseminated using the AM-PM rule (if heat first observed in the morning, cows were inseminated in the evening and vice versa).

Detection of pregnancy was performed ~28 days after AI via transrectal ultrasonography (Aloka-500-V scanner equipped with a 7.5-MHz linear transducer; Aloka Co., Tokyo, Japan). Pregnant heifers were assigned to either one of two dietary treatments as previously described by Johnson et al. (2019) and Foroutan et al. (2021). Briefly, heifers were stratified (considering RFIF, body weight, rib fat depth, AI sire, and conception date), and randomly placed into prenatal diet treatment groups. They remained in these groups from day 30 to day 150 of gestation. One of the diets (moderate diet or Mdiet) was formulated to provide growth of 0.7 kg/day ADG (roughly 100% of NRC recommendations for growing pregnant heifers). The diet consisted of brome grass

hay and supplemented with oats (Tables 2.1 and 2.2). The second diet (low diet) which consisted of mainly hay with no supplementation, was formulated to provide 75% of the growth potential of the Mdiet. The diets were adjusted monthly after heifers were weighed to account for heifer growth and increasing conceptus growth. Feed samples of both the hay and the oats were collected weekly, and pooled monthly before being submitted for nutrient analysis (Parkland Laboratories, Red Deer, AB, Canada). Table 1 shows the nutrient analysis of the hay and oats provided to the heifers during the trial period. Cobalt Iodised Salt (Windsor Salt Ltd, Pointe Claire, QC, Canada) was provided free-choice with a vitamin premix (Vitamin A, D, E-10M Vitamin Premix for Livestock Feeds, Hi-Pro Feeds LP, Sherwood Park, AB, Canada) at a rate of one cup per gallon of salt.

Adjustments	Moderate		Low	
	Hay (kg/day)	Oats (kg/day)	Hay (kg/day)	Oats (kg/day)
Initial <sup>1</sup>	6.94	3.45	9.71	0.00
1 <sup>st</sup> adjustment <sup>2</sup>	7.73	3.75	9.33	0.00
2 <sup>nd</sup> adjustment <sup>3</sup>	9.21	3.95	11.29	0.00
3 <sup>rd</sup> adjustment <sup>4</sup>	7.14	5.65	12.84	0.00
4 <sup>th</sup> adjustment <sup>5</sup>	7.02	6.80	10.78	2.61

Table 2.2 Dietary adjustment of moderate and low diets over the course of the trial (as fed)

 $4^{-1}$  adjustment
 7.02

 <sup>1</sup>Initial: Jul. 24, 2013
 21<sup>st</sup> adjustment: Aug. 19, 2013

  $32^{nd}$  adjustment: Sept. 11, 2013

  $43^{rd}$  adjustment: Oct. 8, 2013

  $54^{th}$  adjustment: Nov. 8, 2013

After 150 days of gestation, all heifers were housed together and offered free-choice hay until  $\sim$ 2 months after parturition, when they then grazed mixed tame and native grass pasture until weaning in the fall (Johnson et al., 2019). Nutrient analysis of the free-choice hay fed from the end of the feeding trial until the pasture season is shown in Table 2.1.

Post weaning management practices for bull offspring (n = 23; Mdiet-HRFI = 6, Mdiet-LRFI = 3, Ldiet-HRFI = 9, Ldiet-LRFI = 5) were carried out in accordance with industry standards for potential replacement breeding bulls (Johnson et al., 2019). Bulls were weaned on the  $12^{th}$  of November 2014 and were housed in a drylot setting until slaughter. Free-choice grass hay was initially provided to the bulls for 1 month, after which an extra 12 lbs/day of oats was offered, as fed. Beginning in mid-February the bulls were slowly transitioned to a barley silage plus barley grain-based diet consisting of 50.4% barley silage, 46% barley grain and 3.2% of a feedlot supplement, which consisted of 32% crude protein, 440 mg/kg of monensin, trace minerals and vitamin (Beef grower supplement, Cargill Inc., Minneapolis, MN, US). At the end of April 2015, the bulls were transported to Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Lacombe Research Centre (Lacombe, AB), allowed to acclimatize to a new feedlot pen and final diet consisting of 55% barley silage and 45% barley grain (Johnson et al., 2019). This diet was fed to the bulls until slaughter in August 2015. Nutrient analysis of both the transition diet and final diet are found in Table 2.3.

Diet composition	Transition diet	<b>Final diet</b>
DM <sup>1</sup> %	52.5	56.1
CP <sup>2</sup> (%DM)	14.9	14
ADF <sup>3</sup> (%DM)	21.4	25.25
NDF <sup>4</sup> (%DM)	34.2	40.5
Ca (%DM)	1.26	0.94
P (%DM)	0.41	0.34
K (%DM)	0.97	1.38
Mg (%DM)	0.24	0.23
Na (%DM)	0.24	0.13
FE (PPM)	772	336
Mn (PPM)	121	70
Zn (PPM)	163	61

Table 2.3 Nutrient analysis of ration (%DM) fed to bulls during the transition stage and final feeding period.

<sup>1</sup>DM: Dry matter <sup>2</sup>CP: Crude protein <sup>3</sup>ADF: Acid detergent fibre <sup>4</sup>NDF: Neutral detergent fibre <sup>5</sup>TDN: Total digestible nutrients

## 2.2.2. Semen collection, carcass characteristics, and tissue sample collection

Collection of semen and tissue samples as well as carcass characteristics for bull offspring was performed and detailed by Johnson et al. (2019) and (Foroutan et al., 2021). Briefly, the semen was collected at 4-week intervals via electroejaculation between the ages of 13 to 16 months. Morphological evaluation of the semen was carried out by making a semen smear using eosinnigrosine stain as described by Barth and Oko, 1989. After an initial motility and quality check (subjective assessment at X 400), samples with 50% motility were diluted with equal volumes of semen extender (AndroMed; Minitube, Ingersoll, ON, Canada) and transferred to 15-mL tubes. These tubes were placed in 250-mL beakers with 200 mL water maintained at the same temperature as semen (35°C) and placed at 4°C for a minimum of 4 h for chilling and equilibration (Krishnakumar et al., 2011). Post-chill motility and preservation of semen were carried out as described by Johnson et al. (2019).

Bulls were maintained in the feedlot until ~17 months of age and then slaughtered at the Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Lacombe Research Centre Abattoir, AB, Canada. The entire process was conducted over 4 days, with an average of seven bulls slaughtered per day. Slaughter dates were continuous except for a 1-week separation between the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> dates. As much as possible, all prenatal nutrition and RFI groups were included on each slaughter date. On the day of slaughter, bulls were weighed to obtain their final weight (FW). At slaughter, they were first stunned by a captive bolt and then exsanguinated. Between 5 to 10 g of tissue samples from LT muscle (from the left side of the bull, between the 12th and 13th ribs), SM muscle (left), liver, and testis were collected approximately 30-45 min after exsanguination. The tissue was immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and then stored at -80°C until RNA isolation.

# 2.2.3. Selection of DMR-associated genes

Results of the WGBS experiment conducted on DNA isolated from semen samples obtained from the bull progeny (Foroutan, 2020) were used to identify DMRs to analyze for methylation differences via EpiTYPER technology. All bioinformatic analysis of WGBS data were carriedout and detailed by Foroutan (2020). Specifically, data filtering and quality assessment, methylcytosine identification and DMRs associated with prenatal diet treatment (Mdiet and Ldiet) identification. Potential DMRs were assessed for significance using Mann-Whitney-U (MWU) at q-value < 0.05 and minimum mean methylation difference  $\geq 0.1$  (Foroutan, 2020). DMRs were prioritized and selected on the basis of their biological functions related to growth and metabolism (Table 2.4).

# 2.2.4. Semen DNA extraction and methylation analysis

The following procedures were performed as a part of the current investigation. The semen DNA extraction followed the procedure outlined by Foroutan, (2020). Specifically, frozen semen was thawed at room temperature and 150  $\mu$ L of each semen straw was transferred to a 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube. One mL of 1X STE buffer (100mM Tris; pH=8, 10mM EDTA; pH=8, 1M NaCl) was added to the tube, and after a brief vortex, the tube was centrifuged at 7000 ×g for 5 min at room temperature. The supernatant was poured off and the remaining pellet was washed (to separate clumps of cells from semen extender) again twice with 1 mL 1X STE buffer. After the final wash, the supernatant was again poured off and the pellet was resuspended in 336  $\mu$ L 1X STE. The tube was vortexed, then 40  $\mu$ L of 10% SDS (final concentration ~1%), 20  $\mu$ L of 20 mg/mL Proteinase K, and 14  $\mu$ L of 1 M DTT (final concentration ~35 mM) were added to the tube. The tube was incubated in a rotating hybridization oven at 56°C overnight for 24 hrs. Two MaXtract tubes (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) were prepared by pulse centrifugation at 15,000 ×g for 20-30 sec. Then 1 mL of phenol:chloroform: isoamyl alcohol (PCI = 25:24:1) was added to

one set of MaXtract tubes. The sperm cell lysate from the overnight incubation was poured into the same MaXtract tube, mixed by inversion for 5 min, and centrifuged at 15,000 ×g for 5 min at 4 °C. A total of 400  $\mu$ L of chloroform: isoamyl alcohol (CI = 24:1) was added to the other set of MaXtract tubes. The aqueous layer (top) was transferred from the PCI tube to the CI tube, mixed by inversion for 5 min, then centrifuged at 15,000 ×g for 5 min at 4°C. Then 0.1 volume of 3 M sodium acetate (~40 µL) was added to a new 1.5 mL tube, and 400 µL of the aqueous layer was transferred into the tube containing sodium acetate. Two volumes of 100% ethanol (~880  $\mu$ L) were added, and the tube was frozen at -80°C for 2 hrs. Following the freezing process, the tube was left at room temperature for 3 min until the liquid inside melted. After melting, the tube was centrifuged at 15,000 ×g for 15 min at 4°C. The ethanol supernatant was poured off into a waste flask, and 1 mL of 70% ethanol was added to the pellet, which was followed by centrifugation at 15,000  $\times$ g for 5 min at 4°C. The pellet was washed with 70% ethanol for a second time and then the pellet was resuspended in 100 µL AE buffer (10 mM Tris-Cl, 0.5 mM EDTA; pH=9.0) (Qiagen). Total DNA was quantified using a Nanodrop-2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, NC, USA) and the sample was then stored at -20 °C. DNA samples were then shipped to Genome Quebec Innovation Centre (Montreal, Canada) for DNA methylation analysis.

DNA methylation analysis was performed by Genome Quebec using the EpiTYPER MassARRAY technology provided by Agena Bioscience (San Diego, CA, USA). A total of 15 target amplicons (Table 2.4) were analyzed. Genomic DNA (~1 $\mu$ g) was treated with sodium bisulfite using an EZ-DNA methylation Gold kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA, USA). The bisulfite-treated DNA samples (1.5  $\mu$ L) were placed into a 384-well microplate for PCR amplification using a T7-promoter-tagged reverse primer with the following conditions: 1X PCR
Buffer (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany), 1.25 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5 mM dNTPs, 0.25 µM of each forward and reverse primers, QIAGEN HotStar Taq 0.1 U/µL, plus RNAse free water to equal a final total volume of 5 µL. The PCR cycling conditions were: 95 °C for 15 min, then 45 cycles of 95 °C for 30 sec, 56 °C for 90 sec, 72 °C for 2 min, and a final 72 °C for 10 min. Thereafter the reaction was held at 4 °C. A shrimp alkaline phosphatase (SAP) (Agena Bioscience) treatment of the PCR product was then performed to discard unincorporated DNA nucleotides with the following conditions: 2 µL of a 0.15 U/µL mixture of the SAP enzyme and RNAse free water was added to 5 µL of PCR. The temperature cycling conditions for the SAP reaction were: 37 °C for 10 min, 85 °C for 5 min, and then the reaction was held at 4 °C. The PCR products were then transcribed into single-stranded RNA and cleaved by RNAse A at uracil residues using the following reaction conditions: 0.64 X of T7 Polymerase buffer, 3.4 µL of T cleavage Mix, 3.14 mM of DTT, 3.15  $U/\mu L$  of T7 RNA & DNA Pol, 0.09 U/ $\mu L$  RNase A plus RNase Free water to make a total of 5 µL/reaction. Two µL of PCR/SAP reaction was transferred to a new plate to which 5 µL of cleavage mix was added. Cleavage temperature conditions were as follows: 37 °C for 3 hours, followed by a hold at 4°C. The EpiTYPER reactions were dispensed onto a SpectroCHIP 384 Array using a Nanodispenser RS 1000 (Agena Bioscience), and data were acquired using a MassARRAY MALDI-TOF mass spectrometer (Agena Bioscience). The data was analyzed using the EpiTYPER software (Agena Biosciences).

	Gene		
Gene name	symbol	<b>Chromosomal location</b> <sup>1</sup>	CpG Analyzed <sup>2</sup>
Acyl-CoA dehydrogenase very long chain	ACADVL	19:26938525-26939292	9/10
Aldehyde dehydrogenase 3 family member B1	ALDH3B1	29:45537643-45538425	24/28
Collagen like tail subunit of asymmetric acetylcholinesterase	COLQ	1:152537871-152538635	29/32
Dipeptidyl peptidase like 6	DPP6	4:116520561-116521160	17/18
Growth factor receptor-bound protein 10	GRB10	4:5274311-5275031	20/20
Histone deacetylase 4	HDAC4	3:118258228-118259046	30/33
Insulin-like growth factor 2 receptor-DMR2	IGF2R-DMR2	9:96220873-96221574	24/25
Insulin-like growth factor 2 receptor-WGBS	IGF2R-WGBS	9:96278463-96279243	26/35
Immunoglobulin-like and fibronectin type III domain containing 1	IGFN1	16:79717001-79717767	8/10
Insulin like 3	INSL3	7:5326081-5326799	15/16
3-phosphoinositide dependent protein kinase 1	PDPK1	25:2062070-2062783	25/26

Table 2.4 Gene and chromosomal location of the 15 DNA fragments selected for the methylation analysis

Phosphorylase kinase regulatory subunit alpha 2	РНКА2	X:124497025-124497732	14/16
Protein kinase AMP-activated non-catalytic subunit gamma 2	PRKAG2	4:114315277-114316030	17/19
Ras protein-specific guanine nucleotide releasing factor 1	RASGRF1	21:25311128-25311844	16/17
Stearoyl-CoA desaturase 5	SCD5	6:97506791-97507486	15/15

<sup>1</sup> Chromosomal location is within genome assembly ARS-UCD1.2/bosTau9 <sup>2</sup> CpG Analyze: Analyzable CpG sites/Total CpG sites in each amplicon

### 2.2.5. RNA extraction and NanoString gene expression analysis

Frozen LD, SM, and LV samples were grounded in liquid nitrogen using a mortar and pestle. Approximately 100 mg of each sample (n=23 for each tissue type) were aliquoted into 2 ml microcentrifuge tubes. Total RNA was extracted using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) following the manufacturer's instructions with the following modifications: the LD and SM samples were incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes during the phase separation step. During RNA precipitation phase, 250 µl of isopropanol and high salt solution (1.2M NaAc, 0.8M NaCl) were used and all RNA pellet washing steps were performed using 80% ethanol, centrifuged at 8300 rpm for the first wash, and nucleic acid was re-precipitated with 10 µl sodium acetate, 100% ethanol and incubated for an hour in a -80°C freezer. The final RNA pellets were air dried on ice and resuspended in 50 µl nuclease-free water. The total RNA (1 µl) was quantified using the NanoDrop 2000C spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and 2200 TapeStation system (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA). RNA extraction for TS tissues was performed and detailed by Foroutan (2020).

Gene expression analysis was performed on 100 ng of total RNA ( $30-50 \text{ ng/}\mu\text{L}$ ) extracted from LD, SM, LV, and TS using the nCounter RNA gene expression assay (NanoString Technologies, Seattle, Washington, USA) and their Elements TagSets technology. Genes (n =30) selected on the basis of differential methylation of associated DMRs as identified by WGBS, or their metabolic and growth-related functions, were selected for the expression analysis (Table 2.5). Probe A and B for each transcript were synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies (IDT) using publicly available bovine sequences listed in Table 4. The RNA samples were mixed with Elements Tagset and tagged with a biotinylated capture probe and a fluorescent molecular barcode reporter probe to form a target probe complex. A hybridization buffer was used to incubate the target probe complex at 67 °C for 16–21 h using a thermocycler. Excess and unbound probe were removed after purification on a nCounter prep station. The remaining RNA hybrid and probe complex were immobilized and electro-stretched on a streptavidin-coated cartridge. Molecular barcodes were subsequently counted using an automated nCounter digital analyzer which represents relative target gene expression within each sample. The data is reported as counts of unique barcodes associated with each gene.

Gene	Symbol	Accession No. <sup>1</sup>	Position <sup>2</sup>
Acyl-CoA dehydrogenase very long chain	ACADVL	NM_174494.2	656-755
Acyl-CoA thioesterase 7	ACOT7	NM_001075682.2	769-868
Aldehyde dehydrogenase 3 family member B1	ALDH3B1	NM_001075518.1	1621-1720
Collagen like tail subunit of asymmetric acetylcholinesterase	COLQ	NM_001035297.4	1009-1108
Dipeptidyl peptidase like 6	DPP6	NM_174040.2	1873-1972
Growth factor receptor-bound protein 10	GRB10	NM_001192586.1	1651-1750
Histone deacetylase 4	HDAC4	XM_024990281.1	4436-4535
Insulin-like growth factor 1	IGF1	NM_001077828.1	346-445
Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor	IGF1R	NM_001244612.1	2767-2866
Insulin-like growth factor 2	IGF2	NM_174087.3	401-500
Insulin-like growth factor 2 receptor	IGF2R	NM_174352.2	8126-8225
Immunoglobulin-like and fibronectin type III domain containing 1	IGFN1	XM_024976573.1	801-900
Inositol polyphosphate-5-phosphatase A	INPP5A	XM_024986036.1	758-857
Insulin like 3	INSL3	NM_174365.2	109-208
Insulin receptor	INSR	XM_002688832.2	1818-1917
Potassium voltage-gated channel interacting protein 1	KCNIP1	NM_001013604.1	276-375
Myocyte enhancer factor 2A	MEF2A	NM_001083638.2	1751-1850
Myostatin	MSTN	NM_001001525.3	703-802
Myogenic factor 5	MYF5	NM_174116.1	661-760
Phosphofurin acidic cluster sorting protein 2	PACS2	XM_024982233.1	1441-1540
3-phosphoinositide dependent protein kinase 1	PDPK1	XM_024985289.1	3235-3334
Phosphofructokinase, muscle	PFKM	NM_001075268.1	2058-2157
Phosphorylase kinase regulatory subunit alpha 2	РНКА2	NM_001191545.1	1344-1443
Pyruvate kinase M1/2	РКМ	NM_001075268.1	902-1001

Table 2.5 List of genes analyzed by NanoString nCounter genes expression analysis in LD, SM, and LV.

Peroxisome proliferator activated	PPARG	NM_181024.2	1562-1661
receptor gamma Protein kinase AMP-activated non- catalytic subunit gamma 2	PRKAG2	XM_024991251.1	1528-1627
Glycogen phosphorylase, muscle associated	PYGM	NM_175786.2	1585-1684
Ras protein-specific guanine nucleotide releasing factor 1	RASGRF1	NM_001191457.1	1946-2045
Stearoyl-CoA desaturase 5	SCD5	NM_001076945.1	1059-1158
Thyroid hormone receptor beta	THRB	XM_005226186.4	2641-2740

<sup>1</sup>GenBank sequence identifier for each mRNA accession <sup>2</sup>Target position within each sequence

### 2.2.6. Statistical Analysis

### 2.2.6.1. DNA methylation data processing

Raw methylation data was filtered and processed within Excel (v2012) to exclude unreliable CpG units. Firstly, CpG units with no data values and more than one silent peak were deleted. CpG units that could not be distinguished from one another (contained the same methylation level values for each individual sample), were combined into one and relabelled into a single CpG (for example CpG 3-5). Then, samples with more than 10% missing data values were deleted. For analysis within treatments, standard deviation (SD) was calculated for each CpG within individual tissues, and CpGs with SD less than 0.02 were removed from further analysis. Finally, CpG units with more than two missing values were also removed from further statistical analysis. For principal component analysis (PCA) between tissue, SD was calculated including all tissues, and CpG units with SD value less than 0.02 were deleted. CpG units with more than 10% missing data values were excluded from the analysis. For comparison of EpiTYPER and WGBS methylation results, average methylation of each fragment was calculated using the average function within Excel (v2012).

### 2.2.6.2. Gene expression data processing and normalization

Raw gene expression counts were pre-processed for quality control (QC) and normalized using nSolver<sup>®</sup> Analysis Software v4.0 (NanoString Technologies, Inc). Specifically, the data were quality controlled based on the manufacturer's default recommendations for QC parameters set for each sample; imaging QC (Field of view (FOV) counted/FOV counts; cut-off 75% FOV), binding density (measure of reporter probe density on the cartridge surface within each sample; cut-off range = 0.05-2.25), positive control linearity (linear regression R<sup>2</sup> =  $log_2$  known (positive controls)/log\_2 measured (positive controls), cut-off = R<sup>2</sup> value  $\geq 0.95$ ) and positive control limit of detection (indicates whether the counts for the positive control probe and target sequence are

significantly above the counts of the negative probes; cut-off set at 2 SD above means of negative control). Samples that passed the QC parameters were subsequently normalized following the manufacturer's instructions. The normalization procedure was based on geometric means of manufacturer's induced positive controls, and housekeeping genes. The housekeeping transcripts consisting of five genes; EEFIA2, GAPDH, HMBS, PPIA, and YWHAZ were used to normalize the analysis of LD and SM muscle samples while GAPDH, HMBS, PPIA, and YWHAZ were used to normalize the analysis of LV samples. The housekeeping genes were selected based on average expression count (cut-off = 100), and percentage co-efficient of variation following manufacturer's recommendations. Positive control normalization accounted for technical variation between samples, cartridges, and hybridization using a normalization factor range of 0.3 to 3. The housekeeping gene normalization calculates the geomean of five housekeeping genes to adjust for differences in any possible technical mRNA quality variation across the samples. The normalization factor for the housekeeping gene normalization ranges from 0.1 to 10. Normalized data were exported into Excel (v2012) for further sorting before further analysis was carried out. Genes with expression count of  $\geq 50$  were considered robust enough to analyze although genes with less than 75% of their sample counts below 50 were excluded from further statistical analysis. Principal component analysis (PCA) was conducted using the normalized gene expression data after data processing for each fragment.

### 2.2.6.3. Differential methylation and gene expression analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SAS (v9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Data were first tested for normality using the PROC Univariate procedure. Non-normally distributed data were transformed using either the box-cox transformation via PROC TRANSREG procedure in SAS, square-root, cube-root, or log-transformation in Excel (v2012). Transformed data were further tested for normality and only normally distributed data were further used for subsequent

analysis. Differential analysis was initially conducted using PROC MIXED to test for the random effect of sire nested within RFI. The model consisted of Diet, RFI, their interaction, and slaughter day as fixed factors, age set as a co-variate, and sire nested within RFI as a random factor. Since the effect of sire was not found to be significant in any of the models, data was then analyzed using PROC GLM with the same fixed factors and co-variate as listed above. If slaughter day and age of the animal was not significant, it was removed from the model. The least-square means were determined using the PDIFF function in SAS. Residuals from the model were screened for normality using PROC Univariate procedure within SAS (v9.4). If residuals were not normally distributed, original data were then transformed and re-analyzed. Significant p-values were reported from type III sums of squares. The significance threshold of a difference between prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI or their interaction was set at  $P \le 0.05$ . Means are reported as LSmeans  $\pm$  standard error (SE) and means of transformed data are reported as back-transformed means with a 95% confidence interval (CI). Pairwise correlation between individual CpGs showed a high percentage of significant correlation (59.63%). As a result, multiple testing correction was not performed to avoid false negative results.

To compare EpiTYPER and WGBS semen methylation results, average methylation for each of the putative DMRs from the semen EpiTYPER methylation analysis was calculated using Excel (v2012). Data was then tested for homogeneity using PROC UNIVARIATE procedure in SAS. The mean methylation of each treatment group within each DMR was assessed using PROC TTEST procedure within SAS (v9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). For WGBS, all statistical analysis was conducted and detailed by (Foroutan, 2020)

### 2.2.6.4. Principal component analysis

PCA was performed to profile the gene expression differences within LD, SM, LV, and TS using the prcomp package (default stats package v3.5.1) in R (version 4.1.1; R Core Team, 2021).

Dimensions were reduced and variance maximized by extracting principal components (PC) from the analysis based on the cumulative variance explained. A threshold of  $\leq$  80% explained variance was used to select the number of PCs for further steps in the analysis. Two PCs were selected and correlated with the original data. The ggbiplot R package (https://github.com/vqv/ggbiplot) and stat ellipse function, at 95% confidence interval in R (version 4.1.1; R Core Team, 2021) was used to plot a biplot between PC1 and PC2, representing the component with most variation in the dataset to visualize the pattern of gene distribution between tissues and the contribution of each gene to the respective PCs.

### 2.3. Results

### **2.3.1.** Comparison of methylation associated with prenatal diet between EpiTYPER and WGBS methylation

Prenatal diet had no significant association with average semen methylation of the analyzed target (Table 2.6) in the current study. From the WGBS study, Ldiet bull progeny had significantly higher methylation levels compared to their Mdiet counterparts (negative mean methylation values). For EpiTYPER, Mdiet bull progeny displayed higher methylation levels *COLQ* and *INSL3* while Ldiet had higher methylation levels compared to Mdiet group for *INSL3*.

	WGBS			ЕріТҮ	PER		
		Mean methylation		СрG	Ave methyla	erage tion level	
DMR	<b>Chromosomal Location</b>	difference <sup>1</sup>	q-value	Analyzed <sup>2</sup>	Mdiet	Ldiet	<b>P-value</b>
	1 00 45505540 45500005	0.00	<b>2</b> 00E 10	5;7-8;9; 10;14-15; 18,21;22;23-	0.00	0.00	0.51
ALDH3B1	chr29:45537743-45538325	-0.30	2.00E-10	24;26;28 2-3·4·5-6·7·8·9·11·14·16-	0.89	0.89	0.51
COLQ	chr1:152538021-152538485	-0.27	6.90E-14	17;23;24-25;26;27;29;30 2·5-6·7-8·9-12·13·14-15·16-	0.83	0.80	0.56
DPP6	chr4:116706545-116706690	-0.25	0.04	17;18	0.87	0.87	0.98
GRB10	chr4:5274461-5274881	-0.23	0.01	3;4;16-17;18;19	0.88	0.88	0.71
HDAC4	chr3:118258328-118258946	-0.20	0.0003	1;4;6;16;23;27;31-32	0.87	0.87	0.94
IGF2R-							
WGBS	chr9:96278763-96278943	-0.30	0.01	7;17;24-25;26	0.89	0.89	0.67
IGFN1	chr16:79717301-79717467	0.36	0.0002	2;6;7	0.93	0.93	0.76
INSL3	chr7:5326381-5326499	-0.21	0.03	4;5;6;7;8;9-10;11;14;16	0.62	0.57	0.19
RASGRF1	chr21:25311278-25311694	-0.27	0.002	1;2;9;13-15;17	0.86	0.87	0.29
SCD5	chr6:97507091-97507186	-0.31	0.01	4-5;6;8-9;10-12;13-14	0.83	0.80	0.38

Table 2.6 Comparison between mean methylation difference (WGBS) and average CpG methylation (EpiTYPER)

<sup>1</sup>Mean methylation difference between Mdiet and Ldiet bull progeny from WGBS data analysis. Negative value denotes higher methylation in Ldiet progeny. <sup>2</sup>CpG units used in calculating average methylation for fragments analyzed.

#### 2.3.2. Principal component analysis of gene expression

In the PCA analysis, two PCs (PC1 and PC2) explained most of the variation (85.9%) (Figure 2.1) in the data set with 56.1% explained by PC1 and 29.8% explained by PC2. Therefore, the two PCs were used in profiling the pattern of gene expression between LD, SM, LV, and TS tissues represented by colored ellipses. From the PCA ggbiplot (Figure 2.1), expression patterns of LD and SM overlap with each other and are positively correlated to both PC1 and PC2. LV expression patterns are slightly positively correlated with PC1 but negatively correlated to PC2. TS negatively correlates with PC1 and has a weak positive correlation with PC2. Additionally, correlation between the genes and their contribution to the PCs is denoted by the direction and length of the arrows within the ggbiplot. PC1 positively correlates with the expression of COLQ, GRB10, IGFN1, INSR, MSTN, MYF5, PFKM, PKM, PYGM, and THRB while ACOT7, IGF1R, IGF2R, PHKA2, SCD5, ALDH3B1, PRKAG2, RASGRF1, PPARG, INPP5A, HDAC4, DPP6, PDPK1, KCNIP1, PACS2, MEF2A and INS3 negatively correlates with PC1. ACADVL, IGF1, and IGF2 had no correlation with PC1. For PC2, There is a positive correlation with the expression of ACADVL, COLQ, HDAC4, IGF1, IGF2, IGF1R, INSR, MSTN, MYF5, PACS2, and PHKA2. PC2 negatively correlates with PRKAG2, DPP6, IGF2R, RASGRF1, PPARG, INPP5A, PDPK1, KCNIP1, MEF2A, PKM, IGFN1, PFKM, PYGM, and GRB10 while ALDH3B1, ACOT7, INSL3, SCD5, and THRB had no correlation with PC2. Genes positively correlated with the PCs implies the genes had higher contribution to the variation captured by the respective PCs (Figure 2.1)



Figure 2.1 A ggbiplot of PCA profiling the gene expression pattern between LD, SM, LV, and TS. Variables are indicated as arrows showing the direction and relative contributions to the PCs. Ellipses grouping the samples according to expression patterns between tissues; *Longissimus* dorsi LD, *Semimembranosus* muscle (SM), liver (LV) and testis (TS).

### 2.3.3. Semen DNA methylation in bull progeny

Prenatal dietary treatment significantly influenced the methylation of the DNA fragments associated with *ALDH3B1* (CpG 18), *IGF2R*-DMR2 (CpG 3-4), *GRB10* (CpG 18) and *INSL3* (CpG 5) (Table 2.7). Mdiet bull progeny had greater methylation levels compared to the Ldiet groups for all significant CpGs (Table 2.7). Genetic potential for RFI affected the methylation levels in *ALDH3B1* (CpG 22), where LRFI group had higher methylation levels compared to HRFI group [(LRFI vs HRFI;  $0.88 \pm 0.01$  vs  $0.90 \pm 0.01$ , respectively)]. Prenatal diet and RFI interaction influenced methylation in *DPP6* (CpG 18), and *IGF2R*-WGBS [(CpG 24-25); (CpG 26)]. In *IGF2R*-WGBS, Ldiet-LRFI group had significantly higher methylation levels than Ldiet-HRFI but were similar compared to other diet-RFI groups in both CpGs (Figure. 2). For *DPP6*, Mdiet-HRFI bull progeny had a higher methylation level than the Ldiet-LRFI group, but similar to other counterparts [(Mdiet-HRFI (85, [86.2, 82.8]); Mdiet-LRFI (87.7, [89.1, 86.2]); Ldiet-HRFI (86.2, [88.4, 83.9]); Ldiet-LRFI (83.6, [88.6, 77.9)].

		Diet			
DMR	CpG –	Mdiet <sup>1</sup>	Ldiet <sup>1</sup>	— P-value	
ALDH3B1	18	$0.95\pm0.01$	$0.93\pm0.01$	0.05	
IGF2R-DMR2	3-4	$0.22\pm0.02$	$0.15\pm0.01$	0.01	
GRB10	18	$0.90\pm0.01$	$0.87\pm0.01$	0.001	
INSL3	5	$0.51\pm0.04$	$0.41\pm0.03$	0.05	

Table 2.7 Impact of prenatal feed restriction during early to mid-gestation and RFI on DNA methylation in semen of bulls as assessed by EpiTYPER analysis

<sup>1</sup>Data represent methylation percentage for CpG in semen and expressed as LSmeans  $\pm$  SE. Significance set at P  $\leq$  0.05.



Figure 2.2 Bar graphs indicating differential methylation between prenatal diet and RFI interaction groups for A) CpG 24-25 B) CpG 26 in *IGF2R*-WGBS fragment. Bars represent LSmeans estimates, and error bars represent SE. <sup>a,b</sup> indicates significant differences between the diet-RFI groups.

# **2.3.4.** Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in *longissimus* dorsi

In LD, prenatal diet had a significant effect on the expression of *PDPK1*, with Ldiet having higher mRNA abundance compared to Mdiet bulls (Table 2.8). RFI was associated with the expression of *IGFN1*, with LRFI bulls having higher mRNA relative abundance than HRFI group (Table 2.8). The interaction of prenatal diet and RFI was significantly associated with the expression of *PFKM*, where the Ldiet-HRFI steer group had a significantly higher expression level than Mdiet-HRFI but did not differ compared to other diet and RFI combinations [Mdiet-HRFI (11816 [405.70, 408.80]); Mdiet-LRFI (12981.16 [405.30, 417.40]); Ldiet-HRFI(13988.33 [411.00, 418.20]); Ldiet-LRFI(12562.94 [ 403.80, 416.00])] groups. All other genes analyzed did not have any significant differences in the mRNA abundance between treatment groups.

	Γ	Diet	
Gene	Mdiet <sup>1</sup>	Ldiet <sup>1</sup>	P-value
PDPK1	$372.99 \pm 14.59$	$429.58 \pm 11.72$	0.01
	R	FI	
	HRFI <sup>1</sup>	LRFI <sup>1</sup>	
IGFN1	1255695.1, [1080077.8, 1468501.5]	1758876.2, [1451681, 2151802.4]	0.02

Table 2.8 Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in Longissimus dorsi muscle of bull offspring at slaughter as assessed by NanoString.

<sup>1</sup>Data represent the gene expression estimates within LD muscle and are expressed as least square means  $\pm$  SE. If the data is non-normal, data are the back-transformed mean and 95% CI in []. Significance set at P  $\leq$  0.05.

# 2.3.5. Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in semimembranosus muscle in bull progeny

The effect of genetic potential for RFI, and prenatal feed restriction during gestation, on gene expression in SM of bull offspring is shown (Table 2.9). Prenatal diet was associated with the expression of *PDPK1* and *THRB*. Ldiet progeny had higher expression of both *PDPK1* and *THRB* compared to their Mdiet counterparts. Genetic potential for RFI was associated with the expression of *PACS2*, with LRFI progeny having higher mRNA abundance than HRFI progeny (Table 2.9).

	D	iet	
Gene	Mdiet <sup>1</sup>	Ldiet <sup>1</sup>	<b>P-value</b>
PDPK1	$333.07 \pm 11.42$	$374.11 \pm 9.20$	0.01
THRB	$588.73\pm30.07$	$671.66 \pm 24.33$	0.01
	R	FI	
	HRFI <sup>1</sup>	LRFI <sup>1</sup>	
PACS2	$529.36 \pm 13.12$	$584.3 \pm 20.20$	0.04

Table 2.9 Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in Semimembranosus muscle of bull offspring at slaughter as assessed by NanoString.

<sup>1</sup>Data represent the gene expression estimates within SM muscle and are expressed as least square means  $\pm$  SE. If the data is non-normal, data are the back-transformed mean and 95% CI in []. Significance set at P  $\leq$  0.05.

### 2.3.6. Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in testis

Prenatal diet was not significantly associated with the expression of the genes analyzed in testis tissue. Genetic potential for RFI was associated with expression levels of *HDAC4*, and *IGF1R* (Table 2.10). LRFI bull progeny had a higher mRNA abundance of both *HDAC4* and *IGF1R* as compared to HRFI progeny.

Table 2.10 Effect of genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in testis tissue of bull offspring at slaughter as assessed by NanoString.

Gene	HRFI <sup>1</sup>	LRFI <sup>1</sup>	P-value
HDAC4	20470.7, [19228.0, 21578.5]	22155.7, [20891.3, 23290.2]	0.01
IGF1R	$3410.49 \pm 127.43$	$2842.6 \pm 196.19$	0.02

<sup>1</sup>Data represent the gene expression estimates within TS tissue and are expressed as least square means  $\pm$  SE. If the data is non-normal, data are the back-transformed mean and 95% CI in []. Significance set at P  $\leq$  0.05.

### 2.4. Discussion

In-utero feed restriction alters fetal organ and tissue development leading to metabolic and endocrine programming that may persist in the postnatal period (Bispham et al., 2003; Chadio et al., 2007). Even in the absence of any phenotypic consequences, prenatal nutrition has been shown to alter the methylation and expression of genes associated with metabolism and growth (Lan et al., 2013). A previous study that utilized the same group of bull progeny showed that the Ldiet bull group recorded a higher growth rate between 10 to 16 months of age (Johnson et al., 2019). Therefore, in this study, we investigated the molecular mechanisms regulating the phenotypic changes in beef cattle progeny due to feed restriction during early to mid-gestation.

### 2.4.1. Comparative semen methylation analysis (WGBS vs EpiTYPER)

Genome-wide methylation techniques including WGBS have been used as discovery approaches in identifying differentially methylated regions (DMRs) (Chatterjee et al., 2017). Due to a potential number of factors such as overestimation of statistical significance, inadequate sequencing depth, and use of inappropriate statistical tests, biases could be introduced in WGBS findings (Chatterjee et al., 2017). Therefore, these results are sometimes subject to validation analysis to determine the accuracy of WGBS results (Chatterjee et al., 2017). The EpiTYPER assay has been used in validating DMRs identified by WGBS methylation analysis (Chatterjee et al., 2017; Jin et al., 2013). EpiTYPER enables a relatively high throughput quantitative measurement of DNA methylation at targeted CpG sites, and we have utilized this technology to attempt to verify WGBS results obtained by Foroutan et al. (2020) when they identified DMRs associated with prenatal diet in semen DNA of bulls used in the current study.

In the WGBS study, the influence of prenatal dietary treatment identified 652 DMRs with 352 unique DMR-associated genes (Foroutan, 2020). Comparing the prenatal diet groups, 77.8% of the identified DMRs had higher methylation levels in Ldiet progeny (Foroutan, 2020). Using

the WGBS results to choose DNA fragments associated with genes that might influence biological functions related to growth and metabolism, we analyzed 10 normally distributed methylated DNA fragments from DMR-associated genes using EpiTYPER. We compared the influence of prenatal diet on average CpG methylation levels from each fragment to the mean methylation differences from the WGBS analysis. From the results (Table 2.7), the prenatal diet did not significantly influence methylation levels of any of the genes analyzed with EpiTYPER. We did observe similar methylation levels in DMR *RASGRF1*. Methylation levels of this DMR in the Ldiet group were higher than in the Mdiet group, which agrees with the results from the WGBS analysis. Our approach to comparing the average methylation levels from the EpiTYPER and WGBS was similar to Chatterjee et al. (2017) who reported that the accuracy of validating whole genome methylation data significantly improved when multiple CpG sites rather than single sites were used. Hence, in general, we speculate that the EpiTYPER methylation in this study could not validate the association of prenatal diet to methylation as observed in the WGBS study.

The variation we observed in the results could be attributed to several factors. Firstly, the general principle of quantifying methylation counts varies between the two techniques i.e., sequence-based vs mass spectrometry-based which could introduce some level of technical variation in the data output. Also, WGBS data underwent bioinformatic analysis including data quality control, identification, and quantification of methyl-cytosine to determine the DMRs. Bioinformatic analysis also could introduce some level of bias such as overestimation of statistical significance when analyzing methylation data (Chatterjee et al., 2017). Furthermore, in the EpiTYPER methylation analysis, the data underwent several data processing procedures that resulted in the deletion of CpG sites and individual samples that were deemed unreliable. Thus, potential data contributing to a complete overview of a DMR could have been omitted from the

final statistical analysis. Additionally, bisulfite sequencing approach is subject to biases that could lead to false-positive due to incomplete conversion cytosine or overestimation of the methylcytosine (Olova et al., 2018; Owa et al., 2018). We conclude that to design a true test of the WGBS analysis we would want to limit our choice of potential DMRs to those with the lowest q-values, as opposed to also considering DMR-associated genes that have higher, yet still significant qvalues. We chose a variety of genes that could have potential effects on growth and development, which were interesting to relate back to our observed difference in growth of the bull progeny.

## **2.4.2.** Effect of prenatal feed restriction and genetic potential for RFI on semen CpG methylation

The formation of functional spermatozoa involves a series of epigenetic reprogramming of male germ cells during spermatogenesis (Kiefer & Perrier, 2020). These modifications are essential in protecting the paternal genome during the fertilization process and ensuring the stabilization of information crucial to genomic imprinting, post-fertilization reprogramming, and embryonic development (Carrell, 2012; Champroux et al., 2018). The reprogramming process is sensitive to external factors resulting in epigenetic marks that could persist and be inherited by subsequent generations (Wu et al., 2015). Both epidemiological and animal studies have shown that aberrant semen DNA methylation is associated with infertility (Poplinski et al., 2010; Tang et al., 2018; Verma et al., 2014). As a result, the current study analyzed methylation in association with relation to prenatal diet, genetic potential for RFI, and/or their interaction in bull semen.

In the current study, Mdiet bull progeny had greater methylation levels in DNA associated with genes involved in testicular development and spermatogenesis, *ALDH3B1* (CpG 18) and *INSL3* (CpG 5). *ALDH3B1* is a member of the aldehyde dehydrogenase family that plays a role in oxidative and aldehyde stress defense and is highly expressed in lungs, kidneys, and testis (Marchitti et al., 2007; 2010). The expression of *INSL3* is implicated in testicular descent and

maintenance of semen production, and it's reported to be highly expressed in Leydig cells of testis in livestock including bulls (Pitia et al., 2017; Sigin et al., 2013). Recently, Liu et al. (2019) reported that *INSL3* could be a candidate gene for epigenetic regulation for bulls. The authors showed that differential methylation of genes including INSL3 in bull semen resulted in altered expression of the gene, sub-optimum semen quality and fertility, as well as performance of their progeny. In sheep, ALDH3B1 expression has been reported to be downregulated in testes of nutrient restricted rams and its expression could indicate the capacity of sperm production (Fan et al., 2018; Marchitti et al., 2010). Hence, transcriptional activities of ALDH3B1 could potentially be sensitive to nutritional status. The current study did not conduct gene expression analysis in semen, however, in the studies by Johnson et al. (2019, 2020), where the study was performed on the same bull progeny, the prenatal diet had no significant influence on the expression of genes in the testes of bull progeny, and semen quality parameters. Therefore, Mdiet bull progeny displaying higher methylation as compared to Ldiet group may signify a lack of biological consequence of the methylation of these DMRs. However, further research on the semen transcriptome and subsequent quality of progeny produced would be required to ascertain the effect of ALDH3B1 and *INSL3* methylation levels due to gestational maternal feed restriction on fertility.

Genomic imprinting of a gene is a genetic mechanism where a single allele of specific parental origin is expressed (Lim & Maher, 2010). Imprinting of genes are essential in establishing and maintaining the epigenetic landscape of subsequent generations via methylation (Bajrami & Spiroski, 2016). Aberrant genomic imprinting therefore could result in several undesirable phenotypic consequences (Gosden et al., 2003; Marques et al., 2004). We observed higher methylation in two maternally expressed imprinted genes *IGF2R*-DMR2 (CpG 2-3) and *GRB10* (CpG 18). *IGF2R* is involved in the regulation of spermatogenesis and fetal growth (Carvalho et

al., 2012). *GRB10* is a constituent of the growth factor receptor bound (GRB) protein family that inhibits the activation of the PI3K/Akt pathways restricting insulin receptor signaling when phosphorylated by mTORC1 (Yao et al., 2012). Hence, expression of *GRB10* negatively regulates insulin sensitivity and growth (Holt & Siddle, 2005; Yu et al., 2011). To the best of our knowledge, both *IGF2R* and *GRB10* have not been reported to potentially impact reproductive development nor sperm parameters. Therefore, investigating the potential impact of these methylation patterns in subsequent generations could highlight a potential transgenerational effect of the current results.

### 2.4.3. Effect of prenatal feed restriction and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in *Longissimus dorsi*, *Semimembranosus* muscle, and liver tissues

Prenatal feed restriction has been associated with offspring postnatal metabolic adaptations including altered feed intake and metabolism (Coupé et al., 2012). Subsequently, functions associated with metabolic pathways such as PI3K/Akt pathways are also affected (Tingey, 2005; Yoshida et al., 2014). PDPK1 is a signaling mediator gene involved in several physiological pathways including the PI3K/mTOR signaling pathways (Kuramoto et al., 2021; Loor et al., 2005; Wullschleger et al., 2006). *PDPK1* within the PI3K pathway phosphorylates and activates Akt, which in turn promotes protein synthesis and growth (Schiaffino & Mammucari, 2011). Both LD and SM muscle expressions of PDPK1 were significantly associated with gestational prenatal dietary treatment, and the Ldiet group had greater expression levels compared to the Mdiet group in both muscle tissues. Studies of IUGR in humans and rats indicate a reduced expression of PDPK1 and other effectors of PI3K pathway as a result (Ozanne et al., 2005b, 2022). In Ozanne et al. (2022), the activities of PI3K pathway was elevated in adipocytes of growth retarded rats with an elevated uptake of glucose. Therefore, higher expression of PDPK1 in our study could mean that Ldiet bulls could potentially be undergoing an adaptation to an increase energy uptake. Furthermore, according to Johnson et al. (2019), Ldiet bull progeny showed a tendency for a faster

growth rate than the Mdiet group between 10 to 16 months of age. Hence, the greater expression level of *PDPK1* in the Ldiet group at slaughter in the current study possibly suggests a long-term adaptive response of the PI3K pathway due to prenatal programming to potentially promote growth during postnatal stages.

The *PFKM* gene is a muscle distinct subunit of a tetrameric enzyme, phosphofructokinase (PFK), and a glycolytic regulatory enzyme involved in skeletal muscle metabolism and glucose storage (Fleming-Waddell et al., 2007). *PFKM* plays a role in the glycolytic pathway by catalyzing the rate-limiting transfer of phosphate from ATP to fructose-6-phosphate (Cole & Eastoe, 1988; Fleming-Waddell et al., 2007). Hence, the expression of PFKM in skeletal muscle correlates with the glycolytic potential of muscle (Rani et al., 2020). In the current study, prenatal diet and RFI interaction influenced the expression of the PFKM gene in LD muscle, where the Ldiet-HRFI group had significantly higher expression compared to Mdiet-HRFI but was similar to other diet-RFI groups. In a study by Costa et al. (2022), restricting the diet of pregnant does by 50% during early to mid-gestation impacted the energy metabolism of restricted offspring at birth by altering the energy investment phase of their glycolytic process and resulted in a greater *PFKM* abundance in LD of the restricted offspring. The result from the current study and that of Costa et al. (2022) suggest that limiting nutrient intake during critical gestation stage may have postnatal impact on glycolytic activities of LD muscle. Additionally, it is possible that in the postnatal environment in this study, genetic potential for RFI amplified the expression of PFKM. According to Xu et al. (2020), feed-efficient pigs showed a decreased expression of genes involved in glycolysis. Hence, in the current study, the genetic potential for lower feed efficiency may have had the opposite effect and resulted in increased glycolytic process in the Ldiet-HRFI group. Therefore, increased expression of *PFKM* in Ldiet-HRFI bulls in our study indicates a possible adaptation of LD to increasing glycolytic potential during postnatal stages.

*IGFN1* comprises a transcriptionally complex genomic locus that encodes multiple protein variants; mainly in skeletal muscle and heart via alternative splicing (Baker et al., 2010; Li et al., 2017). In skeletal muscle, *IGFN1* plays a role in myoblast fusion and differentiation via its interaction with actin nucleating protein COBL (Cracknell et al., 2021). In the current study, LRFI bull progeny had significantly higher *IGFN1* expression than the HRFI group in LD muscle. Association of the impact of genetic potential for residual feed intake on either *IGFN1* or myoblast fusion remains elusive. Hence, future studies on the effects of level of dietary intake or metabolic efficiency on *IGFN1* expression are required to properly explain its role in postnatal skeletal muscle development.

*PACS2* is a multifunctional sorting protein located at, and regulates the functions of, mitochondrial-associated membranes (MAMs). The MAMs are structures consisting of mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) contact sites involved in ER-mitochondria  $Ca^{2+}$  transport, lipid metabolism, and stress response (Li et al., 2020; Thomas et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2021). Additionally, MAMs have been implicated in metabolic functions via nutrient and hormonal signaling (Su & Wang, 2019), and the expression of *PACS2* has been positively correlated with the functions of MAMs (Arruda et al., 2014). LRFI bull progeny had greater *PACS2* expression compared to the HRFI group in SM muscle in the current study. From our results, we assume that the higher expression of *PACS2* may indicate that the genetic potential for improved feed efficiency might increase mitochondrial sensitivity and promote nutrient uptake in SM muscle of LRFI bull progeny.

The liver is an essential metabolically active tissue regulating growth and metabolism and could potentially be affected by early gestational feed restriction. Studies have shown that maternal feed restriction during early and mid-gestation affects fetal liver development (Crouse et al., 2019; Smith et al., 2021; Vonnahme et al., 2003; Xue et al., 2019). This alteration potentially influences postnatal metabolism and growth. Thus, we sought to investigate the long-term impact of gestational feed restriction and/or RFI had no significant influence on gene expression in LV in this study. In bovines, early prenatal feed restriction resulted in decreased fetal weight and size. However, following realimentation, the fetal organ weight and size were similar to those of the control group during the last trimester (Long et al., 2009). Similarly, reduced fetal liver weight due to early to mid-gestation was restored to normal after feed realimentation (Meyer et al., 2010). Therefore, lack of significance in LV in our study could potentially be due to timing of feed restriction and realimentation during gestation, which might have reversed hepatic response to nutrient restriction.

### 2.4.4. Effect of prenatal diet and RFI on gene expression in testis of bull progeny

Bull reproductive capabilities are essential to sustaining beef cattle production. The reproductive development of bulls could potentially be altered by restricted nutrient supply to pregnant dams during gestation (Silva et al., 2001; Yilmaz et al., 2006). In the present study, early to mid-gestation feed restriction had no significant effect on testis gene expression. However, genetic potential for RFI influenced the expression of *HDAC4* (P = 0.01) and *IGF1R* (P = 0.02).

Histone modification including acetylation and deacetylation could occur in tissues due to prenatal programming as well as nutritional cues from the postnatal environment (Lillycrop et al., 2005). *HDAC4* belongs to the class II HDACs whose mRNA is found to be highly expressed in tissues including the testis and skeletal muscle (Liu et al., 2006), and is involved in transcriptional

repression of genes (Wang et al., 2014). The role of *HDAC4* in testicular growth and reproductive development remains to be uncovered. In the current study, LRFI bull progeny had greater expression levels of *HDAC4* compared to their HRFI counterparts. At the time of conducting this study, little information is known about the impact of selection for feed efficiency (RFI) on *HDAC4* expression in testis. However, *HDAC4* has been implicated in influencing male fertility by regulating the physiological function of osteocalcin, a hormone that promotes testosterone production in the testis (Makinistoglu & Karsenty, 2015; Oury et al., 2011). It could be that selection for high feed efficiency potentially results in a reproductive adaptation in the LRFI group. While further investigation would be required to determine these assumptions, genetic potential for RFI might play a role in testicular functions in bull progeny.

Sertoli cells (SCs) are an essential component of testicular development and spermatogenesis (Griswold, 1998). The number of SCs has been correlated to testicular size, germ cell number, and sperm output (Orth et al., 1988). *IGF1R* mainly mediates physiological activities of *IGF1* by activating PI3K/Akt pathway (Baker et al., 1993), which is important in SC development and proliferation (Pitetti et al., 2013). Additionally, plane of nutrition is a major factor in the postnatal sexual development of bulls where high feed intake increased *IGF1* concentration, testicular size, and sperm production (Brito et al., 2007). In addition, an increased plane of nutrition in bull calves improved their metabolic status and resulted in heavier testicular weight and higher expression of genes in testicular function and SC development (Coen et al., 2021). In our study, *IGF1R* expression was significantly associated with genetic potential for RFI, and its expression was greater in the HRFI group compared to the LRFI group. These results agree with those of Johnson et al. (2020), who also reported an upregulation of *IGF1R* in the testis of HRFI bull progeny. Although the current study was carried out in the same animals, we used

NanoString gene expression technology as compared to RNA seq analysis by Johnson et al. (2020), and hence, validated the results from the RNASeq analysis for *IGF1R* gene. Additionally, the HRFI bull progeny had larger scrotal circumferences, reached puberty faster, and tended to have superior average sperm motility, which positively correlated with *IGF1R* expression (Johnson et al., 2019). Therefore, we speculate that higher *IGF1R* expression promoted PI3K/Akt pathway activities in the testis of HRFI bull progeny leading to improved testicular development.

### 2.5. Conclusion

Limited nutrient supply during gestation could be detrimental to the development of offspring, potentially influencing the expression of genes via altered DNA methylation and consequently affect their postnatal productive performance. In the current study, restricting prenatal diet during early to mid-gestation resulted in differential CpG methylation of DMRs (ALDH3B1, INSL3, IGF2R-WGBS, GRB10) in semen of bull progeny. These DMRs are involved in essential physiological and biological processes including testicular development, spermatogenesis, and genomic imprinting. Interestingly, the methylation levels were higher in the non-restricted bull group. Although, no expression analysis was carried out on the semen to assess the potential transcriptional consequences, these DMRs could be reproductive markers related to maternal diet and potential DMRs for future research investigations. The use of EpiTYPER methylation analysis to validate the DMRs identified from WGBS study showed no significant association of prenatal diet to average methylation in the current study. This is possibly due to potential technical variation between analyses, and further studies would be required to ascertain these variations. In muscle tissues a higher expression of gene (PDPK1) involved in PI3K-pathway in restricted progeny suggests a possible metabolic adaptation to prenatal diet in support for growth during postnatal stages. Genetic potential for RFI was associated with higher IGF1R, which stimulates growth and

development in TS tissue. Neither prenatal diet nor genetic potential for RFI showed any association with gene expression in LV tissue perhaps due to timing of feed restriction allowing for prioritization of nutrient supply to essential organs including LV. These results elucidate some molecular mechanisms underlying prenatal diet and postnatal factors on progeny performance and contributes to growing knowledge nutritional epigenetic effects in cattle.

Chapter 3. Impact of prenatal feed restriction during early to mid-gestation and genetic potential for RFI on DNA methylation and gene expression in *Longissimus dorsi*, *Semimembranosus* muscle, and liver in steer progeny

### **3.1. Introduction**

Human epidemiological studies associate intrauterine growth retardation with various physiological disorders including insulin resistance, obesity, and cardiovascular diseases (Barker, 1995, 2004). In recent times, the use of animal models such as rodents to replicate these findings provided additional evidence of fetal developmental programming occurring due to maternal gestational experiences (Greenwood & Bell, 2003). Ruminant fetal programming studies suggest that important economic traits could be programmed with a persistent long-term effect on livestock productivity (Funston & Summers, 2013; Thomas, 2011; Wu et al., 2006). In beef cattle production, extreme climatic variation and seasons result in suboptimal quality and shortages of feed. Low-quality feed or limited availability of feed might coincide with cow gestational periods affecting fetal development (Allison, 1985; Duarte et al., 2013; Enk et al., 2001).

Skeletal muscle constitutes about 40% of body weight and is susceptible to maternal gestational experiences such as stress and nutrient restriction (Beauchamp & Harper, 2016; Costa et al., 2021; Zhu et al., 2006; Zurlo et al., 1990). In cattle, myogenesis initiates during the embryonic into the fetal period in two phases that overlap i.e., primary and secondary myogenesis, which initiate primarily in the first and second trimesters, respectively (Du et al., 2010). The success of both myogenic processes is crucial to postnatal growth performance as the total number of myofibers that forms the muscle is determined at birth and postnatal muscle development is hypertrophy of pre-formed myofibres (Davis & Fiorotto, 2009; Du & Zhu, 2009). Hence, a limited supply of nutrients during early to mid-gestation could impair fetal skeletal muscle development. According to Quigley et al. (2005), the number of myofibers formed in ovine fetuses during mid-

gestation was 20% lower when feed was restricted during early pregnancy. Muroya et al. (2021) reported that a 40% decrease in total feed requirement during gestation led to a marked reduction in fetal muscle weight of calves during the last trimester. Similarly, in sheep, restricting prenatal diet to 50% between days 28 to 78 of gestation resulted in decreased secondary myofibers (Zhu et al., 2004). Furthermore, prenatal feed restriction altered the expression of genes regulating metabolism and myogenesis including the Insulin-Like Growth Factor (*IGF*) family of genes and myogenic regulatory factors *MYOD1* and *MYOG* (Paradis et al., 2017). Impairment of fetal skeletal muscle development could potentially alter postnatal metabolic functions and growth. Zhu et al. (2006) reported that postnatal muscle characteristics, including myofiber number and composition were altered due to intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) in early gestation and consequently impacted muscle growth in sheep. Currently, there are limited studies on the long-term consequences of fetal programming in beef cattle.

DNA methylation is an epigenetic mechanism that involves the addition of a methyl group to the 5'-carbon position of cytosine in a cytosine-guanine dinucleotide (CpG) residue (Wang & Wu, 2018). Methylation at promoter regions results in the silencing of genes by inhibiting the binding of transcription factors (Busslinger et al., 1983; Huang et al., 2014). The mechanism is an integral part of developmental processes such as X-chromosome inactivation and genomic imprinting (Allen et al., 1992). Hence, aberrant methylation of genes could alter phenotypes, and in livestock, traits can be affected (Andrés et al., 2021). Prenatal nutrition levels i.e., under- or over-nutrition, has been implicated in modifying fetal DNA methylation patterns and consequently affecting the offspring's productive performance (Thompson et al., 2020). Several studies show that prenatal nutrition alters DNA methylation in goats (Li et al., 2018), cattle (Paradis et al., 2017), and sheep (Lan et al., 2013).
Studies on postnatal consequences of prenatal feed restriction, especially in beef cattle, are limited and the involvement of dietary restriction in shaping DNA methylation and expression of genes regulating metabolism and postnatal growth and development needs to be further elucidated. Previously, our research group identified differentially methylated regions (DMRs) associated with prenatal diet in semen of bull offspring using whole-genome bisulfite sequencing (WGBS) (Foroutan et al., 2021). In the current study, we employed the use of quantitative individual fragment bisulfite sequencing analysis (EpiTYPER) to determine whether similar DMRs were present in skeletal muscle of steer offspring from the same experiment. In particular, we examined *Longissimus dorsi* (LD) and *Semimembranosus* (SM) muscles, as well as liver (LV) tissue. Therefore, the objective of this study is to determine the effect of early to mid-gestational feed restriction in steer progeny on 1) DNA methylation in LD and SM muscles, and LV, and 2) expression of genes regulating metabolism and postnatal muscle development in the same tissues.

### **3.2.** Materials and methods

## 3.2.1. Animals and experimental design

The experimental protocol for this study was approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Alberta (Animal Use Protocols 135, 457, 483, and 877), under the CCAC guidelines on the care and use of farm animals in research, teaching, and testing (Canadian Council on Animal Care, 2009). Eighty-four purebred Angus heifers were examined for residual feed intake (RFI) using the GrowSafe System<sup>®</sup> (GS) automated feed recording system (Vytelle<sup>®</sup> Ltd., Calgary, Alberta, Canada), as described below, were used for the experiment. The housing of heifers and dietary tests were carried out at the University of Alberta Roy Berg Kinsella Research Ranch (Kinsella, Alberta, Canada). The population from which these heifers originated was

described previously (Mao et al., 2013). The animals and experimental design of this study were detailed by Devos et al. (2021) and Meale et al. (2021).

## Calculation of residual feed intake

Heifers whose ages were between  $\sim 9$  and 12 months were housed in dry lot pens which contained feed bunks monitored by GS for their initial RFI test using protocols described by Basarab et al. (2003) and (Mao et al., 2013). The description for the RFI test procedure, categorization of heifers' into dietary groups and sire selection for breeding is detailed in the animal and experimental design section of chapter 2 in this thesis.

#### Estrus synchronization, artificial insemination, and pregnancy detection of heifers

The estrus synchronization, artificial insemination, and pregnancy detection of heifers protocol was similar to those employed for the bull progeny as described in chapter 2 of this thesis.

# Segregation into diet treatment groups

Pregnant heifers (n = 69, out of the starting 84 heifers) were assigned to either one of two dietary treatments through stratified randomization (considering RFI, current body weight, backfat depth, sire, and conception date), and remained in these groups from day 30 to day 150 of gestation. One of the diets (moderate diet or Mdiet) was formulated to provide growth of 0.73 kg/day ADG (roughly 100% of NRC recommendations for growing pregnant heifers) and consisted of brome grass hay supplemented with oat grain (n = 36). The second diet (Ldiet) which consisted of mainly brome grass hay (n = 33) was formulated for 0.54 kg/day ADG and represented approximately 74% of Mdiet (Meale et al., 2021). To account for heifer growth and the increasing weight of the conceptus, the ration was adjusted approximately once per month after the heifers were weighed (Table 3.1). Individual intakes of brome grass-mixed hay were recorded by the GrowSafe System<sup>®</sup> to monitor consumption of diets within groups and measure differences between groups. This

enabled the use of the individual animal as an experimental unit, as group feeding of H- and L-RFI cattle was required to test the expression of the RFI phenotype since RFI is measured in a group setting. Heifers were fed the entire hay allocation once a day in the GrowSafe System<sup>®</sup>. Oats were provided in separate bunks before the hay was fed to ensure even access and consumption. Feed samples of hay and oat grain were collected weekly and pooled monthly before being sent for nutrient analysis (Parkland Laboratories, Red Deer, AB, Canada). A portion of each pooled feed sample was dried in an oven at 80 °C for a minimum of 72 h to calculate dry matter. Wet chemistry methods were employed by Parkland Laboratories to determine crude protein (CP; method 981.10, Helrich, 1990); acid detergent fibre (ADF; ANKOM Technology method 8, based on method 973.18, Helrich, 1990); neutral detergent fibre (NDF; ANKOM Technology method 9, based on Van Soest et al., 1991); Ca, Na, K and Mg (atomic absorption using a Perkin Elmer 5000 atomic adsorption spectrophotometer following sulphuric acid/hydrogen peroxide digestion; Ca and Mg by absorption, and Na and K by emission); P (ammonium molybdate/ ammonium metavanadate colorimetric method, manual adaptation of AAFRD SCDC automated method F004.A); total digestible nutrients (TDN) (grasses %TDN =  $4.898 + (89.796 \times (1.0876 - (0.0127)))$  $\times$  ADF))); oat grain %TDN = 4.898 + (89.796  $\times$  (0.9265 - (0.00793  $\times$  ADF)))) (Pennsylvania State, 1981). Cobalt iodized salt (Windsor Salt Ltd., Pointe-Claire, QC, Canada) was provided free choice with a vitamin premix included (Vitamin A, D, E-10 M Vitamin Premix for Livestock Feeds, Hi-Pro Feeds LP, Sherwood Park, Alberta) at a rate of 66 mL per liter of salt. Upon a subsequent pregnancy check mid-way through the diet treatment, six open heifers were removed from the feeding trial, three from each from Ldiet and Mdiet. After 150 days of gestation, all heifers were housed together and offered free choice mixed grass hay until approximately 2 months after birth. Nutrient analysis of all feedstuffs fed to heifers from the start of the feeding trial (30

days of gestation), until when they were grazing pasture with their calves, can be found in Table 12.

Calves were born between March 18th and April 23rd, 2013 (total n = 56, male n = 24; of the 63 heifers in the experiment at calving time, six calves died at birth from unrelated causes (crushing, size of the calf, calf positioning at birth), and one heifer was found to no longer be pregnant). At birth, male calves were castrated using an elastic band. Calves remained with their dams and grazed mixed tame and native grass pastures until weaning in November 2013. At weaning, heifers and steers were separated from each other and subsequently, all steers were fed and managed according to industry standards for feedlot production of finished cattle in Alberta. One steer from the LRFI-Mdiet group got his head caught in a feeder and died in late December 2013. Two weeks before the proposed first slaughter date all steers were measured for backfat thickness at the 12-13th rib using an Aloka-500 V scanner equipped with a 17 cm, 3.5 MHz linear array transducer (Overseas Monitor Corporation Ltd., Richmond, BC, Canada). This backfat measurement was used to group the animals into three slaughter dates such that steers with > 6 mm were slaughtered first, and all four treatment groups were represented at each slaughter date (Meale et al., 2021)

Period	1	a	2	a	3	c	4	d	5	e
Diet amount (kg Dry Matter/heifer/d)	Mdiet	Ldiet								
Crude Protein	0.93	0.77	0.97	0.83	1.06	0.91	1.13	0.98	1.18	0.99
Acid Detergent Fibre	3.26	3.70	3.31	3.97	3.59	4.33	3.82	4.69	4.00	4.13
Neural Detergent Fibre	4.84	5.34	4.92	5.74	5.35	6.26	5.69	6.78	5.96	6.03
Calcium	0.04	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.05	0.06	0.05	0.07	0.05	0.06
Phosphorus	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.03
Potassium	0.16	0.18	0.16	0.20	0.18	0.21	0.19	0.23	0.20	0.20
Magnesium	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02
Total Digestible Nutrients	5.32	4.01	5.63	4.31	6.16	4.70	6.58	5.09	6.89	5.44

Table 3.1 Dietary adjustments of M- and L-diets fed to pregnant heifers from 30 to 150 days of gestation. Diets consisted of different proportions of brome grass hay and oat grain to facilitate either 0.54 kg/d or 0.73 kg/d ADG.

<sup>a</sup> Start date 1st AI group = July 20, 2012; 2nd AI group = Aug. 13, 2012.

<sup>b</sup> First adjustment: Sept. 4, 2012.

<sup>c</sup> Second Adjustment: Oct. 15, 2012.

<sup>d</sup> Third adjustment: Nov. 6, 2012.

<sup>e</sup> Fourth adjustment: Nov. 22, 2012.

Feed Type	Brome grass hay $(n = 6)$	Oat grain (n=4)	Free-choice hay (n=3)
Dry Matter (%)	$86.25 \pm 1.11$	$87.31 \pm 1.29$	$89.58 \pm 1.02$
Composition (%), Dry Matter Basis			
Crude Protein	$9.66\pm0.72$	$11.44\pm0.43$	$13.54\pm3.25$
Acid Detergent Fibre	$46.08 \pm 1.26$	$12.91\pm1.88$	$41.78 \pm 2.57$
Neutral Detergent Fibre	$66.59\pm2.01$	$23.17\pm2.53$	$59.02 \pm 11.83$
Calcium	$0.66\pm0.12$	$0.12\pm0.001$	$0.93\pm0.54$
Phosphorus	$0.22\pm0.23$	$0.43\pm0.04$	$0.27\pm0.01$
Potassium	$2.27\pm0.23$	$0.60\pm0.03$	$1.87\pm0.58$
Magnesium	$0.21\pm0.04$	$0.13\pm0.01$	$0.19\pm0.04$
Sodium	$0.01\pm0.0001$	$0.01\pm0.005$	$0.01\pm0.0001$
Total Digestible Nutrient	$50.00 \pm 1.44$	$78.90 \pm 1.34$	$54.91\pm2.93$

Table 3.2 Nutrient analysis of feeds fed to pregnant heifers during the feeding trials (brome grass-mixed hay and oat grain)<sup>a</sup>, and after the feeding trial (free choice mixed grass hay)<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Feed sample was collected weekly and pooled monthly. Averaged values and standard deviations for the monthly analyses are shown.

<sup>b</sup> Samples of hay were collected from representative bales in each source (two sources). Average values and standard deviations for the two sources are shown.

#### **3.2.2. Sample collection**

Slaughter and tissue collection was conducted as previously described by Devos et al. (2021). When the steers reached 6–8 mm backfat, they were transported to the abattoir at the Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Lacombe Research and Development Centre (Lacombe, AB, Canada) (mean age of 512.1  $\pm$  10.1 (SD) d) and slaughtered by captive-bolt stunning and exsanguination. One approximately 10 g sample each *Longissimus dorsi*, *semimembranosus* muscles, and liver biopsies were aseptically collected from steer calves at slaughter (n = 23; Mdiet-HRFI = 4, Ldiet-HRFI = 6, Mdiet-LRFI = 5, Ldiet-LRFI = 8) within 30–45 min post-mortem. All tissue samples were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

## **3.2.3. Selection of DMR-associated genes**

Selection of DMR-associated genes is described in chapter 2 of this thesis.

#### **3.2.4. DNA extraction and methylation analysis**

Muscle and liver tissues were grounded into powder with a mortar and pestle under liquid nitrogen and then stored in a -80°C freezer. Approximately 100 mg of each tissue were aliquoted into 2 ml microcentrifuge tubes to be used for DNA extraction. The DNA extraction was performed in duplicate for each LD and SM muscle, respectively, then combined. For the LV, only a single extraction per individual was performed. The extraction was performed using the Qiagen DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), following the Spin-Column protocol with a few modifications. An extra 620 µl of DNA lysis buffer (prepared in-house; 25 ml of 0.5 M NaCl, 12.5 ml of 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 25 ml of 50 mM EDTA, 50 ml of 4% SDS, and 137.5 ml MilliQ water (the total volume is 250 ml) was added during the tissue lysis step. The tissue samples were homogenized using Mini-Beadbeater-24 (BioSpec, Bartlesville, OK, USA). As well, an extra 20 µl proteinase K was added during the protein digestion stage, and an extra 200 µl AL buffer and an extra 200 µl 100% ethanol were used for de-salting the DNA. DNA quantification was performed using the NanoDrop 2000C (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) for nucleic acid concentration, while quantification of double-strand DNA in the samples was determined using the Invitrogen Qubit<sup>TM</sup> 3.0 Fluorometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

The DNA methylation analysis was performed by Genome Quebec using the EpiTYPER MassARRAY technology (Agena Bioscience, San Diego, CA, USA). A total of 15 target amplicons (Table 3.3) were analyzed. All methylation procedures were similar to those described in chapter 2 of this thesis

Gene name	Gene symbol	Chromosomal location <sup>1</sup>	CpG Analyzed <sup>2</sup>
Acyl-CoA dehydrogenase very long chain	ACADVL	19:26938525 -26939292	9/10
Aldehyde dehydrogenase 3 family member B1	ALDH3B1	29:45537643 -45538425	24/28
Collagen-like tail subunit of asymmetric acetylcholinesterase	COLQ	1:152537871-152538635	29/32
Dipeptidyl peptidase like 6	DPP6	4:116520561-116521160	17/18
Growth factor receptor-bound protein 10	GRB10	4:5274311-5275031	20/20
Histone deacetylase 4	HDAC4	3:118258228-118259046	30/33
Insulin-like growth factor 2 receptor-DMR2	IGF2R- DMR2	9:96220873-96221574	24/25
Insulin-like growth factor 2 receptor-WGBS	IGF2R- WGBS	9:96278463-96279243	26/35
Immunoglobulin-like and fibronectin type III domain containing 1	IGFN1	16:79717001 -79717767	8/10
Insulin like 3	INSL3	7:5326081-5326799	15/16
3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1	PDPK1	25:2062070-2062783	25/26
Phosphorylase kinase regulatory subunit alpha 2	PHKA2	X:124497025-124497732	14/16
Protein kinase AMP-activated non-catalytic subunit gamma 2	PRKAG2	4:114315277-114316030	17/19

Table 3.3 Genes and chromosomal location of the 15 CpG that were selected for the methylation analysis.

Ras protein-specific guanine nucleotide releasing	RASGRF1	21:25311128-25311844	16/17
factor 1			
Stearoyl-CoA desaturase 5	SCD5	6:97506791-97507486	15/15

<sup>1</sup> Chromosomal location is within genome assembly ARS-UCD1.2/bosTau9 <sup>2</sup> CpG Analyze: Analyzable CpG sites/Total CpG sites in each amplicon

## 3.2.5. RNA extraction and NanoString gene expression analysis

Frozen LD, SM muscle, and LV samples were ground in liquid nitrogen using a mortar and pestle. Approximately 100 mg of each sample (n=23 for each tissue type) were aliquoted into 2 mL microcentrifuge tubes. Total RNA was extracted using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). The details of the RNA extraction are detailed in chapter 2.

Gene expression analysis was performed on 100 ng of total RNA (~ 44 ng/ $\mu$ L) extracted from the LD and SM muscle, and LV, using the nCounter RNA gene expression assay (NanoString Technologies, Seattle, Washington, USA) and their Elements TagSets technology. Probe A and B for each transcript associated with putative DMRs from the methylation analysis, or for transcripts chosen based on their biological and functional role in metabolism and muscle development, were synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies (IDT) using publicly available bovine sequences listed in Table 3.4. All hybridization, purification, and data quantification steps were similar to those described in chapter 2.

Table 3.4 List of genes	analyzed by Na	anoString nCounter	genes expressi	on analysis in	n LD, SM,
and LV.					

Gene Name	Symbol	Accession No. <sup>1</sup>	Position <sup>2</sup>
Acyl-CoA dehydrogenase very long chain	ACADVL	NM_174494.2	656-755
Acyl-CoA thioesterase 7	ACOT7	NM_001075682.2	769-868
Aldehyde dehydrogenase 3 family member B1	ALDH3B1	NM_001075518.1	1621-1720
Collagen-like tail subunit of asymmetric acetylcholinesterase	COLQ	NM_001035297.4	1009-1108
Dipeptidyl peptidase like 6	DPP6	NM_174040.2	1873-1972
Growth factor receptor-bound protein 10	GRB10	NM_001192586.1	1651-1750
Histone deacetylase 4	HDAC4	XM_024990281.1	4436-4535
Insulin-like growth factor 1	IGF1	NM_001077828.1	346-445
Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor	IGF1R	NM_001244612.1	2767-2866
Insulin-like growth factor 2	IGF2	NM_174087.3	401-500
Insulin-like growth factor 2 receptor	IGF2R	NM_174352.2	8126-8225
Immunoglobulin-like and fibronectin type III domain	IGFN1	XM_024976573.1	801-900
containing 1			
Inositol polyphosphate-5-phosphatase A	INPP5A	XM_024986036.1	758-857
Insulin like 3	INSL3	NM_174365.2	109-208
Insulin receptor	INSR	XM_002688832.2	1818-1917
Potassium voltage-gated channel interacting protein 1	KCNIP1	NM_001013604.1	276-375
Myocyte enhancer factor 2A	MEF2A	NM_001083638.2	1751-1850
Myostatin	MSTN	NM_001001525.3	703-802
Myogenic factor 5	MYF5	NM_174116.1	661-760
Phosphofurin acidic cluster sorting protein 2	PACS2	XM_024982233.1	1441-1540
3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1	PDPK1	XM_024985289.1	3235-3334
Phosphofructokinase, muscle	PFKM	NM_001075268.1	2058-2157
Phosphorylase kinase regulatory subunit alpha 2	PHKA2	NM_001191545.1	1344-1443
Pyruvate kinase M1/2	PKM	NM_001075268.1	902-1001
Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma	PPARG	NM_181024.2	1562-1661
Protein kinase AMP-activated non-catalytic subunit gamma	PRKAG2	XM_024991251.1	1528-1627
2			
Glycogen phosphorylase, muscle associated	PYGM	NM_175786.2	1585-1684
Ras protein-specific guanine nucleotide releasing factor 1	RASGRF1	NM_001191457.1	1946-2045
Stearoyl-CoA desaturase 5	SCD5	NM_001076945.1	1059-1158
Thyroid hormone receptor beta	THRB	XM_005226186.4	2641-2740

<sup>1</sup>GenBank sequence identifier for each mRNA accession <sup>2</sup>Target position within each sequence

## **3.2.6.** Statistical analysis

## 3.2.6.1. DNA methylation data processing

The processing of DNA methylation data is the same as described in chapter 2

# 3.2.6.2. Gene expression data processing and normalization

All gene expression data processing and normalization steps followed similar steps as those described in chapter 2.

## 3.2.6.3. Differential methylation and gene expression analysis

The test for normality and differential methylation and gene expression analysis followed the same step as described in chapter 2 of this thesis. A spearman correlation analysis was conducted between CpG methylation of a DMR and its corresponding gene expression within each tissue to evaluate the association between DNA methylation and gene expression using the PROC CORR function within SAS (v9.4). Significant association was set at  $P \le 0.05$ . Pairwise correlation within tissues and between individual CpGs showed a high percentage of significant correlation with each tissue (LD = 34%, SM = 35%, and LV = 27%). As a result, multiple testing correction was not performed to avoid false negative results.

# 3.2.7. Principal component analysis

PCA was performed to profile patterns within DNA methylation and gene expression with respect to LD, SM and LV using the prcomp package (default stats package v3.5.1) in R (version 4.1.1; R Core Team, 2021). Dimensions were reduced and variance maximized by extracting principal components (PC) from the analysis based on the cumulative variance explained. A threshold of  $\leq$ 80% explained variance was used to select the number of PCs for further steps in the analysis. Two PCs were selected and correlated with the original data. The ggbiplot package (https://github.com/vqv/ggbiplot) and stat ellipse function, at 95% confidence interval in R (version 4.1.1; R Core Team, 2021), was used to plot a PCA plot between PC1 and PC2, representing the components with most variation in the dataset to visualize expressed gene distribution between tissues.

#### 3.3. Results

#### **3.3.1.** Principal component analysis results

PCA displays the distribution and clustering of DNA methylation (Figure 3.1) and gene expression (Figure 3.2) between the tissues (LD vs SM vs LV). The arrows represent each gene, its direction represents its correlation between the genes as well to the PCs and the length represent the level of contribution to the PC. Genes which form angles  $\geq 30^{\circ}$  from the midpoint of the plot to either of the respective to the PCs were considered to have a relatively high correlation to the PCs and those that form a 90° are considered to have no correlation to the PCs. Figure. 3.1 shows the PCs (DNA methylation) score plot for PC1 against PC2, which explains 47.9% and 11.4% of the variance within the methylation data analyzed respectively. Also, from Figure 3.1, methylation of DNA fragments ACADVL, DPP6, HDAC4, INSL3, IGF2R-WGBS, PDPK1 and RASGRF1 were positively correlated to PC1 while COLQ, IGF2R-DMR2 and GRB10 genes were negatively correlated with PC1. PHKA2 displayed no correlation with PC1. PC2 was positively correlated with INSL3, GRB10, PHKA2 and PDPK1, while COLQ, DPP6, ACADVL, and RASGRF1 were negatively correlated with the PC. IGF2R-DMR2, IGF2R-WGBS, and HDAC4 had almost no correlation with PC2. The PCA for gene expression (Figure 3.2) shows PC1 and PC2 explaining 64.5% and 10.5% variation within the gene expression data respectively. DNA fragments ACADVL, IGF1, IGF2, IGF2R, INSR and PHKA2 positively correlates with PC1 while ACOT7, ALDH3B1, COLQ, DPP6, GRB10, HDAC4, IGF1R, IGFN1, INPP5A, INSL3, KCNIP1, MEF2A, MSTN, PPARG, PRKAG2, PYGM, and THRB negatively correlates with PC1. SCD5 shows no

correlation with PC1. PC2 positively correlates with *DPP6*, *KCNIP1*, *PFKM*, and *PRKAG2* and negatively correlates with *ACADVL*, *ACOT7*, *ALDH3B1*, *COLQ*, *HDAC4*, *IGF1*, *IGF2*, *IGF2R*, *INPP5A*, *INSL3*, *INSR*, *MEF2A*, *MSTN*, *PHKA2*, *PPARG*, and *THRB*. *PKM*, *IGF1R* and *PACS2* have no correlation with PC2. Genes positively correlated with the PCs implies the genes had higher contribution to the respective PCs vice versa. From the PCA plots, we see that both the DNA methylation (Figure 3.1) and expression (Figure 3.2) patterns for LV are clustered to the right of PC1 and distinctly different from the patterns observed in the muscle tissues. Between LD and SM, we see that the methylation patterns in the two muscles overlap, while there is much less overlap in gene expression patterns. This implies that the methylation pattern between the two muscle types is relatively similar compared their patterns in gene expression.



Figure 3.1 Principal component analysis for DNA methylation between tissues with red, blue, and green ellipses representing *Longissimus dorsi* (LD), *Semimembranosus* muscle (SM), and liver (LV) tissues respectively. The sample individuals are represented by dots and clustered according to tissue (coloured). The variables are represented by the arrows within the figures, and their directions represent correlation between them and other variables, and the PCs.



Figure 3.2 Principal component analysis for gene expression distribution between tissues with red, blue, and green ellipses representing *Longissimus dorsi* (LD), *Semimembranosus* muscle (SM), and liver (LV) tissues respectively. The sample individuals are represented by dots and clustered according to tissue (coloured). The variables are represented by the arrows within the figures, and their directions represent correlation between them and other variables, and the PCs.

## 3.3.2. Effect of prenatal diet and RFI on DNA methylation in LD muscle

In LD muscle, genetic selection for RFI influenced the methylation of the DNA fragments associated *ACADVL* (CpG 11), *ALDH3B1* (CpG 5), *INSL3* (CpG 6 and 16), and *RASGRF1* (CpG 2) (Table 3.5). LRFI steer progeny displayed higher methylation for *ACADVL*, *INSL3* and *RASGRF1* while for *ALDH3B1*, the HRFI group had higher methylation levels (Table 3.5). The methylation of *COLQ* (CpG 7) and *PDPK1* (CpG 16) were affected by the interaction between diet and RFI (Figure 3.2). The Mdiet-HRFI group showed significantly higher methylation levels than the Ldiet-HRFI group for *COLQ*, and for *PDPK1* the Mdiet-LRFI group displayed higher methylation levels compared to Ldiet-LRFI group. An interaction effect was also detected for *HDAC4* (CpG 6), but there were no significant differences between treatments in the post-hoc test.

		R	FI	
DMR	CpG	HRFI <sup>1</sup>	LRFI <sup>1</sup>	P-value
ACADVL	11	$0.40\pm0.01$	$0.44{\pm}~0.009$	0.03
ALDH3B1	5	$0.77\pm0.02$	$0.70\pm0.02$	0.02
INSL3	6	$0.37\pm0.02$	$0.44\pm0.02$	0.03
	16	$0.60\pm0.01$	$0.65\pm0.01$	0.01
RASGRF1	2	$0.83\pm0.007$	$0.85\pm0.007$	0.04

Table 3.5 Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on DNA methylation in longissimus dorsi muscle of steer offspring at slaughter as assessed by EpiTYPER.

<sup>1</sup>Data represents methylation percentage for CpG within LD muscle and are expressed as least square means  $\pm$  SE/ If the data is non-normal, data are the back-transformed mean and 95% CI in []. Significance set at P  $\leq$  0.05.



Figure 3.3 Bar graph displaying differential methylation between prenatal diet and RFI interaction steer sub-groups for A) *COLQ* (CpG 7) and B) *PDPK1* (CpG 16). Bars represent LSmeans estimates, and error bars represent SE. a,b indicates significant differences between the treatment groups.

3.3.3. Effect of prenatal diet and RFI on DNA methylation in semimembranosus muscle (SM) In SM muscle, prenatal diet impacted methylation of the DNA fragments associated with IGF2R-WGBS (CpG 17), INSL3 (CpG 5), and RASGRF1 (CpG 5-6) (Table 3.6). Ldiet progeny displayed higher methylation levels for RASGRF1 while Mdiet steer progeny displayed higher methylation levels for significant CpGs in IGF2R-WGBS, and INSL3. Genetic potential for RFI influenced the methylation of ACADVL (CpG 7-8), GRB10 (CpG 15 and 16-17), and IGFN1 (CpG 6) (Table 3.6). HRFI progeny displayed higher methylation levels for significant CpGs in ACADVL, and IGFN1 while methylation levels for significant CpGs in GRB10 were higher in LRFI steer progeny. Prenatal diet and RFI interaction influenced methylation for ALDH3B1 (CpG 18), COLQ (CpG 11), IGF2R-DMR2 (CpG 3-4), and SCD5 (CpG 8-9) (Figure 3.3). In three DMRs (ALDH3B1, COLO, and SCD5), Mdiet-HRFI had significantly lower methylation compared to at least two or more other diet-RFI groups. In IGF2R-DMR2, Mdiet-LRFI steer group had significantly lower methylation compared to their counterparts (Figure 3.3). An interaction effect was also detected for DPP6 (CpG 2), but there were no significant differences between treatments in the post-hoc test.

		D	iet	
DMR	CpG	Mdiet <sup>1</sup>	Ldiet <sup>1</sup>	<b>P-value</b>
IGF2R-WGBS	17	$0.87\pm0.03$	$0.80\pm0.02$	0.05
INSL3	5	$0.27\pm0.01$	$0.25\pm0.01$	0.04
RASGRF1	5-6	84.0, [82.1,85.8]	86.0, [85.1, 86.8]	0.008
		RFI		
		HRFI <sup>1</sup>	LRFI <sup>1</sup>	
ACADVL	7-8	$0.79\pm0.005$	$0.77\pm0.005$	0.01
GRB10	15	$0.63\pm0.01$	$0.68\pm0.01$	0.02
	16-17	50, [47.3,52.5]	53.7, [50.7, 56.4]	0.03
IGFN1	6	$0.45 \pm 0.01$	$0.41 \pm 0.01$	0.002

Table 3.6 Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on DNA methylation in *Semimembranosus* muscle of steer offspring at slaughter as assessed by EpiTYPER.

<sup>1</sup>Data represents methylation percentage for CpG within SM muscle and are expressed as least square means  $\pm$  SE/ If the data is non-normal, data are the back-transformed mean and 95% CI in []. Significance set at P  $\leq$  0.05.



Figure 3.4 Bar graphs displaying differential methylation associated with the interaction of prenatal diet and RFI upon steer treatment groups in SM muscle for A) *ALDH3B1* (CpG 18), B) *COLQ* (CpG 11), C) *IGF2R*-DMR2 (CpG 3-4) and D) *SCD5* (CpG 8-9). Bars represent LSmeans estimates, and error bars represent SE. <sup>a,b</sup> indicates significant differences between the diet-RFI groups

## 3.3.4. Effect of prenatal diet and RFI on DNA methylation in liver (LV)

In LV tissue, prenatal dietary treatment affected the methylation of DNA fragments associated with ALDH3B1 (CpG 18) and COLQ (CpG 16-17 and 24-25) (Table 3.7). The Mdiet steers displayed higher methylation levels for significant CpGs in both ALDH3B1 and COLQ. Genetic selection for RFI influenced the methylation of COLQ (CpG 24-25), IGF2R-DMR2 (CpG 10), GRB10 (CpG 5), and PDPK1 (CpG 11) (Table 3.7). The HRFI steers displayed higher methylation levels in significant CpGs for COLQ and PDPK1, while LRFI steers displayed higher methylation levels for significant CpGs in IGF2R-DMR2 and GRB10. The interaction of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI was associated with methylation levels of CpGs within HDAC4 (CpG 6 and 33), INSL3 (CpG 14), RASGRF1 (CpG 5-6), and SCD5 (CpG 6). In HDAC4 (CpG 6), there was no differences between individual treatment groups while for HDAC4 (CpG 33), the Mdiet-HRFI group displayed lower methylation levels than Mdiet-LRFI group [(Mdiet-HRFI (144.9, [119.5, 163.6 CI]), Mdiet-LRFI (157.0, [154, 160.7 CI]), Ldiet-HRFI (152.5, [146.6, 157.9 CI]), Ldiet-LRFI (112.0, [100.5, 121.5 CI), expressed as back-transformed mean and 95% CI]. In INSL3, Mdiet-LRFI group had higher methylation levels than Mdiet-HRFI group but levels similar to other steer groups (Figure 3.4A). In RASGRF1, Ldiet-HRFI methylation levels were similar to Mdiet-LRFI but lower compared to other steer groups Mdiet-HRFI and Ldiet-LRFI (Figure. 3.4B). For SCD5, the Mdiet-LRFI group was more highly methylated compared to all other diet-RFI steer groups (Figure 3.4C).

		Di	et	
DMR	CpG	Mdiet <sup>1</sup>	Ldiet <sup>1</sup>	<b>P-value</b>
ALDH3B1	18	64.7, [61.1, 68.0]	55.4, [47.8, 61.3]	0.03
COLQ	16-17	$0.94\pm0.02$	$0.89\pm0.01$	0.04
	24-25	$0.73\pm0.006$	$0.71\pm0.005$	0.03
		R		
		HRFI <sup>1</sup>	LRFI <sup>1</sup>	
COLQ	24-25	$0.73\pm0.006$	$0.71\pm0.005$	0.001
IGF2R-DMR2	10	$0.38\pm0.008$	$0.40\pm0.007$	0.04
GRB10	5	$0.36\pm0.01$	$0.39\pm0.009$	0.03
PDPK1	11	$0.92\pm0.02$	$0.85\pm0.02$	0.02

Table 3.7 Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on DNA methylation in liver of steer offspring at slaughter as assessed by EpiTYPER.

<sup>1</sup>Data represents methylation percentage for CpG within LD muscle and are expressed as least square means  $\pm$  SE/ If the data is non-normal, data are the back-transformed mean and 95% CI in []. Significance set at P  $\leq$  0.05.



Figure 3.5 Bar graphs displaying differential methylation associated with the interaction of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI in steer LV tissue for A) *INSL3* (CpG 14), B) *RASGRF1* (CpG 5-6), and C) *SCD5* (CpG 6). Bars represent LSmeans estimates, and error bars represent SE. <sup>a,b</sup> indicates significant differences between the diet-RFI groups.

# **3.3.5. Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in LD muscle** Prenatal diet was associated with the expression of *HDAC4*, where steers whose dams received Mdiet displayed higher expression levels than steers from the Ldiet treatment (Table 3.8). *IGFN1* and *PPARG* were differentially expressed when comparing steer groups that differed in the genetic potential for RFI (Table 3.8). LRFI steer progeny had higher expression of *IGFN1* while HRFI steers had higher *PPARG* expression (Table 3.8). Expression of all other genes analyzed within LD muscle were not influenced by prenatal diet, the genetic potential for RFI, nor their interaction.

	Die	et	
Gene	Mdiet <sup>1</sup>	Ldiet <sup>1</sup>	P-value
HDAC4	277.2 [240.1, 317]	225.8 [203.4, 249.3]	0.02
-	RF	_	
-	HRFI <sup>1</sup>	LRFI <sup>1</sup>	_
IGFN1	$22555 \pm 2237.82$	$30858 \pm 1976.39$	0.01
PPARG	159.2 [115.4, 219.5]	105.8 [90.2, 124.1]	0.02

Table 3.8 Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in *Longissimus* dorsi muscle of steer offspring at slaughter as assessed by NanoString.

<sup>1</sup>Data represents the gene expression estimates in LD muscle and are expressed as least square means  $\pm$  SE/ If the data is non-normal, data are the back-transformed mean and 95% CI in []. Significance set at P  $\leq$  0.05.

**3.3.6. Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in SM muscle** The expression of *HDAC4* was influenced by both prenatal diet and RFI treatments (Table 3.9). For prenatal diet, *HDAC4* was upregulated in Mdiet steers compared to their Ldiet counterparts, and for RFI, LRFI steers displayed higher expression levels. Prenatal diet was associated with the expression of *MYF5* (P = 0.05) and was upregulated in Mdiet steers compared to Ldiet steers (Table 3.9). *IGFN1* expression was also associated with the genetic potential for RFI (P = 0.02) with LRFI steers again displaying a higher expression. (Table 3.9). The interaction between prenatal diet and RFI was significant for the expression of *PACS2* (P = 0.01), Ldiet-LRFI expression levels were similar compared to Mdiet-HRFI but significantly lower than Mdiet-LRFI and Ldiet-HRFI (Figure 3.5).

Diet				
Gene	Mdiet <sup>1</sup>	Ldiet <sup>1</sup>	P-value	
HDAC4	$187.92 \pm 8.11$	$154.81 \pm 6.53$	0.005	
MYF5	$75.72\pm4.81$	$62.62\pm3.87$	0.05	
_	RF	I		
-	HRFI <sup>1</sup>	LRFI <sup>1</sup>		
HDAC4	$157.20 \pm 7.80$	$185.53\pm 6.89$	0.01	
IGFN1	22464.9 [17942.1, 27495.5]	31020 [36016.9, 26396.1]	0.02	

Table 3.9 Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in *Semimembranosus* muscle of steer offspring at slaughter as assessed by NanoString.

<sup>1</sup>Data represents the gene expression estimate in SM muscle and are expressed as least square means  $\pm$  SE/ If the data is non-normal, data are the back-transformed mean and 95% CI in []. Significance set at P  $\leq$  0.05.



Figure 3.6 Bar graph indicating differential gene expression between prenatal diet and RFI interaction in steer groups for *PACS2*. Bars represent LSmeans estimates, and error bars represent SE. a,b indicates significant differences between the diet-RFI groups.

# 3.3.7. Effect of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on gene expression in LV tissue

The genetic potential for RFI was associated with the expression of *IGF2* and *PDPK1* (Table 3.10). The expression of both *IGF2* and *PDPK1* were elevated in HRFI steers compared to their LRFI counterparts (Table 3.10). The interaction of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI affected the expression of *MEF2A*, where the Mdiet-HRFI group had higher expression than the Mdiet-LRFI and Ldiet-LRFI steer groups [Mdiet-HRFI (101.5 [70.8, 145.7 CI]), Mdiet-LRFI (75.3 [68.5, 82.8 CI]), and Ldiet-LRFI(84.0 [79.5, 88.8 CI]), expressed as back-transformed mean and 95% CI].

Table 3.10 Effe	ect of genetic pote	ential for RFI o	n gene expressior	n in liver tissue	of steer offspring
at slaughter.					

RFI			
Gene	HRFI <sup>1</sup>	LRFI <sup>1</sup>	P-value
IGF2	9020.9 [8057.5, 10099.4]	8210 [772.4, 8728.3]	0.04
PDPK1	$342.39\pm14.44$	$299.14\pm12.76$	0.04

<sup>1</sup>Data represent the gene expression estimates in LV tissue and are expressed as least square means  $\pm$  SE/ If the data is non-normal, data are the back-transformed mean and 95% CI in []. Significance set at P  $\leq$  0.05.

## **3.3.8.** Correlation between DNA methylation and gene expression

Methylation of CpG 11 in DMR ACADVL was positively correlated with its gene expression (r = +0.45, P= 0.04) in LD muscle. All other correlation analysis between the CpGs and gene expression showed no significant correlation.

# 3.4. Discussion

Developmental processes (prenatal and postnatal) have been reported to be programmed by maternal nutrition during gestation and/or progeny postnatal environment. Evidence from fetal programming studies has revealed significant associations between fetal development, the molecular mechanism (methylation), and maternal nutrition in ruminant livestock (Lan et al., 2013; Paradis et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2013). However, postnatal studies into these phenomena are still under investigation, especially in cattle. The current study investigated the molecular mechanisms regulating progeny performance at the postnatal level as a result of prenatal feed restriction, as well as selection for the genetic potential for RFI. Our aim was also to determine potential epigenetic markers associated with prenatal diet in muscle and liver tissues. Hence, we selected DMRs identified by WGBS in semen obtained from a subset of the offspring in our main experiment. The DMRs were based on methylation differences between M- and L-diet offspring and were chosen with reference to genes in close proximity that had biological functions related to growth and metabolism. The extra genes that we could include in the gene expression analysis were based on biological and functional roles related to growth and metabolic processes.

## 3.4.1. Differential methylation and gene expression patterns between tissues

We conducted PCA to observe patterns of DNA methylation and gene expression between LD, SM, and LV to investigate if the methods we were employing to measure DNA methylation and gene expression (EpiTYPER and NanoString, respectively), were yielding results reflective

of biology within the tissues. The methylation PCA shows that the ellipses of LD and SM overlap (Figure 4A) indicating a similar methylation pattern within the muscle tissues. In contrast, the PCA for gene expression displays a similar pattern between the two muscle tissues with respect to PCI, but almost no overlap between the muscle tissues for PC2. In both figures 4A and B the methylation and gene expression patterns for LV tissue display a distinct pattern from either LD or SM. The clustering of the muscle tissues away from the liver gives us evidence that the DNA methylation and gene expression values we are measuring are reflective of true biological variation at the tissue level. It might be expected that for LD and SM the DNA methylation levels are more closely related than expression levels as DNA methylation is more stable and related to genetic potential, and gene expression is more reflective of the environment and has more inherent variation, when examining tissue-level differences (Jaenisch & Bird, 2003).

We identified the methylation of 10 CpG sites within potential DMRs and their associated genes (*ACADVL, ALDH3B1, DPP6, GRB10, IGF2R*-DMR2, *IGF2R*-WGBS, *IGFN1, PDPK1, RASGRF1*, and *SCD5*), involved in metabolism and/or skeletal growth function, that were influenced by either prenatal diet, RFI and/or their interaction in LD, SM, and LV tissues. Comparatively, prenatal feed restriction had a higher influence on the methylation at slaughter in SM muscle than in LD and LV. Prenatal feed restriction resulted in differential methylation of 10 CpG sites in eight DMRs in SM compared to one CpG site in LD muscle and four CpG sites in three DMRs in LV. This differential response to either prenatal diet or RFI could be attributed to biological or functional differences between the tissues analyzed. Both LD and SM muscles are identified as glycolytic muscles with slight differences in their myofiber and metabolic properties involved in varied myogenic processes (De Las Heras-Saldana et al., 2019; Herault et al., 2014). Additionally, transcriptome and functional analysis by Herault et al. (2014) showed that mRNA

abundance and composition varied between LD and SM muscle and further revealed that postnatally, both muscle tissues are involved in varied biological functions. Therefore, it is possible that in the current study, methylation in the SM muscle was influenced to a greater extent by prenatal diet at slaughter due to potential functional and biological differences between the tissues analyzed.

In beef cattle studies, Paradis et al. (2017) and Devos et al. (2021) reported differential methylation in response to gestational feed restriction in LD and SM muscle at the fetal stage, as well as at weaning and slaughter. Similar to the results in the current study, Devos et al. (2021) reported that at slaughter, differential methylation was influenced by maternal diet to a greater extent in SM muscle were compared to LD at slaughter. Since, both studies were carried out in the same steer groups and with the same tissue samples, the similarity in our results validates the accuracy of procedures and protocols for methodology employed by both studies. Conversely, Paradis et al. (2017) reported that due to prenatal feed restriction, there was a higher response of methylation in fetal LD muscle relative to semitendinosus (ST) muscle. The discrepancies between our results to those of Paradis et al. (2017) could be due to factors including the timing of maternal feed restriction. In our study, the feed was restricted during early to mid-gestation compared to mid to late-gestation in Paradis et al. (2017). Additionally, methylation was analyzed in fetal tissues relative to adult tissues in the current study. The direct effect of maternal feed restriction may be still present in the LD of Paradis et al. (2017), while both the direct and metabolic consequences are manifested in the SM of the current study. This is particularly possible as Devos et al. (2021) also observed that prenatal feed restriction resulted in higher methylation levels in LD at birth but the effects were undetectable at slaughter. A study in sheep showed that prenatal feed restriction during early gestation negatively impacted myogenic processes in fetal LD muscle
compared to *Semitendinosus* muscle (Gauvin et al., 2020). Hence, the LD muscle may be relatively more susceptible to the influences of prenatal diet during gestation during the fetal stage as compared to ST or SM muscle. Therefore, the result from the current study suggests a potential differential requirement of nutrients by either muscle type during pre- and/or post-natal muscle development. Consequently, both muscle types could respond differently to prenatal diets at different stages of fetal and post-natal development.

## 3.4.2. Repeatability of EpiTYPER quantification of DNA methylation

We analyzed methylation of *IGF2R*-DMR2, previously analyzed by Devos et al. (2021) from the same tissue (LD, SM, and LV) at slaughter and animal group as in the current study to assess the repeatability and validate the methylation measured by EpiTYPER. The raw methylation data for from the study by Devos et al. (2021) and the current study as well as the results of the statistical analysis were compared to each other. Although DNA extraction for both studies was conducted at different times, all other methodologies were similar. After data processing and filtration of unreliable CpGs from the raw methylation data, both studies ended up with the same CpGs after processing in SM and LV tissue while for LD, the current study analyzed 7 CpGs vs 11 CpGs in Devos et al. (2021). Although at first glance the methylation results appear in the same range of values, we have observed some variation in the methylation counts for CpGs between both studies particularly for LV tissue. Therefore, this raises concern about the repeatability of the EpiTYPER technology in measuring slight differences in methylation, and that methylation results from the current study with no potential secondary evidence of other biological differences such as differences in gene expression, methylation of other CpGs within the same fragment, and correlation to gene expression and/or similar methylation trend between treatments group or tissues, will be discussed with some caution. As a result, we have focused our discussion on those

methylation results that display either similar significant differential methylation for more than one CpG within a DNA fragment, and/or significant gene expression result, or a correlation between gene expression and significantly differentially methylated CpGs.

## 3.4.3. Impact of prenatal diet on methylation and gene expression

Evidence from fetal programming studies in cattle have highlighted the potential long-term impact on progeny metabolic and growth performance induced by maternal dietary regime (Barcelos et al., 2022; Hoffman et al., 2017; Zago et al., 2020). This information allowed us to hypothesize that perhaps prenatal diet might have a long-term influence the underlying regulatory mechanisms i.e., DNA methylation as well as gene expression within the same tissue. Maternally expressed *IGF2R* gene is known to regulate embryonic and fetal development with peak expression detected during gestation (Bebbere et al., 2013). The IGF2R gene also controls IGF2 signaling which also is essential for fetal growth resulting in the degradation of its availability (Bebbere et al., 2013). Hence, the improper establishment of *IGF2R* imprint could result in the dysregulation of the expression of these growth-regulatory genes and potentially impair development (Ghanipoor-Samami et al., 2018). Methylation in SM was influenced by prenatal diet for the IGF2R-WGBS DMR, and the Mdiet progeny displayed higher methylation levels. Alternatively, LD and LV tissues showed no difference in methylation of IGF2R-WGBS in response to prenatal diet, and in original semen WGBS (Foroutan, 2020), the Ldiet progeny displayed higher methylation for the potential DMR. Therefore, it appears there is a link between methylation of DNA in the vicinity of *IGF2R* that is associated with prenatal nutrition, but its exact location or trend is not consistent. Further examples of this are methylation of IGF2R-DMR2. The methylation pattern of IGF2R-WGBS in SM muscle of this study is similar to semen IGF2R-DMR2 methylation previously described in chapter 2 of this thesis, which could imply that the IGF2R could potentially be a

methylation marker due to prenatal diet. Studies have shown that tissues including the liver are given priority to nutrient supply in cases of sub-optimal maternal nutrient supply (Du et al., 2010b) and also LD muscle differentiates at a faster rate during myogenesis compared to SM. Both LD and LV may have been prioritized nutrient-wise during the feed restriction stage in the current study hence, the less impact on methylation. We did not observe any association of the expression of *IGF2R* with prenatal dietary treatment. According to Zhan et al. (2019), the expression of *IGF2R* tends to be inconsistent in tissues including *Longissimus dorsi* and liver in ruminant. Hence, it could be that the lack of significant association of *IGF2R* expression with prenatal diet might be due to the fluctuation of its expression. Therefore, we speculate that *IGF2R* methylation could potentially be a gestational marker for maternal diet, but more intense studies concentrating on *IGF2R* methylation and gene expression at different stages of growth and development in cattle, with respect to differential prenatal diets, are required.

### 3.4.4. Impact of selection for RFI on methylation and gene expression

Selection for RFI had a greater influence on methylation in LD and LV tissues relative to SM in the current study. In comparison to prenatal diet, we observed a greater effect on methylation associated with RFI, particularly for LD (Diet vs RFI; one CpG vs five CpGs) and LV (Diet vs RFI; four CpGs vs seven CpGs). In SM, methylation impact was slightly higher in response to prenatal diet (10 CpGs vs eight CpGs). For methylation impacted due to selection for RFI, LRFI group displayed higher methylation levels across the tissues compared to HRFI (LRFI vs HRFI; 13 CpGs vs six CpGs). Although with respect to gene expression, an equal number of significantly differentially expressed genes (two) were observed in each of the tissues. Perhaps, selection for RFI has a relatively stronger influence on DNA methylation relative to gene expression. A study conducted by Rocha et al. (2019) identified some DMRs in liver associated with RFI in cattle, however this is the only study beside the current study investigating RFI and methylation association in cattle. Therefore, further research is needed to determine the molecular mechanism regulating the genetic potential for RFI in cattle.

Our results for the differences between tissues echo those from Devos et al. (2021) who also reported a greater impact of RFI on methylation in LV at slaughter, with the LRFI group displaying higher methylation levels. Additionally, the authors revealed that at birth CpG methylation of potential DMRs examined in LD muscle was more often associated with the genetic potential for RFI rather than prenatal diet, which could indicate that genetic potential for RFI could be greater effector of methylation in LD muscle at slaughter.

The methylation pattern in the *ACADVL* DMR was significantly associated with genetic potential for RFI in LD (CpG 11) and SM (CpG 7-8). Methylation for LRFI steers was higher in LD while HRFI steers displayed higher methylation in SM. *ACADVL* has been implicated in initiating mitochondrial  $\beta$ -oxidation of fatty acids and stimulating glucose synthesis (Antunes et al., 2013; Aoyama et al., 1995). It is expressed in tissues such as the liver, heart, and skeletal muscle with a high metabolic rate. A study by (Herault et al. (2014) showed that differential metabolism between SM and LD muscle resulted in differential *ACADVL* expression in adult swine and LRFI animals have been reported to possess a lower metabolic rate in previous studies (Zhang et al., 2017). In our correlation analysis, methylation in CpG 11 in LD muscle, which was significantly associated with RFI showed a positive correlation (r = 0.45, p = 0.04) with *ACADVL* expression and although expression analysis was not significant for the effect of RFI, the HRFI expression estimates were higher compared to LRFI group in LD muscle. There was neither a correlation between the significant CpG 7-8 and gene expression in SM, nor a significant association of RFI with gene expression in this tissue. Therefore, selection for RFI could result in

a greater impact on muscle glucose homeostasis in LD compared to SM and potentially emphasize tissue differential long-term response to energy consumption.

The *GRB10* gene interacts and binds with *IGF1R* and insulin receptor (*IR*) to regulate nutrient demand and glucose homeostasis postnatally, and influence the deposition of muscle fat (Cowley et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2007). Genetic potential for RFI was associated with *GRB10* methylation in SM and LV where LRFI steer progeny had higher methylation compared to HRFI counterparts in both tissues. The higher methylation response in LRFI groups in SM and LV could be a result of potential lower energy intake by the group during postnatal periods. Both SM and LV tissues are chiefly involved in metabolic activities during postnatal life. Therefore, *GRB10* could potential be a regulator of both muscle and liver metabolism due to RFI.

*IGFN1* is a z-band-associated sarcomeric protein that interacts with kyphoscoliosis peptidase (KY) and eukaryotic translation elongation factor 1A (eEF1A) protein (Blanco et al., 2001; Mansilla et al., 2008). KY and eEF1A are known to play a role in muscle maintenance and muscle atrophic conditions respectively (Blanco et al., 2001; Mansilla et al., 2008). Methylation CpG 6 in HRFI steers progeny was significantly higher in SM muscles in this study. Additionally, our expression analysis showed a greater mRNA expression in LRFI groups in both LD and SM muscles. Currently, the direct function of *IGFN1* in the muscle remains to be elucidated with available literature associating its expression with muscle-associated disease conditions (Cracknell, 2019; Li et al., 2017). Higher methylation in the HRFI group in SM, accompanied with lower expression, may indicate that methylation is a negative inhibitor of expression in this tissue, and might be consequential in terms of metabolic functions with respect to RFI. As well, higher mRNA expression in the LRFI group in both muscles could be an indication of a difference in

muscle maintenance between the two RFI groups in this study. Further interrogation would be required to properly associate these findings to postnatal performance traits.

An essential metabolic pathway involved in muscle development is the phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K) signaling pathway via its regulation of the metabolic roles of insulin (Petersen & Shulman, 2018). The *PDPK1* gene activates downstream kinases involved in the PI3K pathway promoting protein accretion and consequently muscle growth (Barile et al., 2012). HRFI progeny showed significantly higher *PDPK1* methylation in LV tissues. The selection for feed efficiency has revealed that there is a possible impact on visceral organs in ruminants including liver (Zhang et al., 2017). Basarab et al. (2003) reported that LRFI cattle have relatively lower liver weights compared to HRFI cattle. Additionally, in the study by Devos et al. (2021), the authors revealed that at slaughter, methylation in liver was mainly associated with RFI in the DNA fragments they investigated. Expression analysis showed no significant influence of RFI on *PDPK1* expression in the current study. Therefore, it could be that the methylation we have measured doesn't influence expression of *PDPK1* with respect to RFI classification, or that the physiological conditions we measured expression of *PDPK1* under were not conducive to show this relationship. *PDPK1* might be a potential postnatal methylation marker related to RFI in cattle, but more specific research needs to be conducted.

### 3.4.5. Influence of diet and RFI interaction on gene expression

Selection for RFI in cattle influences traits such as feeding behaviour and nutrient utilization even during gestation (Hafla et al., 2013). As a result, RFI potential could interact with diet availability and consequently influence DNA methylation and/or gene expression. Mitochondria-associated membranes (MAMs) are membranes that represent contact sites that the endoplasmic reticulum forms with mitochondria within individual cells (Rieusset, 2018). The activities of MAMs have

been shown to regulate metabolic processes such as energy homeostasis (Liesa & Shirihai, 2013). The PASC2 gene encodes a protein that regulates the activities of MAM (Myhill et al., 2008). The expression of *PACS2* is significantly influenced by prenatal diet and RFI interaction in SM muscle in this study. The current study did not conduct methylation analysis of PACS2 and hence, we could not determine whether methylation may, or may not influenced its transcriptional activities. The Ldiet-LRFI steer groups had significantly lower expression levels of PACS2 in SM than the other steer groups. Decreased expression of PACS2 impairs the MAMs, induces endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, and accelerates cellular catabolic activities (Hamasaki et al., 2013). Studies in other animal species reported that maternal nutrition during gestation could affect fetal MAM formation as well as a down-regulation of PACS2 and potentially affect fetal metabolism (Zhao et al., 2017). It could be that prenatal feed restriction and the potential for less energy consumption during postnatal stages might have impacted SM metabolism hence the lower PACS2 expression in the Ldiet-LRFI sub-group. Therefore, we speculate that lower expression in Ldiet-LRFI associated with prenatal feed restriction and genetic potential for RFI might be a sign of potential metabolic and cellular stress to the progeny.

*MEF2A* is a member of the MEF2 family of transcription factors that interact with myogenic regulatory factors to influence skeletal muscle development by activating muscle-specific genes (Molkentin & Olson, 1996). *MEF2A* positively regulates skeletal muscle differentiation and its polymorphism in cattle has been associated with body growth (Chen et al., 2010; Juszczuk-Kubiak et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2018). In the current study, methylation analysis of *MEF2A* could not be conducted, hence, the discussion of its significance is centered on the gene expression analysis. The expression of *MEF2A* in LV was influenced by the interaction of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI, and expression was upregulated in the Mdiet-HRFI animals

compared to other steer groups. The role of *MEF2A* in regulating glucose metabolism has mainly been elucidated in liver (Knight et al., 2003; Maruta & Yamashita, 2020; Wang et al., 2004). Although *MEF2A* expression is predominantly involved in skeletal muscle development, there was no influence of prenatal diet, RFI, and/or their interaction in either LD or SM muscle in this study. A study by Foroutan et al. (2021) reported contradictory results to our study, the authors found significant associations of *MEF2A* expression to the genetic potential for RFI in SM and LV, and also observed an influence of prenatal diet and RFI interaction on *MEF2A* expression in *Longissimus thoracis* (LT). The expression was higher in LV tissue of bulls with the genetic potential for LRFI as compared to HRFI in their study, opposite to the results of our current observations. The contrasting results in our study to those of Foroutan et al. (2021) could be due to differences in cattle-type (bulls vs steers) used in both studies.

## 3.4.6. Methylation differences between bulls and steers due to prenatal diet

Comparing the semen methylation results (chapter 2) to those from muscle and liver in the current study, we observed similar associations of prenatal diet with differences in methylation for potential DMRs associated with genes *ALDH3B1*, *IGF2R*-WGBS and *INSL3*. SM muscle displayed significant differences for Mdiet verses Ldiet steers for at least one CpG in all three DMRs. In LV, CpG (18) within *ALDH3B1* was also significantly different between prenatal diet treatments, where Mdiet progeny displayed higher methylation levels. In the bull study, Mdiet groups were highly methylated in all the DMRs compared to the Ldiet group. In this study, *IGF2R*-WGBS and *INSL3* methylation were in a similar direction to that of the bull study (higher methylation in the Mdiet group) in SM. However, *ALDH3B1* methylation levels were higher in Ldiet steer progenies in SM muscle. *ALDH3B1* and *INSL3* are both functionally related to testicular development and spermatogenesis, and their roles in muscle development and

metabolism remain unclear. Hence, the significant association of their methylation to gestational maternal diet in the current study potentially indicates that these DMRs might be prenatal epigenetic markers and could be subject to further investigations.

## **3.5.** Conclusion

In conclusion, results from this study revealed some variations in the raw data counts from EpiTYPER methylation analysis within the same tissues. These findings indicate a potential technical source of variation in the technology. However, the differential methylation and gene expression patterns in response to prenatal feed restriction between the tissues suggests that the results from the current study do reflect the biological and functional differences that exist between these tissues and that gives confidence in the results as well as the methodology employed for this study. Prenatal feed restriction during early to mid-gestation had a greater influence than genetic selection for RFI on the methylation of potential DMRs associated with metabolic regulatory genes in SM muscle at slaughter, perhaps because of its greater involvement in postnatal metabolism and growth processes. Additionally, the results also indicate a tissue-specific response to either maternal diet and/or genetic potential for RFI. The selection for higher feed efficiency in LRFI cattle resulted in a higher methylation level of several DNA fragments analyzed compared to HRFI, particularly in LD and LV tissues. Hence, at slaughter, RFI could be a greater epigenetic effector relative to gestational feeding regime. Furthermore, we observed some similar methylation patterns as a result of prenatal diet in DMRs in our semen methylation study (chapter 2) and tissues in the current study. Therefore, these DMRs could potentially be candidate markers for prenatal diet and possible future epigenetic studies. Our findings will contribute to the growing knowledge on the epigenetic modifications associated with gestational management practices (prenatal diet and selection for feed efficiency) and possibly set the foundation for further studies on fetal programming to improve the genetic potential in beef cattle.

#### **Chapter 4. General Conclusion**

Studies have elucidated the impact of feed restriction at critical stages of gestation on several economically important traits in livestock including beef cattle. Emerging evidence into the molecular mechanism of this phenomenon suggests the possible involvement of epigenetic modification. The majority of this research evaluates this mechanistic involvement at the fetal stage while studies into long-term postnatal consequences are lacking. Therefore, the purpose of this thesis is to evaluate and further increase our understanding of the epigenetic mechanism (DNA methylation) and expression of genes regulating the influence of prenatal feed restriction and the genetic potential for RFI in cattle progeny at slaughter.

The first study was conducted in bull progeny to validate the DNA methylation associated with prenatal diet from a prior WGBS study using EpiTYPER technology and investigate the effect of prenatal feed restriction and/or genetic potential for RFI on DNA methylation in semen and gene expression in muscle, liver, and testis tissue. We first hypothesized that DMRs associated with prenatal diet in semen using EpiTYPER would be similar to that of the WGBS and prenatal feed restriction and RFI would result in differential semen methylation as well as gene expression at slaughter in muscle, liver, and testis. In this study, our comparative methylation analysis showed that prenatal diet had no significant influence on average methylation between dietary treatment (Mdiet v Ldiet) groups when analyzed with EpiTYPER. Although two out of the 10 analyzed DMRs showed a similar trend in methylation pattern i.e., higher methylation in the Ldiet bull group compared to the Mdiet group. While the EpiTYPER technology has been utilized in validating whole-genome methylation studies, there are potential factors including the principle of methylation quantification between the two technologies, and bioinformatic analysis that could result in variations in the results. Also, out of over 300 identified DMR-associated genes, we only

selected and analyzed 10 DMR-associated genes for the current study. Therefore, an extensive and comprehensive validation study would be required to further validate the WGBS methylation results. For the analysis of methylation of individual CpG sites and prenatal diet, we found a significant association between prenatal diet and methylation in DMRs-associated genes involved in testicular development and genomic imprinting. In cattle, semen methylation is essential in spermatogenesis and has well been related to male infertility (Carrell, 2012; Takeda et al., 2017). Verma et al. (2014) showed those bulls with varying semen quality and fertility had differential methylation patterns of genes involved in essential biological processes. Although we did not investigate the expression of these significant genes in semen that could further reveal possible transcriptional and biological consequences, these findings point to perhaps a potential reproductive methylation marker associated with maternal nutrition during gestation which could be inherited transgenerationally by subsequent progenies.

Gene expression analysis for LD and SM tissues showed that Ldiet bull progeny had higher expressions of *PDPK1* gene. *PDPK1* is an activator gene involved in the PI3K pathway, which promotes protein synthesis and growth. In a study involving the same bull groups, at 10 to 16 months of age, the restricted bulls were reported to exhibit a faster growth rate compared to their unrestricted counterparts (Johnson et al., 2019). Furthermore, the Ldiet groups had higher expression levels of the *THRB* in SM muscle, a gene whose expression is reported to increase metabolic processes in muscle (Bloise et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2012). The result from the current study, therefore, indicates that restricting maternal diet during periods of skeletal muscle formation might result in an adaptation in support of increasing metabolism and possibly in support of growth.

The second study evaluated the impact of prenatal diet and genetic potential for RFI on DNA methylation and gene expression in LD, SM, and LV tissues in steer progeny. We hypothesized that restricting maternal feed during early to mid-gestation and/or RFI would result in differential methylation and expression of genes regulating muscle development at slaughter. The results from the methylation analysis revealed a differential response to prenatal diet between the tissues. SM muscle methylation had a higher response to dietary restriction at slaughter suggesting a potentially greater long-term response to influences of gestational feeding. Due to the prioritization of nutrients for essential tissues such as the liver, heart, and brain in situations of maternal malnutrition during gestation, nutrient supply to tissues including skeletal muscle is minimized, possibly increasing its susceptibility to prenatal diet (Bauman et al., 1982). Additionally, myofiber and functional differences between muscle types might have also influenced the variation in response to gestational diet. Relative to prenatal diet, we observed that genetic potential for RFI had a greater influence on both methylation and expression of genes involved in metabolism and growth-related functions. The relatively little influence of prenatal diet in all tissues compared to RFI may be attributed to the timing of maternal feed restriction during gestation in our study. Studies have shown that there is the possibility of either compensatory growth or metabolic adaptation in support of growth in some cases of prenatal malnutrition, especially when it occurs during early gestation (Hornick et al., 2000). The majority of livestock research on fetal programming is conducted during late gestational periods and hence most effects reported are when feed is restricted during late gestation, a period of extensive fetal growth. Therefore, at slaughter, the impact of prenatal diet on DNA methylation and/or gene expression may have been compensated for or minimized while RFI had a greater influence on steers at slaughter. Finally, we observed a similar methylation trend in *IGF2R* and *INSL3* DMRs

associated with prenatal diet in both semen and muscle in this study. In both cases, Mdiet groups displayed higher methylation levels. This implies that DMR-associated genes might be epigenetic markers regulated by maternal nutrition during gestation. The findings from this research provide insight into the potential molecular mechanisms underlying fetal programming and contribute to growing knowledge on the possible epigenetic regulation in beef cattle, and potentially set the basis for further research studies.

Studies have shown altered methylation pattern in fetuses and neonatal progeny due to maternal nutrition (Downing et al., 2011; Lan et al., 2013; Lillycrop et al., 2008). Also, DNA methylation has been to be a stable epigenetic modification and regulates transcriptional activities of gene (Hermann et al., 2004). Hence in this research we hypothesized that prenatal feed restriction during gestation would result in a long-term modification of DNA methylation in cattle progeny. Our results however show an inconsistent influence of prenatal diet on DNA methylation in muscle and liver tissues at slaughter. Furthermore, RFI had greater influence on methylation compared to prenatal diet. To the best of our knowledge, no other study evaluated the effect of prenatal diet on DNA methylation and gene expression at slaughter. Therefore, we conclude that prenatal diet during early to mid gestation may have little or no impact on methylation in muscle and liver of progeny in beef cattle in postnatal periods of life. The greater impact of RFI also suggests that other traits or biological processes may have greater influence on molecular modification compared to gestational maternal diet. Therefore, further investigation on the longterm impact of prenatal diet during postnatal periods on DNA methylation and gene expression on a larger sample of individuals, tissues and DMRs to establish the association between gestational maternal diet and epigenetic modifications.

### 4.1. Limitations of study

The current study had some limitations that might have influenced the results observed. Firstly, the smaller sample size for each treatment used for the study may have impeded our ability to detect consistent significant and/or non-significant results. Additionally, the extensive processing of both methylation and gene expression data resulted in the deletion of multiple methylation data for some individual samples and/or deletion of the entire individual from statistical analysis. In the process, we may have excluded crucial data points, which could have affected the results observed. Some other limitations of the research were that for study 1, only a few DMR-associated genes were selected for validation of the WGBS study (352 vs 15 DMR-associated genes). This is a relatively small sample size employed to the validation study and might not be the true representation of the methylation trend that were observed in the WGBS semen methylation study. Additionally, bull muscle, liver and testis DNA methylation were not analyzed as there was no longer tissue samples left for these animals. Hence, in bull progeny a simultaneous investigation of DNA methylation and gene expression could not be performed. Testing both DNA methylation and gene expression at the same time in our bull progeny would give us more confidence that we could connect prenatal nutrition to DNA methylation, then to changes in biological function.

## 4.2. Future directions

The current study observed some significant potential molecular modification associated with either prenatal diet and/or genetic potential for RFI. However, some knowledge gaps that arose from the study that would require further interrogation include:

> Assess the repeatability of EpiTYPER technology identification and quantification of DNA methylation within the same tissue. In the current study, there were some variations in the methylation data of *IGF2R*-DMR2 between the current study and

those from Devos et al. (2021). Conducting a repeatability study would determine whether the results from the technology are indeed reliable for DNA methylation identification and/or validating whole genome methylation studies.

- Evaluate the influence of prenatal diet on DNA methylation of *PDPK1* gene, whose expressions were significantly associated with prenatal diet. The gene is a growth-promoting gene, and it was highly expressed in Ldiet bulls in the current study. Therefore, assessing the epigenetic modification possibly regulating its expression would assist in determining whether *PDPK1* is an epigenetic marker regulated by maternal nutrition.
- Determine the possible transgenerational passage of DMR-associated genes involved in male reproductive development (*ALDH3B1* and *INSL3*) and genomic imprinting (*IGF2R* and *GRB10*) that were significantly associated with prenatal diet in offspring of the bull used in this study. This would assist in determining the possibilities of transgenerational epigenetic influence on fertility and/or progeny development during gestation.
- Evaluate the influence of prenatal diet on DNA methylation in *INSL3* and *IGF2R*-WGBS in other tissues. The methylation of these DMRs was significant with prenatal diet and displayed similar patterns in both semen and SM muscle. Therefore, if similar results are found in other tissues regulating metabolism, it could establish the DMRs are stable nutritional epigenetic markers.

# References

- Adams, G. R., & McCue, S. A. (1998). Localized infusion of IGF-I results in skeletal muscle hypertrophy in rats. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 84(5), 1716–1722. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1998.84.5.1716
- Agarwal, S. K., & Weinstein, L. S. (2018). Epigenetics. In *Genetics of Bone Biology and Skeletal Disease* (Second Edi). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804182-6/00002-2
- Alejandro Bielli, Raquel Pérez, Graciela Pedrana, John T. B. Milton, Álvaro Lopez, Margaret A. Blackberry, Gregory Duncombe, H. R.-M. and G. B. M. (2002). Low maternal nutrition during pregnancy reduces the number of Sertoli cells in the newborn lamb. *Reproduction, Fertility and Development*, 14(5–6), 333–337.
- Alexander, G., & Bell, A. W. (1975). Maximum thermogenic response to cold in relation to the proportion of brown adipose tissue and skeletal muscle in the body and to other parameters in young lambs. *Biology of the Neonate Foetal and Neonatal Research*, *26*(3–4), 182–194. https://doi.org/10.1159/000240729
- Allegrucci, C., Thurston, A., Lucas, E., & Young, L. (2005). Epigenetics and the germline. *Reproduction*, *129*(2), 137–149. https://doi.org/10.1530/rep.1.00360
- Allen, R. C., Zoghbi, H. Y., Moseley, A. B., Rosenblatt, H. M., & Belmont, J. W. (1992). Methylation of HpaII and Hhal sites near the polymorphic CAG repeat in the human androgen-receptor gene correlates with X chromosome inactivation. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 51(6), 1229–1239.
- Allen, W. R., Wilsher, S., Tiplady, C., & Butterfield, R. M. (2004). The influence of maternal size on pre- and postnatal growth in the horse: III postnatal growth. *Reproduction*, *127*(1), 67–77. https://doi.org/10.1530/rep.1.00024
- Allison, C. D. (1985). Factors Affecting Forage Intake by Range Ruminants: A Review. *Journal* of Range Management, 38(4), 305. https://doi.org/10.2307/3899409
- Anderson, O. S., Sant, K. E., & Dolinoy, D. C. (2012). Nutrition and epigenetics: an interplay of dietary methyl donors, one-carbon metabolism and DNA methylation. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 23(8), 853–859. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2012.03.003
- Andrés, S., Madsen, O., Montero, O., Martín, A., & Giráldez, F. J. (2021). The Role of Feed Restriction on DNA Methylation, Feed Efficiency, Metabolome, Biochemical Profile, and Progesterone Patterns in the Female Filial Generation (F1) Obtained From Early Feed Restricted Ewes (F0). *Frontiers in Physiology*, *12*(December), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2021.779054
- Andrés, S., Valdés, C., Santos, A., Mateo, J., & Giráldez, F. J. (2020). Effects of birth weight on animal performance, fattening traits and meat quality of lambs. *Animals*, *10*(12), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10122364
- Añez-Osuna, F., Penner, G. B., Campbell, J., Dugan, M. E. R., Fitzsimmons, C. J., Jefferson, P. G., Lardner, H. A., & McKinnon, J. J. (2019). Level and source of fat in the diet of

gestating beef cows. II. Effects on the postpartum performance of the dam and the progeny. *Journal of Animal Science*, 97(7), 3120–3141. https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skz172

- Antunes, A. P., Nogueira, C., Rocha, H., Vilarinho, L., & Evangelista, T. (2013). Intermittent rhabdomyolysis with adult onset associated with a mutation in the ACADVL Gene. *Journal* of Clinical Neuromuscular Disease, 15(2), 69–72. https://doi.org/10.1097/CND.00000000000012
- Aoyama, T., Souri, M., Ueno, I., Kamijo, T., Yamaguchi, S., Rhead, W. J., Tanaka, K., & Hashimoto, T. (1995). Cloning of human very-long-chain acyl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase and molecular characterization of its deficiency in two patients. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 57(2), 273–283.
- Arai, T., Kitahara, S., Horiuchi, S., Sumi, S., & Yoshida, K. (1998). Relationship of testicular volume to semen profiles and serum hormone concentrations in infertile Japanese males. *International Journal of Fertility and Women's Medicine*, 43(1), 40–47.
- Arends, N., Johnston, L., Hokken-Koelega, A., Duijn, C. van, Ridder, M. de, Savage, M., & Clark, A. (2002). Polymorphism in the IGF-I Gene: Clinical Relevance for Short Children Born Small for Gestational Age (SGA). *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 87(6), 2720–2724. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.87.6.8673
- Arruda, A. P., Pers, B. M., Parlakgül, G., Güney, E., Inouye, K., & Hotamisligil, G. S. (2014). Chronic enrichment of hepatic endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria contact leads to mitochondrial dysfunction in obesity. *Nature Medicine*, 20(12), 1427–1435. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3735
- Arthur, J. P. F., & Herd, R. M. (2008). Residual feed intake in beef cattle. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia*, *37*(SPECIALISSUE), 269–279. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-35982008001300031
- Arthur, P. F., Renand, G., & Krauss, D. (2001). Genetic and phenotypic relationships among different measures of growth and feed efficiency in young Charolais bulls. *Livestock Production Science*, 68(2–3), 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(00)00243-8
- Avila, C. G., Harding, R., Rees, S., & Robinson, P. M. (1989). Small intestinal development in growth-retarded fetal sheep. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 8(4), 507–515. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005176-198905000-00015
- Bairagi, S., Quinn, K. E., Crane, A. R., Ashley, R. L., Borowicz, P. P., Caton, J. S., Redden, R. R., Grazul-Bilska, A. T., & Reynolds, L. P. (2016). Maternal environment and placental vascularization in small ruminants. *Theriogenology*, 86(1), 288–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2016.04.042
- Bajrami, E., & Spiroski, M. (2016). Genomic imprinting. Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences, 4(1), 181–184. https://doi.org/10.3889/oamjms.2016.028
- Baker, J., Liu, J. P., Robertson, E. J., & Efstratiadis, A. (1993). Role of insulin-like growth factors in embryonic and postnatal growth. *Cell*, 75(1), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(05)80085-6
- Baker, J., Riley, G., Romero, M. R., Haynes, A. R., Hilton, H., Simon, M., Hancock, J.,

Tateossian, H., Ripoll, V. M., & Blanco, G. (2010). Identification of a Z-band associated protein complex involving KY, FLNC and IGFN1. *Experimental Cell Research*, *316*(11), 1856–1870. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.02.027

- Barcelos, S. de S., Nascimento, K. B., Silva, T. E. da, Mezzomo, R., Alves, K. S., de Souza Duarte, M., & Gionbelli, M. P. (2022). The Effects of Prenatal Diet on Calf Performance and Perspectives for Fetal Programming Studies: A Meta-Analytical Investigation. *Animals*, 12(16), 2145. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12162145
- Barile, E., De, S. K., & Pellecchia, M. (2012). 3-Phosphoinositide-Dependent protein Kinase-1 (PDK1) inhibitors. *Pharmaceutical Patent Analyst*, 1(2), 145–163. https://doi.org/10.4155/ppa.12.17
- Barker, D. J. P. (1995). Fetal origins of coronary heart disease. *BMJ*, 311, 171–174. https://doi.org/10.1054/ebcm.1999.0268
- Barker, D. J. P. (2004a). The developmental origins of well-being. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 359(1449), 1359–1366. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2004.1518
- Barker, D. J. P. (2004b). The developmental origins of well-being. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 359(1449), 1359–1366. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2004.1518
- Barker, D. J. P., Bull, A. R., Osmond, C., & Simmonds, S. J. (1990). Fetal and placental size and risk of hypertension in adult life. *British Medical Journal*, 301(6746), 259–262. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.301.6746.259
- Basarab, J. A., Price, M. A., Aalhus, J. L., Okine, E. K., Snelling, W. M., & Lyle, K. L. (2003). Residual feed intake and body composition in young growing cattle. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 83(2), 189–204. https://doi.org/10.4141/A02-065
- Baserga, M., Bertolotto, C., MacLennan, N. K., Hsu, J. L., Pham, T., Laksana, G. S., & Lane, R. H. (2004). Uteroplacental insufficiency decreases small intestine growth and alters apoptotic homeostasis in term intrauterine growth retarded rats. *Early Human Development*, 79(2), 93–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2004.04.015
- Bauer, M. K., Breier, B. H., Harding, J. E., Veldhuiss, J. D., & Gluckman, P. D. (1995). The fetal somatotropic axis during long term maternal undernutrition in sheep: Evidence for nutritional regulation in utero. *Endocrinology*, 136(3), 1250–1257. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.136.3.7867579
- Bauman, D. E., & Bruce Currie, W. (1980). Partitioning of Nutrients During Pregnancy and Lactation: A Review of Mechanisms Involving Homeostasis and Homeorhesis. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 63(9), 1514–1529. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(80)83111-0
- Bauman, D. E., Eisemann, J. H., & Currie, W. B. (1982). Hormonal effects on partitioning of nutrients for tissue growth: role of growth hormone and prolactin. *Federation Proceedings*, 41(9), 2538–2544.
- Bazer, F. W., Spencer, T. E., & Ott, T. L. (1997). Interferon tau: A novel pregnancy recognition signal. *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, *37*(6), 412–420.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0897.1997.tb00253.x

- Beauchamp, B., & Harper, M. E. (2016). In utero undernutrition programs skeletal and cardiac muscle metabolism. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 6(JAN), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2015.00401
- Bebbere, D., Bauersachs, S., Fürst, R. W., Reichenbach, H.-D., Reichenbach, M., Medugorac, I., Ulbrich, S. E., Wolf, E., Ledda, S., & Hiendleder, S. (2013). Tissue-Specific and Minor Inter-Individual Variation in Imprinting of IGF2R Is a Common Feature of Bos taurus Concepti and Not Correlated with Fetal Weight. *PLOS ONE*, 8(4), e59564. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0059564
- Beck, P. A., Stewart, C. B., Gadberry, M. S., Haque, M., & Biermacher, J. (2016). Effect of mature body weight and stocking rate on cow and calf performance, Cow herd efficiency, and economics in the southeastern United States. *Journal of Animal Science*, 94(4), 1689– 1702. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2015-0049
- Behrouzi, A., Colazo, M., Li, C., & Fitzsimmons, C. (2022). First-service pregnancy rate among beef heifers with different residual feed intake. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 4, 1– 4. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjas-2021-0105
- Belkacemi, L., Michael Nelson, D., Desai, M., & Ross, M. G. (2010). Maternal undernutrition influences placental-fetal development. *Biology of Reproduction*, 83(3), 325–331. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.110.084517
- Bellows, R. A., & Short, R. E. (1978). Effects of Precalving Feed Level on Birth Weight, Calving Difficulty and Subsequent Fertility. *Journal of Animal Science*, *46*(6), 1522–1528. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1978.4661522x
- Bérengère Coupé, Isabelle Grit, Philippe Hulin, Gwenaëlle Randuineau, P. P. (2012). Postnatal Growth after Intrauterine Growth Restriction Alters Central Leptin Signal and Energy Homeostasis. 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030616
- Bernal, A. J., & Jirtle, R. L. (2010). Epigenomic disruption: the effects of early developmental exposures. *Birth Defects Research. Part A, Clinical and Molecular Teratology*, 88(10), 938–944. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdra.20685
- Bird, A. (1992). The essentials of DNA methylation. *Cell*, 70(1), 5–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(92)90526-I
- Bird, A. P. (1978). Use of restriction enzymes to study eukaryotic DNA methylation. II. The symmetry of methylated sites supports semi-conservative copying of the methylation pattern. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, *118*(1), 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(78)90243-7
- Bird, A. P. (1986a). CpG-rich islands and the function of DNA methylation. *Nature*, *321*(6067), 209–213. https://doi.org/10.1038/321209a0
- Bird, A. P., & Wolffe, A. P. (1999). Methylation-Induced Repression Belts, Braces, and

Chromatin. 99, 451–454.

- Bispham, J., Gopalakrishnan, G. S., Dandrea, J., Wilson, V., Budge, H., Keisler, D. H., Pipkin, F. B., Stephenson, T., & Symonds, M. E. (2003). Maternal endocrine adaptation throughout pregnancy to nutritional manipulation: Consequences for maternal plasma leptin and cortisol and the programming of fetal adipose tissue development. *Endocrinology*, 144(8), 3575–3585. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2003-0320
- Blanco, G., Coulton, G. R., Biggin, A., Grainge, C., Moss, J., Barrett, M., Berquin, A., Maréchal, G., Skynner, M., van Mier, P., Nikitopoulou, A., Kraus, M., Ponting, C. P., Mason, R. M., & Brown, S. D. (2001). The kyphoscoliosis (ky) mouse is deficient in hypertrophic responses and is caused by a mutation in a novel muscle-specific protein. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 10(1), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/10.1.9
- Bloise, F. F., Cordeiro, A., & Ortiga-Carvalho, T. M. (2018). Role of thyroid hormone in skeletal muscle physiology. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 236(1), R57–R68. https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-16-0611
- Bloomfield, F. H., & Harding, J. E. (1998). Experimental aspects of nutrition and fetal growth. *Fetal and Maternal Medicine Review*, *10*(2), 91–107. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0965539597000235
- Bolhuis, J., Oostindjer, M., Van den Brand, H., den, van, Gerrits, W., & Kemp, B. (2009). Voluntary feed intake in piglets: potential impact of early experience with flavours derived from the maternal diet. *Voluntary Feed Intake in Pigs*.
- Bommarito, P. A., & Fry, R. C. (2019). Chapter 2-1 The Role of DNA Methylation in Gene Regulation. In S. D. McCullough & D. C. Dolinoy (Eds.), *Toxicoepigenetics* (pp. 127–151). Academic Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812433-8.00005-8
- Boyd, G. W., Kiser, T. E., L, R. S., & Al, B. E. T. (1987). *EFFECTS OF PREPARTUM ENERGY INTAKE ON STEROIDS DURING LATE GESTATION AND ON COW AND CALF PERFORMANCE l.* 1703–1709.
- Brameld, J. M., Buttery, P. J., Dawson, J. M., & Harper, J. M. M. (1998). Nutritional and hormonal control of skeletal-muscle cell growth and differentiation. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *57*(02), 207–217. https://doi.org/10.1079/pns19980033
- Braun, T., Challis, J. R., Newnham, J. P., & Sloboda, D. M. (2013). Early-life glucocorticoid exposure: The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, placental function, and longterm disease risk. *Endocrine Reviews*, 34(6), 885–916. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2013-1012
- Brown, L. D. (2014). Endocrine regulation of fetal skeletal muscle growth: Impact on future metabolic health. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 221(2). https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-13-0567
- Burton, G. J., Cindrova-Davies, T., & Turco, M. Y. (2020). Review: Histotrophic nutrition and the placental-endometrial dialogue during human early pregnancy. *Placenta*, *102*(November 2019), 21–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2020.02.008
- Burton, G. J., Jauniaux, E., & Charnock-Jones, D. S. (2010). The influence of the intrauterine environment on human placental development. *International Journal of Developmental Biology*, *54*(2–3), 303–311. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.082764gb

- Busslinger, M., Hurst, J., & Flavell, R. A. (1983). DNA methylation and the regulation of globin gene expression. *Cell*, 34(1), 197–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(83)90150-2
- Buttery, P. J., Brameld, J. M., & Dawson, J. M. (2009). Control and manipulation of hyperplasia and hypertrophy in muscle tissue. *Ruminant Physiology: Digestion, Metabolism, Growth and Reproduction*, 237–254. https://doi.org/10.1079/9780851994635.0237
- Cafe, L. M., Hennessy, D. W., Hearnshaw, H., Morris, S. G., & Greenwood, P. L. (2006). Influences of nutrition during pregnancy and lactation on birth weights and growth to weaning of calves sired by Piedmontese or Wagyu bulls. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 46(2), 245–255. https://doi.org/10.1071/EA05225
- Cafe, L. M., Hennessy, D. W., Hearnshaw, H., Morris, S. G., & Greenwood, P. L. (2009). Consequences of prenatal and preweaning growth for feedlot growth, intake and efficiency of Piedmontese- and Wagyu-sired cattle. *Animal Production Science*, 49(6), 461–467. https://doi.org/10.1071/EA08089
- Cameron, A. W. N., Fairnie, I. J., & Keogh, E. J. (1984). Semen quality, quantity and flock fertility. *Reproduction in Sheep: Australian Wool Corporation Technical Publication/Supervising Editors, DR Lindsay and DT Pearce.*
- Carrell, D. T. (2012). Epigenetics of the male gamete. *Fertility and Sterility*, 97(2), 267–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.12.036
- Carvalho, J. O., Michalczechen-Lacerda, V. A., Sartori, R., Rodrigues, F. C., Bravim, O., Franco, M. M., & Dode, M. A. N. (2012). The methylation patterns of the IGF2 and IGF2R genes in bovine spermatozoa are not affected by flow-cytometric sex sorting. *Molecular Reproduction and Development*, 79(2), 77–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrd.21410
- Casadesús, J., & Noyer-Weidner, M. (2013). Epigenetics. Brenner's Encyclopedia of Genetics: Second Edition, 2, 500–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374984-0.00480-0
- Caton, J. S., Bauer, M. L., & Hidari, H. (2000). Metabolic Components of Energy Expenditure in Growing Beef Cattle. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences, 13(5), 702–710. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.2000.702
- Caton, J. S., Crouse, M. S., McLean, K. J., Dahlen, C. R., Ward, A. K., Cushman, R. A., Grazul-Bilska, A. T., Neville, B. W., Borowicz, P. P., & Reynolds, L. P. (2020). Maternal periconceptual nutrition, early pregnancy, and developmental outcomes in beef cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, 98(12), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1093/JAS/SKAA358
- Chadio, S. E., Kotsampasi, B., Papadomichelakis, G., Deligeorgis, S., Kalogiannis, D., Menegatos, I., & Zervas, G. (2007). Impact of maternal undernutrition in the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis responsiveness in sheep at different ages postnatal. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 192(3), 495–503. https://doi.org/10.1677/JOE-06-0172
- Chapman, K., Holmes, M., & Seckl, J. (2013). 11B-Hydroxysteroid Dehydrogenases Intracellular Gate-Keepers of Tissue Glucocorticoid Action. *Physiological Reviews*, 93(3), 1139–1206. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00020.2012
- Chargé, S. B. P., & Rudnicki, M. A. (2004). Cellular and Molecular Regulation of Muscle Regeneration. *Physiological Reviews*, *84*(1), 209–238.

https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00019.2003

- Chatterjee, A., MacAulay, E. C., Ahn, A., Ludgate, J. L., Stockwell, P. A., Weeks, R. J., Parry, M. F., Foster, T. J., Knarston, I. M., Eccles, M. R., & Morison, I. M. (2017). Comparative assessment of DNA methylation patterns between reduced representation bisulfite sequencing and Sequenom EpiTyper methylation analysis. *Epigenomics*, 9(6), 823–832. https://doi.org/10.2217/epi-2016-0176
- Chatterjee, A., Rodger, E. J., Morison, I. M., Eccles, M. R., & Stockwell, P. A. (2017). Tools and Strategies for Analysis of Genome-Wide and Gene-Specific DNA Methylation Patterns. *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, 1537, 249–277. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6685-1 15
- Chen, F., Chen, H., Wang, J., Niu, H., Lan, X., Hua, L., Li, Z., Lei, C., & Fang, X. (2010). MEF2A gene polymorphisms are associated with growth traits in Chinese indigenous cattle breeds. In *Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances* (Vol. 9, Issue 4, pp. 814–819). https://doi.org/10.3923/javaa.2010.814.819
- Chen, L., Vinsky, M., & Li, C. (2015). Accuracy of predicting genomic breeding values for carcass merit traits in Angus and Charolais beef cattle. *Animal Genetics*, *46*(1), 55–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/age.12238
- Choi, S. W., & Friso, S. (2010). Epigenetics: A new bridge between nutrition and health. *Advances in Nutrition*, 1(1), 8–16. https://doi.org/10.3945/an.110.1004
- Christian, P. (2010). Micronutrients, birth weight, and survival. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, *30*, 83–104. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.nutr.012809.104813
- Cisternas, P., Henriquez, J. P., Brandan, E., & Inestrosa, N. C. (2014). Wnt signaling in skeletal muscle dynamics: Myogenesis, neuromuscular synapse and fibrosis. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 49(1), 574–589. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-013-8540-5
- Close, W. H., & Pettigrew, J. E. (1990). Mathematical models of sow reproduction. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. Supplement, 40, 83–88. https://doi.org/10.1530/biosciprocs.13.006
- Cole, A. S., & Eastoe, J. E. (1988). The integration and control of metabolism. *Biochemistry and Oral Biology*, 329–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-7236-1751-8.50030-2
- Coleman, M. E., Demayo, F., Kuo Chang Yin, Heung Man Lee, Geske, R., Montgomery, C., & Schwartz, R. J. (1995). Myogenic vector expression of insulin-like growth factor I stimulates muscle cell differentiation and myofiber hypertrophy in transgenic mice. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 270(20), 12109–12116. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.270.20.12109
- Conley, A. J., & Mason, J. I. (1990). 4 Placental steroid hormones. *Bailliere's Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 4(2), 249–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0950-351X(05)80050-3
- Cooney, C. A., Dave, A. A., & Wolff, G. L. (2002). Maternal methyl supplements in mice affect epigenetic variation and DNA methylation of offspring. *Journal of Nutrition*, *132*(8 SUPPL.), 2393–2400. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/132.8.2393s

- Copping, K. J., Ruiz-Diaz, M. D., Rutland, C. S., Mongan, N. P., Callaghan, M. J., McMillen, I. C., Rodgers, R. J., & Perry, V. E. A. (2018). Peri-conception and first trimester diet modifies reproductive development in bulls. *Reproduction, Fertility and Development*, 30(5), 703–720. https://doi.org/10.1071/RD17102
- Corah, L. R., Dunn, T. G., & Kaltenbach, C. C. (1975). Influence of prepartum nutrition on the reproductive performance of beef females and the performance of their progeny. *Journal of Animal Science*, 41(3), 819–824. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1975.413819x
- Costa, T. C., Du, M., Nascimento, K. B., Galvão, M. C., Meneses, J. A. M., Schultz, E. B., Gionbelli, M. P., & Duarte, M. de S. (2021). Skeletal Muscle Development in Postnatal Beef Cattle. *Animals*, 11, 860.
- Costa, T. C., Dutra, L. L., Mendes, T. A. de O., Dos Santos, M. M., Veroneze, R., Gionbelli, M. P., & Duarte, M. de S. (2022). Impact of Maternal Feed Restriction at Different Stages of Gestation on the Proteomic Profile of the Newborn Skeletal Muscle. *Animals : An Open Access Journal from MDPI*, 12(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12081011
- Costa, T. C., Gionbelli, M. P., & Duarte, M. de S. (2021). Fetal programming in ruminant animals: understanding the skeletal muscle development to improve meat quality. *Animal Frontiers*, *11*(6), 66–73. https://doi.org/10.1093/af/vfab061
- Cowley, M., Garfield, A. S., Madon-Simon, M., Charalambous, M., Clarkson, R. W., Smalley, M. J., Kendrick, H., Isles, A. R., Parry, A. J., Carney, S., Oakey, R. J., Heisler, L. K., Moorwood, K., Wolf, J. B., & Ward, A. (2014). Developmental Programming Mediated by Complementary Roles of Imprinted Grb10 in Mother and Pup. *PLoS Biology*, *12*(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001799
- Cracco, R. C., Bussiman, F. de O., Polizel, G. H. G., Furlan, É., Garcia, N. P., Poit, D. A. S., Pugliesi, G., & Santana, M. H. de A. (2021). Effects of Maternal Nutrition on Female Offspring Weight Gain and Sexual Development. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 12(November), 1– 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2021.737382
- Cracknell, T. (2019). Revealing the Role of IGFN1 in Skeletal Muscle. September.
- Cracknell, T., Mannsverk, S., Nichols, A., Dowle, A., & Blanco, G. (2021). Proteomic resolution of IGFN1 complexes reveals a functional interaction with the actin nucleating protein COBL. *Experimental Cell Research*, 395(2), 112179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2020.112179
- Cropley, J. E., Suter, C. M., Beckman, K. B., & Martin, D. I. K. (2006). Germ-line epigenetic modification of the murine Avy allele by nutritional supplementation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(46), 17308–17312. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0607090103
- Crouse, M. S., Caton, J. S., Cushman, R. A., McLean, K. J., Dahlen, C. R., Borowicz, P. P., Reynolds, L. P., & Ward, A. K. (2019). Moderate nutrient restriction of beef heifers alters expression of genes associated with tissue metabolism, accretion, and function in fetal liver, muscle, and cerebrum by day 50 of gestation. *Translational Animal Science*, 3(2), 855–866. https://doi.org/10.1093/tas/txz026

- Cyr, A. R., & Domann, F. E. (2011). The redox basis of epigenetic modifications: From mechanisms to functional consequences. *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling*, 15(2), 551–589. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2010.3492
- Davis, C. D., Uthus, E. O., & Finley, J. W. (2000). Dietary selenium and arsenic affect DNA methylation in vitro in Caco-2 cells and in vivo in rat liver and colon. *Journal of Nutrition*, *130*(12), 2903–2909. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/130.12.2903
- Davis, T. A., & Fiorotto, M. L. (2009). Regulation of muscle growth in neonates. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, *12*(1), 78–85. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO.0b013e32831cef9f
- De Las Heras-Saldana, S., Chung, K. Y., Lee, S. H., & Gondro, C. (2019). Gene expression of Hanwoo satellite cell differentiation in longissimus dorsi and semimembranosus. *BMC Genomics*, 20(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-019-5530-7
- Delcuve, G. P., Rastegar, M., & Davie, J. R. (2009). Epigenetic control. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 219(2), 243–250. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.21678
- Deshpande, S., Nair, S., & Balasinor, N. H. (2021). Chapter 2 Genomic imprinting. In Epigenetics and Reproductive Health. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819753-0.00002-7
- Devos, J., Behrouzi, A., Paradis, F., Straathof, C., Li, C., Colazo, M., Block, H., & Fitzsimmons, C. (2021). Genetic potential for residual feed intake and diet fed during early- to midgestation influences post-natal DNA methylation of imprinted genes in muscle and liver tissues in beef cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, 99(5). https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skab140
- Dhakal, K., Maltecca, C., Cassady, J. P., Baloche, G., Williams, C. M., & Washburn, S. P. (2013). Calf birth weight, gestation length, calving ease, and neonatal calf mortality in Holstein, Jersey, and crossbred cows in a pasture system. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 96(1), 690–698. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2012-5817
- Dolinoy, D. C., Das, R., Weidman, J. R., & Jirtle, R. L. (2007). Metastable epialleles, imprinting, and the fetal origins of adult diseases. *Pediatric Research*, *61*(5 PART 2 SUPPL.), 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1203/pdr.0b013e31804575f7
- Donald D. McIntire, Ph.D., Steven L. Bloom, M.D., Brian M. Casey, M.D., and Kenneth J. Leveno, M. D. (1999). Birth Weight in Relation to Morbidity and Mortality among Newborn Infants.
- Downing, C., Johnson, T. E., Larson, C., Leakey, T. I., Siegfried, R. N., Rafferty, T. M., & Cooney, C. A. (2011). Subtle decreases in DNA methylation and gene expression at the mouse Igf2 locus following prenatal alcohol exposure: Effects of a methyl-supplemented diet. *Alcohol*, 45(1), 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcohol.2010.07.006
- Dreosti, I. E. (2001). Zinc and the gene. *Mutation Research Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 475(1–2), 161–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0027-5107(01)00067-7
- Du, M., Tong, J., Zhao, J., Underwood, K. R., Zhu, M., Ford, S. P., & Nathanielsz, P. W. (2010a). Fetal programming of skeletal muscle development in ruminant animals. *Journal*

of Animal Science, 88(13 Suppl). https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2009-2311

- Du, M., Tong, J., Zhao, J., Underwood, K. R., Zhu, M., Ford, S. P., & Nathanielsz, P. W. (2010b). Fetal programming of skeletal muscle development in ruminant animals. *Journal* of Animal Science, 88(13 Suppl). https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2009-2311
- Du, M., Zhao, J. X., Yan, X., Huang, Y., Nicodemus, L. V., Yue, W., Mccormick, R. J., & Zhu, M. J. (2011). Fetal muscle development, mesenchymal multipotent cell differentiation, and associated signaling pathways. *Journal of Animal Science*, 89(2), 583–590. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2010-3386
- Du, M., & Zhu, M. (2009). Fetal programming of skeletal muscle development. Applied Muscle Biology and Meat Science, 81–96. https://doi.org/10.1201/b15797-8
- Duarte, M. S., Gionbelli, M. P., Paulino, P. V. R., Serão, N. V. L., Martins, T. S., Tótaro, P. I. S., Neves, C. A., Valadares Filho, S. C., Dodson, M. V., Zhu, M., & Du, M. (2013). Effects of maternal nutrition on development of gastrointestinal tract of bovine fetus at different stages of gestation. *Livestock Science*, 153(1–3), 60–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2013.01.006
- Dunlap, K. A., Brown, J. D., Keith, A. B., & Satterfield, M. C. (2015). Factors controlling nutrient availability to the developing fetus in ruminants. *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology*, 6(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-015-0012-5
- Dwyer, C. M., Madgwick, A. J., Crook, A. R., & Stickland, N. C. (1992). The effect of maternal undernutrition on the growth and development of the guinea pig placenta. *Journal of Developmental Physiology*, 18(6), 295—302. http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/1307381
- Dwyer, C. M., Stickland, N. C., & Fletcher, J. M. (1994). The influence of maternal nutrition on muscle fiber number development in the porcine fetus and on subsequent postnatal growth. *Journal of Animal Science*, 72(4), 911–917. https://doi.org/10.2527/1994.724911x
- Eley, R. M., Thatcher, W. W., Bazer, F. W., Wilcox, C. J., Becker, R. B., Head, H. H., & Adkinson, R. W. (1978). Development of the Conceptus in the Bovine. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 61(4), 467–473. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(78)83622-4
- Elolimy, A. A., Abdelmegeid, M. K., McCann, J. C., Shike, D. W., & Loor, J. J. (2018).
  Residual feed intake in beef cattle and its association with carcass traits, ruminal solid-fraction bacteria, and epithelium gene expression. *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology*, 9(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-018-0283-8
- Enk, T. A., Picton, H. D., & Williams, J. S. (2001). Factors limiting a bighorn sheep population in Montana following a dieoff. *Northwest Science*, 75(3), 280–291.
- Esteller, M. (2008). Epigenetics in Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine, 358(11), 1148–1159. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra072067
- Everitt, G. C. (1964). Maternal Undernutrition and Retarded Fœtal Development in Merino Sheep. *Nature*, 201(4926), 1341–1342. https://doi.org/10.1038/2011341a0
- Fahey, A. J., Brameld, J. M., Parr, T., & Buttery, P. J. (2005). The effect of maternal undernutrition before muscle differentiation on the muscle fiber development of the

newborn lamb. *Journal of Animal Science*, *83*(11), 2564–2571. https://doi.org/10.2527/2005.83112564x

- Fan, S., & Chi, W. (2016). Methods for genome-wide DNA methylation analysis in human cancer. *Briefings in Functional Genomics*, 15(6), 432–442. https://doi.org/10.1093/bfgp/elw010
- Fan, Y. X., Wang, Z., Ren, C. F., Ma, T. W., Deng, K. P., Feng, X., Li, F. Z., Wang, F., & Zhang, Y. L. (2018). Effect of dietary energy restriction and subsequent compensatory feeding on testicular transcriptome in developing rams. *Theriogenology*, *119*, 198–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2018.06.028
- Ferrell, C. L., & Ferrell, C. L. (1993). Factors Influencing Fetal Growth and Birth Weight in Cattle.
- Fleming-Waddell, J. N., Wilson, L. M., Olbricht, G. R., Vuocolo, T., Byrne, K., Craig, B. A., Tellam, R. L., Cockett, N. E., & Bidwell, C. A. (2007). Analysis of gene expression during the onset of muscle hypertrophy in callipyge lambs. *Animal Genetics*, 38(1), 28–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2052.2006.01562.x
- Fontoura, A. B. P., Montanholi, Y. R., Diel De Amorim, M., Foster, R. A., Chenier, T., & Miller, S. P. (2016). Associations between feed efficiency, sexual maturity and fertility-related measures in young beef bulls. *Animal*, 10(1), 96–105. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731115001925

Foroutan, A. (2020). Application of Multi-Omics Approaches to Maximize Beef Production.

- Foroutan, A., Devos, J., Wishart, D. S., Li, C., Colazo, M., Kastelic, J., Thundathil, J., & Fitzsimmons, C. (2021). Impact of prenatal maternal nutrition and parental residual feed intake (RFI) on mRNA abundance of metabolic drivers of growth and development in young Angus bulls. *Livestock Science*, 243(December 2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2020.104365
- Fowden, A. L. (2003). The insulin-like growth factors and feto-placental growth. *Placenta*, 24(8–9), 803–812. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0143-4004(03)00080-8
- Fowden, A. L., Giussani, D. A., & Forhead, A. J. (2005). Endocrine and metabolic programming during intrauterine development. *Early Human Development*, 81(9), 723–734. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2005.06.007
- Fowden, A. L., Li, J., & Forhead, A. J. (1998). Glucocorticoids and the preparation for life after birth: are there long-term consequences of the life insurance? *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 57(01), 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1079/pns19980017
- Fowden, A. L., Ralph, M. M., & Silver, M. (1994). Nutritional regulation of uteroplacental prostaglandin production and metabolism in pregnant ewes and mares during late gestation. *Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology and Diabetes*, 102(3), 212–221. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0029-1211285
- Foxcroft, G. R., Dixon, W. T., Novak, S., Putman, C. T., Town, S. C., & Vinsky, M. D. (2006). The biological basis for prenatal programming of postnatal performance in pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 84 Suppl, 105–112. https://doi.org/10.2527/2006.8413\_supplE105x

- Fraga, M. F., & Esteller, M. (2002). DNA methylation: A profile of methods and applications. *BioTechniques*, 33(3), 632–649. https://doi.org/10.2144/02333rv01
- Funston, R. N., Larson, D. M., & Vonnahme, K. A. (2010). Effects of maternal nutrition on conceptus growth and offspring performance: implications for beef cattle production. *Journal of Animal Science*, 88(13 Suppl), 205–215. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2009-2351
- Funston, R. N., & Summers, A. F. (2013). Epigenetics: Setting Up Lifetime Production of Beef Cows by Managing Nutrition. *Annual Review of Animal Biosciences*, 1(1), 339–363. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-animal-031412-103649
- Gaunt, T. R., Cooper, J. A., Miller, G. J., Day, I. N. M., & O'Dell, S. D. (2001). Positive associations between single nucleotide polymorphisms in the IGF2 gene region and body mass index in adult males. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 10(14), 1491–1501. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/10.14.1491
- Gauvin, M. C., Pillai, S. M., Reed, S. A., Stevens, J. R., Hoffman, M. L., Jones, A. K., Zinn, S. A., & Govoni, K. E. (2020). Poor maternal nutrition during gestation in sheep alters prenatal muscle growth and development in offspring. *Journal of Animal Science*, 98(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skz388
- Ghanipoor-Samami, M., Javadmanesh, A., Burns, B. M., Thomsen, D. A., Nattrass, G. S., Estrella, C. A. S., Kind, K. L., & Hiendleder, S. (2018). Atlas of tissue- and developmental stage specific gene expression for the bovine insulin-like growth factor (IGF) system. *PLoS ONE*, 13(7), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200466
- Gicquel, C., El-Osta, A., & Le Bouc, Y. (2008). Epigenetic regulation and fetal programming. Best Practice and Research in Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 22(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beem.2007.07.009
- Gicquel, C., & Le Bouc, Y. (2006). Hormonal Regulation of Fetal Growth. *Hormone Research in Paediatrics*, 65(suppl 3(Suppl. 3), 28–33. https://doi.org/10.1159/000091503
- Gluckman, P. D., Sizonenko, S. V, & Bassett, N. S. (1999). The transition from fetus to neonate an endocrine perspective. *Acta Paediatrica*, 88(s428), 5–11. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.1999.tb14344.x
- Gondret, F., Lefaucheur, L., Louveau, I., & Lebret, B. (2005). The long-term influences of birth weight on muscle characteristics and eating meat quality in pigs individually reared and fed during fattening. *Archiv Fur Tierzucht*, *48*(SPEC. ISS.), 68–73.
- Gopalakrishnan, G. S., Gardner, D. S., Rhind, S. M., Rae, M. T., Kyle, C. E., Brooks, A. N., Walker, R. M., Ramsay, M. M., Keisler, D. H., Stephenson, T., & Symonds, M. E. (2004). Programming of adult cardiovascular function after early maternal undemutrition in sheep. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 287(1 56-1), 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00687.2003
- Gosden, R., Trasler, J., Lucifero, D., & Faddy, M. (2003). Rare congenital disorders, imprinted genes, and assisted reproductive technology. *Lancet*, *361*(9373), 1975–1977. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13592-1

Gossett, L. A., Kelvin, D. J., Sternberg, E. A., & Olson, E. N. (1989). A new myocyte-specific

enhancer-binding factor that recognizes a conserved element associated with multiple muscle-specific genes. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 9(11), 5022–5033. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.9.11.5022

- Grant, R. J., & Albright, J. L. (2001). Effect of Animal Grouping on Feeding Behavior and Intake of Dairy Cattle. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 84, E156–E163. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.s0022-0302(01)70210-x
- Greenwood, P., Clayton, E., & Bell, A. (2017). Developmental programming and beef production. *Animal Frontiers*, 7(3), 38–47. https://doi.org/10.2527/af.2017-0127
- Greenwood, P. L. (2021). Review: An overview of beef production from pasture and feedlot globally, as demand for beef and the need for sustainable practices increase. *Animal*, *xxxx*, 100295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.animal.2021.100295
- Greenwood, P. L., & Bell, A. W. (2003). Consequences of intra-uterine growth retardation for postnatal growth, metabolism and pathophysiology. *Reproduction (Cambridge, England) Supplement*, *61*, 195–206.
- Greenwood, P. L., & Bell, A. W. (2019). Developmental Programming and Growth of Livestock Tissues for Meat Production. *Veterinary Clinics of North America - Food Animal Practice*, 35(2), 303–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvfa.2019.02.008
- Greenwood, P. L., Bell, A. W., Vercoe, P. E., & Viljoen, G. J. (2010). Managing the prenatal environment to enhance livestock productivity. In *Managing the Prenatal Environment to Enhance Livestock Productivity* (Issue May 2014). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-3135-8
- Greenwood, P. L., & Cafe, L. M. (2007). Prenatal and pre-weaning growth and nutrition of cattle: Long-term consequences for beef production. *Animal*, 1(9), 1283–1296. https://doi.org/10.1017/S175173110700050X
- Greenwood, P. L., Cafe, L. M., Hearnshaw, H., & Hennessy, D. W. (2005). Consequences of nutrition and growth retardation early in life for growth and composition of cattle and eating quality of beef. *Recent Advances in Animal Nutrition in Australia*, 15(October 2016), 183– 196.
- Greenwood, P. L., Cafe, L. M., Hearnshaw, H., Hennessy, D. W., Thompson, J. M., & Morris, S. G. (2006). Long-term consequences of birth weight and growth to weaning on carcass, yield and beef quality characteristics of Piedmontese- and Wagyu-sired cattle. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 46(2), 257–269. https://doi.org/10.1071/EA05240
- Greenwood, P. L., Hunt, A. S., Hermanson, J. W., & Bell, A. W. (1998). Effects of Birth Weight and Postnatal Nutrition on Neonatal Sheep: I. Body Growth and Composition, and Some Aspects of Energetic Efficiency. *Journal of Animal Science*, 76(9), 2354–2367. https://doi.org/10.2527/1998.7692354x
- Greenwood, P. L., Hunt, A. S., Hermanson, J. W., & Bell, A. W. (2000). Effects of birth weight and postnatal nutrition on neonatal sheep: II. Skeletal muscle growth and development. *Journal of Animal Science*, 78(1), 50–61. https://doi.org/10.2527/2000.78150x

Griswold, M. D. (1998). The central role of Sertoli cells in spermatogenesis. Seminars in Cell

and Developmental Biology, 9(4), 411-416. https://doi.org/10.1006/scdb.1998.0203

- Hafl, A. N., Lancaster, P. A., Carstens, G. E., Forrest, D. W., Fox, J. T., Forbes, T. D. A., Davis, M. E., Randel, R. D., & Holloway, J. W. (2012). Relationships between feed efficiency, scrotal circumference, and semen quality traits in yearling bulls. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90(11), 3937–3944. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2011-4029
- Hafla, A. N., Carstens, G. E., Forbes, T. D. A., Tedeschi, L. O., Bailey, J. C., Walter, J. T., & Johnson, J. R. (2013). Relationships between postweaning residual feed intake in heifers and forage use, body composition, feeding behavior, physical activity, and heart rate of pregnant beef females. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91(11), 5353–5365. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2013-6423
- Hagger, C. (1994). Relationships Between Income Minus Feed Cost and Residual Feed Consumption in Laying Hens. *Poultry Science*, 73(8), 1341–1344. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps.0731341
- Halliwell, B. (2001). Vitamin C and genomic stability. *Mutation Research Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 475(1–2), 29–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0027-5107(01)00072-0
- Hamasaki, M., Furuta, N., Matsuda, A., Nezu, A., Yamamoto, A., Fujita, N., Oomori, H., Noda, T., Haraguchi, T., Hiraoka, Y., Amano, A., & Yoshimori, T. (2013). Autophagosomes form at ER-mitochondria contact sites. *Nature*, 495(7441), 389–393. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11910
- Harding, J. E., Derraik, J. G., & Bloomfield, F. H. (2010). Maternal undernutrition and endocrine development. *Expert Review of Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 5(2), 297–312. https://doi.org/10.1586/eem.09.62
- Hattersley, A. T., & Tooke, J. E. (1999). The fetal insulin hypothesis: An alternative explanation of the association of low birthweight with diabetes and vascular disease. *Lancet*, *353*(9166), 1789–1792. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(98)07546-1
- Hayatsu, H., Wataya, Y., & Kai, K. (1970). Addition of sodium bisulfite to uracil and to cytosine. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *92*(3), 724–726. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja00706a062
- Heasman, L., Clarke, L., Firth, K., Stephenson, T., & Symonds, M. E. (1998). Influence of Restricted Maternal Nutrition in Early to Mid Gestation on Placental and Fetal Development at Term in Sheep. *Pediatric Research*, 44(4), 546–551. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-199810000-00013
- Heijmans, B. T., Tobi, E. W., Stein, A. D., Putter, H., Blauw, G. J., Susser, E. S., Slagboom, P. E., & Lumey, L. H. (2008). Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105(44), 17046–17049. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0806560105
- Herault, F., Vincent, A., Dameron, O., Le Roy, P., Cherel, P., & Damon, M. (2014). The Longissimus and Semimembranosus muscles display marked differences in their gene expression profiles in pig. *PLoS ONE*, 9(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096491

- Herd, R. M., Archer, J. A., Arthur, P. F., Richardson, E. C., Wright, J. H., Dibley, K. C. P., & Burton, D. A. (1997). Performance of progeny of high vs. low net feed conversion efficiency cattle. *Proceedings of the Association for the Advancement of Animal Breeding* and Genetics, 12, 742–745.
- Hermann, A., Gowher, H., & Jeltsch, A. (2004). Biochemistry and biology of mammalian DNA methyltransferases. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 61(19–20), 2571–2587. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-004-4201-1
- Heude, B., Ong, K. K., Luben, R., Wareham, N. J., & Sandhu, M. S. (2007). Study of association between common variation in the insulin-like growth factor 2 gene and indices of obesity and body size in middle-aged men and women. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 92(7), 2734–2738. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2006-1948
- Hirasawa, R., Chiba, H., Kaneda, M., Tajima, S., Li, E., Jaenisch, R., & Sasaki, H. (2008). Maternal and zygotic Dnmt1 are necessary and sufficient for the maintenance of DNA methylation imprints during preimplantation development. *Genes and Development*, 22(12), 1607–1616. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1667008
- Hoffman, F., Boretto, E., Vitale, S., Gonzalez, V., Vidal, G., Pardo, M. F., Flores, M. F., Garcia, F., Bagnis, G., Queiroz, O. C. M., & Rabaglino, M. B. (2018). Maternal nutritional restriction during late gestation impairs development of the reproductive organs in both male and female lambs. *Theriogenology*, *108*, 331–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2017.12.023
- Hoffman, M. L., Reed, S. A., Pillai, S. M., Jones, A. K., McFadden, K. K., Zinn, S. A., & Govoni, K. E. (2017). Physiology and endocrinology symposium: The effects of poor maternal nutrition during gestation on offspring postnatal growth and metabolism. *Journal* of Animal Science, 95(5), 2222–2232. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas2016.1229
- Hogan, B. L. M., & Zaret, K. S. (2002). Development of the Endoderm and Its Tissue Derivatives. *Mouse Development*, 301–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-012597951-1/50019-6
- Hoque, M. A., & Suzuki, K. (2009). Genetics of residual feed intake in cattle and pigs: A review. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences, 22(5), 747–755. https://doi.org/10.5713/ajas.2009.80467
- Hornick, J. L., Van Eenaeme, C., Gérard, O., Dufrasne, I., & Istasse, L. (2000). Mechanisms of reduced and compensatory growth. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology*, 19(2), 121–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0739-7240(00)00072-2
- Houghton, P. L., Lemenager, R. P., Horstman, L. A., Hendrix, K. S., & Moss, G. E. (1990). Effects of body composition, pre- and postpartum energy level and early weaning on reproductive performance of beef cows and preweaning calf gain. *Journal of Animal Science*, 68(5), 1438–1446. https://doi.org/10.2527/1990.6851438x
- Houssin, Y., & Davicco, M. J. (1979). Influence of birthweight on the digestibility of a milk-replacer in newborn-lambs. *Annales de Recherches Veterinaires*, 10(2–3), 419–421.
- Hsu, F. M., Clark, A., & Chen, P. Y. (2015). Epigenetic reprogramming in the mammalian

germline. Oncotarget, 6(34), 35151-35152. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.6206

- Hsu, P. P., Kang, S. A., Rameseder, J., Zhang, Y., Ottina, K. A., Lim, D., Peterson, T. R., Choi, Y., Gray, N. S., Yaffe, M. B., Marto, J. A., & Sabatini, D. M. (2011). The mTOR-regulated phosphoproteome reveals a mechanism of mTORC1-mediated inhibition of growth factor signaling. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 332(6035), 1317–1322. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1199498
- Huang, Y.-Z., Sun, J.-J., Zhang, L.-Z., Li, C.-J., Womack, J. E., Li, Z.-J., Lan, X.-Y., Lei, C.-Z., Zhang, C.-L., Zhao, X., & Chen, H. (2014). Genome-wide DNA methylation profiles and their relationships with mRNA and the microRNA transcriptome in bovine muscle tissue (Bos taurine). *Scientific Reports*, 4, 6546. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep06546
- Huang, Y., Pastor, W. A., Shen, Y., Tahiliani, M., Liu, D. R., & Rao, A. (2010). The behaviour of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in bisulfite sequencing. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0008888
- Hyatt, M. A., Budge, H., & Symonds, M. E. (2008). Early developmental influences on hepatic organogenesis. *Organogenesis*, 4(3), 170–175. https://doi.org/10.4161/org.4.3.6849
- Ithurralde, J., Genovese, P., Abud, M. J., López-Pérez, Á., Pérez-Clariget, R., & Bielli, A. (2020). Maternal undernutrition affects secondary myogenesis in a muscle-dependent way across the major muscles of 70-day old ovine fetuses. *Small Ruminant Research*, *191*(June), 106174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2020.106174
- J.M., W., R.P., A., & M.A., C. (1996). Nutrient partitioning and fetal growth in rapidly growing adolescent ewes. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility*, 107(2), 183–190. http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L2633371 1%0Ahttp://dx.doi.org/10.1530/jrf.0.1070183
- Jaenisch, R., & Bird, A. (2003). Epigenetic regulation of gene expression: How the genome integrates intrinsic and environmental signals. *Nature Genetics*, *33*(3S), 245–254. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1089
- Janitz, K., & Janitz, M. (2010). Assessing Epigenetic Information. In Handbook of Epigenetics: The New Molecular and Medical Genetics (First Edit). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-375709-8.00012-5
- Jin, S., Lee, Y. K., Lim, Y. C., Zheng, Z., Lin, X. M., Ng, D. P. Y., Holbrook, J. D., Law, H. Y., Kwek, K. Y. C., Yeo, G. S. H., & Ding, C. (2013). *Global DNA Hypermethylation in Down Syndrome Placenta*. 9(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003515
- Johnson, C., Fitzsimmons, C., Colazo, M., Li, C., Kastelic, J., & Thundathil, J. (2019). Impacts of residual feed intake and prenatal diet on reproductive potential of bulls. *Animal Production Science*, 59(10), 1827–1836. https://doi.org/10.1071/AN18301
- Johnson, C., Fitzsimmons, C., Kovalchuk, I., Kastelic, J., & Thundathil, J. (2020). Testis-specific changes in gene expression of post-pubertal beef bulls divergent for residual feed intake and exposure to different prenatal diets. *Animal Production Science*, *60*(12), 1491–1502. https://doi.org/10.1071/AN19524
- Juszczuk-Kubiak, E., Starzyński, R. R., Wicińska, K., & Flisikowski, K. (2012). Promoter

variant-dependent mRNA expression of the MEF2A in longissimus dorsi muscle in cattle. *DNA and Cell Biology*, *31*(6), 1131–1135. https://doi.org/10.1089/dna.2011.1533

- Karunaratne, J. F., Ashton, C. J., & Stickland, N. C. (2005). Fetal programming of fat and collagen in porcine skeletal muscles. *Journal of Anatomy*, 207(6), 763–768. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7580.2005.00494.x
- Kass, S. U., Pruss, D., & Wolffe, A. P. (1997). How does DNA methylation repress transcription? *Trends in Genetics*, *13*(11), 444–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-9525(97)01268-7
- Kelly, A. K., McGee, M., Crews Jr., D. H., Fahey, A. G., Wylie, A. R., & Kenny, D. A. (2010). Effect of divergence in residual feed intake on feeding behavior, blood metabolic variables, and body composition traits in growing beef heifers. *Journal of Animal Science*, 88(1), 109– 123. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2009-2196
- Kerr, J. C., & Cameron, N. D. (1995). Reproductive performance of pigs selected for components of efficient lean growth. *Animal Science*, 60(2), 281–290. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1357729800008444
- Khanal, P., Husted, S. V., Axel, A. M. D., Johnsen, L., Pedersen, K. L., Mortensen, M. S., Kongsted, A. H., & Nielsen, M. O. (2014). Late gestation over- and undernutrition predispose for visceral adiposity in response to a post-natal obesogenic diet, but with differential impacts on glucose-insulin adaptations during fasting in lambs. *Acta Physiologica*, 210(1), 110–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/apha.12129
- Khanal, P., & Nielsen, M. O. (2017). Impacts of prenatal nutrition on animal production and performance: A focus on growth and metabolic and endocrine function in sheep. *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology*, 8(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-017-0205-1
- Kim, K. chol, Friso, S., & Choi, S. W. (2009). DNA methylation, an epigenetic mechanism connecting folate to healthy embryonic development and aging. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 20(12), 917–926. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2009.06.008
- Knight, J. B., Eyster, C. A., Griesel, B. A., & Olson, A. L. (2003). Regulation of the human GLUT4 gene promoter: Interaction between a transcriptional activator and myocyte enhancer factor 2A. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 100(25), 14725–14730. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2432756100
- Koch, R. M., Swiger, L. A., Chambers, D., & Gregory, K. E. (1963). Efficiency of Feed Use in Beef Cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, 22(2), 486–494. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1963.222486x
- Kotsampasi, B., Chadio, S., Papadomichelakis, G., Deligeorgis, S., Kalogiannis, D., Menegatos, I., & Zervas, G. (2009). Effects of maternal undernutrition on the hypothalamic-pituitarygonadal axis function in female sheep offspring. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals*, 44(4), 677–684. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0531.2007.01046.x
- Kowalski, L. H., Fernandes, S. R., DiLorenzo, N., Moletta, J. L., Rossi, P., & de Freitas, J. A. (2017). Residual feed intake and reproductive traits of growing Purunã bulls. *Journal of Animal Science*, 95(2), 930–938. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2016.0888

- Krishnakumar, S., Whiteside, D. P., Elkin, B., & Thundathil, J. C. (2011). Evaluation of an animal protein-free semen extender for cryopreservation of epididymal sperm from North American bison (Bison bison). *Theriogenology*, 76(2), 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2011.02.001
- Kuramoto, N., Nomura, K., Kohno, D., Kitamura, T., Karsenty, G., Hosooka, T., & Ogawa, W. (2021). Role of PDK1 in skeletal muscle hypertrophy induced by mechanical load. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-83098-z
- Kurdyukov, S., & Bullock, M. (2016). DNA methylation analysis: Choosing the right method. *Biology*, 5(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology5010003
- Laird, P. W. (2010). Principles and challenges of genome-wide DNA methylation analysis. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *11*(3), 191–203. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2732
- Lan, X., Cretney, E. C., Kropp, J., Khateeb, K., Berg, M. A., Peñagaricano, F., Magness, R., Radunz, A. E., & Khatib, H. (2013). Maternal Diet during Pregnancy Induces Gene Expression and DNA Methylation Changes in Fetal Tissues in Sheep. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 4, 49. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2013.00049
- Larson, D. M., Martin, J. L., Adams, D. C., & Funston, R. N. (2009). Winter grazing system and supplementation during late gestation influence performance of beef cows and steer progeny. *Journal of Animal Science*, 87(3), 1147–1155. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2008-1323
- Lawrence, J. D., Mintert, J., Anderson, J. D., & Anderson, D. P. (2008). The magazine of food, farm, and resource issues Feed Grains and Livestock: Impacts on Meat Supplies and Prices. *Choices*, 23(2). http://www.choicesmagazine.org.
- Lee, H. S. (2015). Impact of maternal diet on the epigenome during in utero life and the developmental programming of diseases in childhood and adulthood. *Nutrients*, 7(11), 9492–9507. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu7115467
- LeMaster, C. T., Taylor, R. K., Ricks, R. E., & Long, N. M. (2017). The effects of late gestation maternal nutrient restriction with or without protein supplementation on endocrine regulation of newborn and postnatal beef calves. *Theriogenology*, 87, 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2016.08.004
- Li, C., Li, L., Yang, M., Zeng, L., & Sun, L. (2020). PACS-2: A key regulator of mitochondriaassociated membranes (MAMs). *Pharmacological Research*, 160(139). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2020.105080
- Li, E. (2002). Chromatin modification and epigenetic reprogramming in mammalian development. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *3*(9), 662–673. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg887
- Li, E., Beard, C., & Jaenisch, R. (1993). Role for DNA methylation in genomic imprinting. *Nature*, *366*(6453), 362–365. https://doi.org/10.1038/366362a0
- Li, X., Baker, J., Cracknell, T., Haynes, A. R., & Blanco, G. (2017). IGFN1\_v1 is required for myoblast fusion and differentiation. *PLoS ONE*, 12(6), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0180217

- Li, X., Yan, Q., Tang, S., Tan, Z., Fitzsimmons, C. J., & Yi, K. (2018). Effects of maternal feed intake restriction during pregnancy on the expression of growth regulation, imprinting and epigenetic transcription-related genes in foetal goats. *Animal Reproduction Science*, 198(September), 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anireprosci.2018.09.005
- Li, Y., Pollock, C. A., & Saad, S. (2021). Aberrant DNA Methylation Mediates the Transgenerational Risk of Metabolic and Chronic Disease Due to Maternal Obesity and Overnutrition. *Genes*, 12(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/genes12111653
- Li, Y., & Tollefsbol, T. O. (2011). DNA methylation detection: Bisulfite genomic sequencing analysis. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 791(3), 11–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61779-316-5\_2
- Li, Y., Tollefsbol, T. O., Li, S., & Chen, M. (2019). Prenatal epigenetics diets play protective roles against environmental pollution. *Clinical Epigenetics*, 11(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-019-0659-4
- Liesa, M., & Shirihai, O. S. (2013). Mitochondrial dynamics in the regulation of nutrient utilization and energy expenditure. *Cell Metabolism*, *17*(4), 491–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.002
- Lillycrop, K. A., Phillips, E. S., Jackson, A. A., Hanson, M. A., & Burdge, G. C. (2005). Dietary protein restriction of pregnant rats induces and folic acid supplementation prevents epigenetic modification of hepatic gene expression in the offspring. *Journal of Nutrition*, 135(6), 1382–1386. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/135.6.1382
- Lillycrop, K. A., Phillips, E. S., Torrens, C., Hanson, M. A., Jackson, A. A., & Burdge, G. C. (2008). Feeding pregnant rats a protein-restricted diet persistently alters the methylation of specific cytosines in the hepatic PPARα promoter of the offspring. In *British Journal of Nutrition* (Vol. 100, Issue 2, pp. 278–282). https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114507894438
- Lim, D. H. K., & Maher, E. R. (2010). Genomic imprinting syndromes and cancer. In Advances in Genetics (1st ed., Vol. 70, Issue C). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-380866-0.60006-X
- Lin, Y., Xu, X. Y., Wu, D., Lin, H., Fang, Z. F., Feng, B., Xu, S. Y., Che, L. Q., Li, J., Zhuo, Y., Wu, C. M., Zhang, J. J., & Dong, H. J. (2019). Maternal energy insufficiency affects testicular development of the offspring in a swine model. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-51041-y
- Liu, F., Pore, N., Kim, M., Voong, K. R., Dowling, M., Maity, A., & Kao, G. D. (2006). Regulation of histone deacetylase 4 expression by the SP family of transcription factors. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 17(2), 585–597. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e05-08-0775
- Liu, P., Che, L., Yang, Z., Feng, B., Che, L., Xu, S., Lin, Y., Fang, Z., Li, J., & Wu, D. (2016). A maternal high-energy diet promotes intestinal development and intrauterine growth of offspring. *Nutrients*, 8(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8050258
- Liu, S., Chen, S., Cai, W., Yin, H., Liu, A., Li, Y., Liu, G. E., Wang, Y., Yu, Y., & Zhang, S. (2019). Divergence analyses of sperm dna methylomes between monozygotic twin ai bulls. *Epigenomes*, 3(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/epigenomes3040021

- Liu, Y. Y., Kogai, T., Schultz, J. J., Mody, K., & Brent, G. A. (2012). Thyroid hormone receptor isoform-specific modification by small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) modulates thyroid hormone-dependent gene regulation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(43), 36499– 36508. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.344317
- Long, N. M., Prado-Cooper, M. J., Krehbiel, C. R., Desilva, U., & Wettemann, R. P. (2010). Effects of nutrient restriction of bovine dams during early gestation on postnatal growth, carcass and organ characteristics, and gene expression in adipose tissue and muscle. *Journal* of Animal Science, 88(10), 3251–3261. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2009-2512
- Long, N. M., Prado-Cooper, M. J., Krehbiel, C. R., & Wettemann, R. P. (2010). Effects of nutrient restriction of bovine dams during early gestation on postnatal growth and regulation of plasma glucose. *Journal of Animal Science*, 88(10), 3262–3268. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2010-3214
- Long, N. M., Tousley, C. B., Underwood, K. R., Paisley, S. I., Means, W. J., Hess, B. W., Du, M., & Ford, S. P. (2012). Effects of early- to mid-gestational undernutrition with or without protein supplementation on offspring growth, carcass characteristics, and adipocyte size in beef cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90(1), 197–206. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2011-4237
- Long, N. M., Vonnahme, K. A., Hess, B. W., Nathanielsz, P. W., & Ford, S. P. (2009). Effects of early gestational undernutrition on fetal growth, organ development, and placentomal composition in the bovine. *Journal of Animal Science*, 87(6), 1950–1959. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2008-1672
- Loor, J. J., Dann, H. M., Everts, R. E., Oliveira, R., Green, C. A., Janovick Guretzky, N. A., Rodriguez-Zas, S. L., Lewin, H. A., & Drackley, J. K. (2005). Temporal gene expression profiling of liver from periparturient dairy cows reveals complex adaptive mechanisms in hepatic function. *Physiological Genomics*, 23(2), 217–226. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiolgenomics.00132.2005
- Lorenzo, M., Valverde, A. M., Teruel, T., & Benito, M. (1993). IGF-I is a mitogen involved in differentiation-related gene expression in fetal rat brown adipocytes. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 123(6 I), 1567–1575. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.123.6.1567
- Lucas, A. (1998). Symposium : The Effects of Childhood Diet on Adult Health and Disease -Programming by Early Nutrition: An Experimental Approach. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 407–410.
- M. A. Surani, H. Sasaki, A. C. Ferguson-Smith, N. D. Allen, S. C. Barton, P. A. J. and W. R. (1993). The inheritance of germline-specific epigenetic modifications during development. *Balancing the Secrets of Private Disclosures*, 153–164. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1993.0013
- M. T. Hochereau-de Reviers, C. Perreau, C. Pisselet, A. L. and M. B. (1995). Ontogenesis of somatic and germ cells in sheep fetal testis. *Pituitary*, 103(1), 41–46. https://doi.org/10.1530/jrf.0.1030041
- Makinistoglu, M. P., & Karsenty, G. (2015). The class II histone deacetylase HDAC4 regulates cognitive, metabolic and endocrine functions through its expression in osteoblasts.
Molecular Metabolism, 4(1), 64-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2014.10.004

- Manning, J., & Vehaskari, V. M. (2001). Low birth weight-associated adult hypertension in the rat. *Pediatric Nephrology*, 16(5), 417–422. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004670000560
- Mansego, M. L., Milagro, F. I., Campión, J., & Martínez, J. A. (2013). Techniques of DNA methylation analysis with nutritional applications. *Journal of Nutrigenetics and Nutrigenomics*, 6(2), 83–96. https://doi.org/10.1159/000350749
- Mansilla, F., Dominguez, C. A. G., Yeadon, J. E., Corydon, T. J., Burden, S. J., & Knudsen, C. R. (2008). Translation elongation factor eEF1A binds to a novel myosin binding protein-C-like protein. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 105(3), 847–858. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.21880
- Mao, F., Chen, L., Vinsky, M., Okine, E., Wang, Z., Basarab, J., Crews, D. H. J., & Li, C. (2013). Phenotypic and genetic relationships of feed efficiency with growth performance, ultrasound, and carcass merit traits in Angus and Charolais steers. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91(5), 2067–2076. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2012-5470
- Marchitti, S. A., Brocker, C., Orlicky, D. J., & Vasiliou, V. (2010). Molecular characterization, expression analysis, and role of ALDH3B1 in the cellular protection against oxidative stress. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 49(9), 1432–1443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.08.004
- Marchitti, S. A., Orlicky, D. J., & Vasiliou, V. (2007). Expression and initial characterization of human ALDH3B1. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 356(3), 792– 798. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.03.046
- Marciniak, A., Patro-Małysza, J., Kimber-Trojnar, Ż., Marciniak, B., Oleszczuk, J., & Leszczyńska-Gorzelak, B. (2017). Fetal programming of the metabolic syndrome. *Taiwanese Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 56(2), 133–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tjog.2017.01.001
- Marques, C. J., Carvalho, F., Sousa, M., & Barros, A. (2004). Genomic imprinting in disruptive spermatogenesis. *Lancet (London, England)*, 363(9422), 1700–1702. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16256-9
- Martin, J. L., Vonnahme, K. A., Adams, D. C., Lardy, G. P., & Funston, R. N. (2007). Effects of dam nutrition on growth and reproductive performance of heifer calves. *Journal of Animal Science*, 85(3), 841–847. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2006-337
- Maruta, H., & Yamashita, H. (2020). Acetic acid stimulates G-protein-coupled receptor GPR43 and induces intracellular calcium influx in L6 myotube cells. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(9 September), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0239428
- Matias, A., Silva, S., & Blickstein, I. (2020). Mechanisms of discordance in monozygotic twins: why and when? In *Developmental and Fetal Origins of Differences in Monozygotic Twins*. INC. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-820047-6.00003-5
- McCoard, S. A., McNabb, W. C., Birtles, M. J., Harris, P. M., McCutcheon, S. N., & Peterson, S. W. (2001). Immunohistochemical Detection of Myogenic Cells in Muscles of Fetal and Neonatal Lambs. *Cells Tissues Organs*, 169(1), 21–33. https://doi.org/10.1159/000047857

Mccoski, S., Bradbery, A., Marques, S., Posbergh, C., & Sanford, C. (2021). Male Progeny.

- McGrath, J., & Solter, D. (1984). Completion of mouse embryogenesis requires both the maternal and paternal genomes. *Cell*, *37*(1), 179–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(84)90313-1
- McMillen, I. C., & Robinson, J. S. (2005). Developmental origins of the metabolic syndrome: Prediction, plasticity, and programming. *Physiological Reviews*, 85(2), 571–633. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00053.2003
- Meale, S. J., Ruiz-Sanchez, A. L., Dervishi, E., Roy, B. C., Paradis, F., Juárez, M., Aalhus, J., López-Campos, Ó., Das, C., Li, C., Block, H., Colazo, M. G., Straathof, C., Bruce, H. L., & Fitzsimmons, C. (2021). Impact of genetic potential for residual feed intake and diet fed during early- to mid-gestation in beef heifers on carcass characteristics and meat quality attributes of their castrated male offspring. *Meat Science*, 182, 108637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2021.108637
- Meyer, A. M., Reed, J. J., Vonnahme, K. A., Soto-Navarro, S. A., Reynolds, L. P., Ford, S. P., Hess, B. W., & Caton, J. S. (2010). Effects of stage of gestation and nutrient restriction during early to mid-gestation on maternal and fetal visceral organ mass and indices of jejunal growth and vascularity in beef cows. *Journal of Animal Science*, 88(7), 2410–2424. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2009-2220
- Mi, J., Law, C., Zhang, K., Osmond, C., Stein, C., & Barker, D. (2000). Effects of Infant Birthweight and Maternal Body Mass Index in Pregnancy on Components of the Insulin Resistance Syndrome in China. 132(4), 253–260.
- Micke, G. C., Sullivan, T. M., Soares Magalhaes, R. J., Rolls, P. J., Norman, S. T., & Perry, V. E. A. (2010). Heifer nutrition during early- and mid-pregnancy alters fetal growth trajectory and birth weight. *Animal Reproduction Science*, 117(1–2), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anireprosci.2009.03.010
- Miller, R. K. (2014). Palatability. In *Encyclopedia of Meat Sciences* (Vol. 1). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384731-7.00085-4
- Milligan, B. N., Fraser, D., & Kramer, D. L. (2002). Within-litter birth weight variation in the domestic pig and its relation to pre-weaning survival, weight gain, and variation in weaning weights. *Livestock Production Science*, 76(1–2), 181–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(02)00012-X
- Moisiadis, V. G., & Matthews, S. G. (2014a). Glucocorticoids and fetal programming part 1: Outcomes. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *10*(7), 391–402. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2014.73
- Moisiadis, V. G., & Matthews, S. G. (2014b). Glucocorticoids and fetal programming part 2: Mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *10*(7), 403–411. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2014.74
- Molina, R. D., Meschia, G., Battaglia, F. C., & Hay, W. W. (1991). Gestational maturation of placental glucose transfer capacity in sheep. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 261(3 30-3).

https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1991.261.3.r697

- Molkentin, J. D., & Olson, E. N. (1996). Combinatorial control of muscle development by basic helix-loop-helix and MADS-box transcription factors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(18), 9366–9373. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.18.9366
- Monk, M., Boubelik, M., & Lehnert, S. (1987). Temporal and regional changes in DNA methylation in the embryonic, extraembryonic and germ cell lineages during mouse embryo development. *Development*, 99(3), 371–382. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.99.3.371
- Moore, L. D., Le, T., & Fan, G. (2013). DNA methylation and its basic function. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 38(1), 23–38. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2012.112
- Mora, J. O., de Paredes, B., Wagner, M., de Navarro, L., Suescun, J., Christiansen, N., & Herrera, M. G. (1979). Nutritional supplementation and the outcome of pregnancy. I. Birth weight. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 32(2), 455–462. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/32.2.455
- Mossa, F., Carter, F., Walsh, S. W., Kenny, D. A., Smith, G. W., Ireland, J. L. H., Hildebrandt, T. B., Lonergan, P., Ireland, J. J., & Evans, A. C. O. (2013). Maternal undernutrition in cows impairs ovarian and cardiovascular systems in their offspring. *Biology of Reproduction*, 88(4), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.112.107235
- Mossa, F., Walsh, S. W., Ireland, J. J., & Evans, A. C. O. (2015). Early nutritional programming and progeny performance: Is reproductive success already set at birth? *Animal Frontiers*, 5(1), 18–24. https://doi.org/10.2527/af.2015-0004
- Murach, K. A., Englund, D. A., Dupont-Versteegden, E. E., McCarthy, J. J., & Peterson, C. A. (2018). Myonuclear domain flexibility challenges rigid assumptions on satellite cell contribution to skeletal muscle fiber hypertrophy. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 9(MAY), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00635
- Muroya, S., Zhang, Y., Kinoshita, A., Otomaru, K., Oshima, K., Gotoh, Y., Oshima, I., Sano, M., Roh, S., Oe, M., Ojima, K., & Gotoh, T. (2021). Maternal undernutrition during pregnancy alters amino acid metabolism and gene expression associated with energy metabolism and angiogenesis in fetal calf muscle. *Metabolites*, 11(9), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo11090582
- Musarò, A., McCullagh, K., Paul, A., Houghton, L., Dobrowolny, G., Molinaro, M., Barton, E. R., L Sweeney, H., & Rosenthal, N. (2001). Localized Igf-1 transgene expression sustains hypertrophy and regeneration in senescent skeletal muscle. *Nature Genetics*, 27(2), 195– 200. https://doi.org/10.1038/84839
- Myhill, N., Lynes, E. M., Nanji, J. A., Blagoveshchenskaya, A. D., Fei, H., Carmine Simmen, K., Cooper, T. J., Thomas, G., & Simmen, T. (2008). The subcellular distribution of calnexin is mediated by PACS-2. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 19(7), 2777–2788. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e07-10-0995
- NHGRI. (n.d.). *Epigenomics Fact Sheet*. https://www.genome.gov/about-genomics/fact-sheets/Epigenomics-Fact-Sheet

- Nowotschin, S., & Hadjantonakis, A. K. (2020). Guts and gastrulation: Emergence and convergence of endoderm in the mouse embryo. In *Current Topics in Developmental Biology* (1st ed., Vol. 136). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ctdb.2019.11.012
- Noya, A., Casasús, I., Ferrer, J., & Sanz, A. (2019). Long-term effects of maternal subnutrition in early pregnancy on cow-calf performance, immunological and physiological profiles during the next lactation. *Animals*, 9(11), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9110936
- Noya, A., Ripoll, G., Casasús, I., & Sanz, A. (2022). Long-term effects of early maternal undernutrition on the growth, physiological profiles, carcass and meat quality of male beef offspring. *Research in Veterinary Science*, *142*(October 2021), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2021.10.025
- OECD/FAO. (2021). OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2021–2030. In OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2021–2030. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/agr-outl-data-%0Ahttp://www.fao.org/documents/card/en/c/cb5332en
- Oksbjerg, N., Nissen, P. M., Therkildsen, M., Møller, H. S., Larsen, L. B., Andersen, M., & Young, J. F. (2013). Meat science and muscle Biology symposium: In utero nutrition related to fetal development, postnatal performance, and meat quality of pork. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91(3), 1443–1453. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2012-5849
- Olova, N., Krueger, F., Andrews, S., Oxley, D., Berrens, R. V., Branco, M. R., & Reik, W. (2018). Comparison of whole-genome bisulfite sequencing library preparation strategies identifies sources of biases affecting DNA methylation data. *Genome Biology*, 19(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-018-1408-2
- Ong, K., Kratzch, J., Kiess, W., Costello, M., Scott, C., & Dunger, D. (2015). Size at Birth and Cord Blood Levels of Insulin , Insulin- Mannose-6-Phosphate Receptor in Term Human Infants \*. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *85*(11), 4266–4269.
- Oury, F., Sumara, G., Sumara, O., Ferron, M., Chang, H., Smith, C. E., Hermo, L., Suarez, S., Roth, B. L., Ducy, P., & Karsenty, G. (2011). Endocrine regulation of male fertility by the skeleton. *Cell*, 144(5), 796–809. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.004
- Owa, C., Poulin, M., Yan, L., & Shioda, T. (2018). Technical adequacy of bisulfite sequencing and pyrosequencing for detection of mitochondrial DNA methylation: Sources and avoidance of false-positive detection. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(2), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192722
- Ozanne, S. E., Dorling, M. W., Wang, C. L., Nave, B. T., & Endocrinol, J. P. (2022). *Impaired PI 3-kinase activation in adipocytes from early growth-restricted male rats*. *Level 4*, 534– 539.
- Ozanne, S. E., Jensen, C. B., Tingey, K. J., Storgaard, H., Madsbad, S., & Vaag, A. A. (2005a). Low birthweight is associated with specific changes in muscle insulin-signalling protein expression. 547–552. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-005-1669-7
- Ozanne, S. E., Jensen, C. B., Tingey, K. J., Storgaard, H., Madsbad, S., & Vaag, A. A. (2005b). Low birthweight is associated with specific changes in muscle insulin-signalling protein expression. *Diabetologia*, 48(3), 547–552. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-005-1669-7

- Pajares, M. J., Palanca-Ballester, C., Urtasun, R., Alemany-Cosme, E., Lahoz, A., & Sandoval, J. (2021). Methods for analysis of specific DNA methylation status. *Methods*, 187(June 2020), 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2020.06.021
- Papaioannou, V. E. (2004). Early Embryonic Mesoderm Development. In *Handbook of Stem Cells* (Vol. 1). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012436643-5/50033-X
- Paradis, F., Wood, K. M., Swanson, K. C., Miller, S. P., McBride, B. W., & Fitzsimmons, C. (2017). Maternal nutrient restriction in mid-to-late gestation influences fetal mRNA expression in muscle tissues in beef cattle. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-017-4051-5
- Parr, R. A., & Williams, A. H. (1982). Nutrition of the Ewe and Embryo Growth during Early Pregnancy Investigations involving the feeding of high or low levels of rations to ewes during the first weeks of pregnancy have usually focused upon embryonic mortality (Edey a period of rapid specific. 1980, 271–276.
- Perin, P. M., & Maluf, M. (2015). Maternal recognition of pregnancy. Computational Methods for Reproductive and Developmental Toxicology, 302, 71–97. https://doi.org/10.1201/b19189
- Peter D Gluckman, Mark A Hanson, Cyrus Cooper, K. L. T. (2008). Effect of In Utero and Early-Life Conditions on Adult Health and Disease. *Bone*, 23(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra0708473.Effect
- Petersen, M. C., & Shulman, G. I. (2018). Mechanisms of insulin action and insulin resistance. *Physiological Reviews*, *98*(4), 2133–2223. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00063.2017
- Peterson, M., Gauvin, M., Pillai, S., Jones, A., McFadden, K., Cameron, K., Reed, S., Zinn, S., & Govoni, K. (2021). Maternal under-and over-nutrition during gestation causes islet hypertrophy and sex-specific changes to pancreas DNA methylation in fetal sheep. *Animals*, *11*(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11092531
- Picard, B., Lefaucheur, L., Berri, C., & Duclos, M. J. (2002). Muscle fibre ontogenesis in farm animal species. *Reproduction Nutrition Development*, 42(5), 415–431. https://doi.org/10.1051/rnd:2002035
- Pitetti, J. L., Calvel, P., Zimmermann, C., Conne, B., Papaioannou, M. D., Aubry, F., Cederroth, C. R., Urner, F., Fumel, B., Crausaz, M., Docquier, M., Herrera, P. L., Pralong, F., Germond, M., Guillou, F., Jégou, B., & Nef, S. (2013). An essential role for insulin and IGF1 receptors in regulating sertoli cell proliferation, testis size, and FSH action in mice. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 27(5), 814–827. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2012-1258
- Pitia, A. M., Uchiyama, K., Sano, H., Kinukawa, M., Minato, Y., Sasada, H., & Kohsaka, T. (2017). Functional insulin-like factor 3 (INSL3) hormone-receptor system in the testes and spermatozoa of domestic ruminants and its potential as a predictor of sire fertility. *Animal Science Journal*, 88(4), 678–690. https://doi.org/10.1111/asj.12694
- Quigley, S. P., Kleemann, D. O., Kakar, M. A., Owens, J. A., Nattrass, G. S., Maddocks, S., & Walker, S. K. (2005). Myogenesis in sheep is altered by maternal feed intake during the peri-conception period. *Animal Reproduction Science*, 87(3–4), 241–251.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anireprosci.2004.11.005

- Quiniou, N., Dagorn, J., & Gaudré, D. (2002). Variation of piglets' birth weight and consequences on subsequent performance. *Livestock Production Science*, 78(1), 63–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(02)00181-1
- Radunz, A. E., Fluharty, F. L., Relling, A. E., Felix, T. L., Shoup, L. M., Zerby, H. N., & Loerch, S. C. (2012). Prepartum dietary energy source fed to beef cows: Ii. effects on progeny postnatal growth, glucose tolerance, and carcass composition. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90(13), 4962–4974. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2012-5098
- Rae, M. T., Kyle, C. E., Miller, D. W., Hammond, A. J., Brooks, A. N., & Rhind, S. M. (2002). The effects of undernutrition, in utero, on reproductive function in adult male and female sheep. *Animal Reproduction Science*, 72(1–2), 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4320(02)00068-4
- Rae, M. T., Palassio, S., Kyle, C. E., Brooks, A. N., Lea, R. G., Miller, D. W., & Rhind, S. M. (2001). Effect of maternal undernutrition during pregnancy on early ovarian development and subsequent follicular development in sheep fetuses. *Reproduction*, 122(6), 915–922. https://doi.org/10.1530/rep.0.1220915
- Rakyan, V. K., Preis, J., Morgan, H. D., & Whitelaw, E. (2001). The marks, mechanisms and memory of epigenetic states in mammals. *Biochemical Journal*, *356*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1042/0264-6021:3560001
- Rani, Y., Kaur, K., Sharma, M., & Kalia, N. (2020). In silico analysis of SNPs in human phosphofructokinase, muscle (PFKM) gene: An apparent therapeutic target of aerobic glycolysis and cancer. *Gene Reports*, 21(June), 100920. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genrep.2020.100920
- Razin, A., & Riggs, A. D. (1980). DNA methylation and gene function. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *210*(4470), 604–610. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.6254144
- Razin, A., & Szyf, M. (1984). DNA methylation patterns. Formation and function. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 782(4), 331–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-4781(84)90043-5
- Redmer, D. A., Wallace, J. M., & Reynolds, L. P. (2004). Effect of nutrient intake during pregnancy on fetal and placental growth and vascular development. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology*, 27(3 SPEC. ISS.), 199–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.domaniend.2004.06.006
- Rehfeldt, C., Fiedler, I., Dietl, G., & Ender, K. (2000). Myogenesis and postnatal skeletal muscle cell growth as influenced by selection. *Livestock Production Science*, *66*(2), 177–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(00)00225-6
- Rehfeldt, C., & Kuhn, G. (2006). Consequences of birth weight for postnatal growth performance and carcass quality in pigs as related to myogenesis. *Journal of Animal Science*, *84 Suppl*. https://doi.org/10.2527/2006.8413\_supplE113x
- Rehfeldt, C., Stickland, N., Fiedler, I., & Wegner, J. (1999). Environmental and genetic factors as sources of variation in skeletal muscle fibre number. *Bam-Padova-*, 9(5), 235–254.

- Rehfeldt, C., Te Pas, M. F. W., Wimmers, K., Brameld, J. M., Nissen, P. M., Berri, C., Valente, L. M. P., Power, D. M., Picard, B., Stickland, N. C., & Oksbjerg, N. (2011). Advances in research on the prenatal development of skeletal muscle in animals in relation to the quality of muscle-based food. I. Regulation of myogenesis and environmental impact. *Animal*, 5(5), 703–717. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731110002089
- Reynolds, L. P., Borowicz, P. P., Caton, J. S., Vonnahme, K. A., Luther, J. S., Buchanan, D. S., Hafez, S. A., Grazul-Bilska, A. T., & Redmer, D. A. (2010). Uteroplacental vascular development and placental function: An update. *International Journal of Developmental Biology*, 54(2–3), 355–365. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.0827991r
- Reynolds, L. P., Caton, J. S., Redmer, D. A., Grazul-Bilska, A. T., Vonnahme, K. A., Borowicz, P. P., Luther, J. S., Wallace, J. M., Wu, G., & Spencer, T. E. (2006). Evidence for altered placental blood flow and vascularity in compromised pregnancies. *Journal of Physiology*, 572(1), 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2005.104430
- Reynolds, L. P., & Redmer, D. A. (1995). Utero-placental vascular development and placental function. *Journal of Animal Science*, 73(6), 1839–1851. https://doi.org/10.2527/1995.7361839x
- Reynolds, L. P., & Redmer, D. A. (2001a). Angiogenesis in the Placenta. 1040, 1033–1040.
- Reynolds, L. P., & Redmer, D. A. (2001b). Angiogenesis in the placenta. *Biology of Reproduction*, 64(4), 1033–1040. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod64.4.1033
- Rieusset, J. (2018). The role of endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria contact sites in the control of glucose homeostasis: An update. *Cell Death and Disease*, 9(3), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-018-0416-1
- Robinson, D. L., Café, L. M., & Greenwood, P. L. (2013). Meat Science and muscle Biology Symposium: Developmental programming in cattle: Consequences for growth, efficiency, carcass, muscle, and beef quality characteristics. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91(3), 1428– 1442. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2012-5799
- Robinson, J. J., McDonald, I., Fraser, C., & Gordon, J. G. (1980). Studies on reproduction in prolific ewes. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 94(2), 331–338. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859600028938
- ROCHA, MIP; SOUZA, MM de; DINIZ, WJS; LIMA, AO of; Afonso, J.; TIZIOTO, PC; OLIVEIRA, PN de; REGITANO, LC de A.; KOLTES, JE; NICIURA, S. (2019). Liver DNA methylation profile in Nelore cattle extremes for feed efficiency. *Modelling Farmland Topography for Suitable Site Selection of Dam Construction Using Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) Photogrammetry*, 44(1), 1–14.
- Rougier, N., Bourc'his, D., Molina Gomes, D., Niveleau, A., Plachot, M., Pàldi, A., & Viegas-Péquignot, E. (1998). Chromosome methylation patterns during mammalian preimplantation development. In *Genes and Development* (Vol. 12, Issue 14, pp. 2108– 2113). https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.12.14.2108
- Sandoval, C., Lambo, C. A., Beason, K., Dunlap, K. A., & Satterfield, M. C. (2020). Effect of maternal nutrient restriction on skeletal muscle mass and associated molecular pathways in

SGA and Non-SGA sheep fetuses. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology*, 72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.domaniend.2020.106443

- Sangild, P. T. (2006). Gut responses to enteral nutrition in preterm infants and animals. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 231(11), 1695–1711. https://doi.org/10.1177/153537020623101106
- Sanglard, L. P., Nascimento, M., Moriel, P., Sommer, J., Ashwell, M., Poore, M. H., Duarte, M. D. S., & Serão, N. V. L. (2018). *Impact of energy restriction during late gestation on the muscle and blood transcriptome of beef calves after preconditioning*. 1–18.
- Santi, D. V., Garrett, C. E., & Barr, P. J. (1983). On the mechanism of inhibition of DNAcytosine methyltransferases by cytosine analogs. *Cell*, *33*(1), 9–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(83)90327-6
- Schiaffino, S., & Mammucari, C. (2011). Regulation of skeletal muscle growth by the IGF1-Akt/PKB pathway: Insights from genetic models. *Skeletal Muscle*, *1*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/2044-5040-1-4
- Schinckel, P. G., & Short, B. F. (1961). The influence of nutritional level during prenatal and early post-natal life on adult fleece and body characters. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, *12*(1), 176–202. https://doi.org/10.1071/AR9610176
- Schoknecht, P. A., Pond, W. G., Mersmann, H. J., & Maurer, R. R. (1993). Protein restriction during pregnancy affects postnatal growth in swine progeny. *Journal of Nutrition*, 123(11), 1818–1825. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/123.11.1818
- Seabury, C. M., Oldeschulte, D. L., Saatchi, M., Beever, J. E., Decker, J. E., Halley, Y. A., Bhattarai, E. K., Molaei, M., Freetly, H. C., Hansen, S. L., Yampara-Iquise, H., Johnson, K. A., Kerley, M. S., Kim, J. W., Loy, D. D., Marques, E., Neibergs, H. L., Schnabel, R. D., Shike, D. W., ... Taylor, J. F. (2017). Genome-wide association study for feed efficiency and growth traits in U.S. beef cattle. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-017-3754-y
- Seckl, J. R., & Holmes, M. C. (2007). Mechanisms of disease: Glucocorticoids, their placental metabolism and fetal "programming" of adult pathophysiology. *Nature Clinical Practice Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 3(6), 479–488. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncpendmet0515
- Sen, U., Sirin, E., Ensoy, U., Aksoy, Y., Ulutas, Z., & Kuran, M. (2016). The effect of maternal nutrition level during mid-gestation on postnatal muscle fibre composition and meat quality in lambs. In *Animal Production Science* (Vol. 56, Issue 5, pp. 834–843). https://doi.org/10.1071/AN14663
- Šestáková, Š., Šálek, C., & Remešová, H. (2019). DNA Methylation Validation Methods: A Coherent Review with Practical Comparison. *Biological Procedures Online*, *21*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12575-019-0107-z
- Shen, L., & Zhang, Y. (2013). 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine: Generation, fate, and genomic distribution. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 25(3), 289–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2013.02.017

Siqin, Minagawa, I., Okuno, M., Yamada, K., Sugawara, Y., Nagura, Y., Hamano, K.-I., Park, E.

Y., Sasada, H., & Kohsaka, T. (2013). The active form of goat insulin-like peptide 3 (INSL3) is a single-chain structure comprising three domains B-C-A, constitutively expressed and secreted by testicular Leydig cells. *Biological Chemistry*, *394*(9), 1181–1194. https://doi.org/10.1515/hsz-2012-0357

- Smith, B. I., Liefeld, A., Vásquez-Hidalgo, M. A., Vonnahme, K. A., Grazul-Bilska, A. T., Swanson, K. C., Mishra, N., Reed, S. A., Zinn, S. A., & Govoni, K. E. (2021). Mid- to lategestational maternal nutrient restriction followed by realimentation alters development and lipid composition of liver and skeletal muscles in ovine fetuses. *Journal of Animal Science*, 99(12), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skab299
- Smith, F. M., Holt, L. J., Garfield, A. S., Charalambous, M., Koumanov, F., Perry, M., Bazzani, R., Sheardown, S. A., Hegarty, B. D., Lyons, R. J., Cooney, G. J., Daly, R. J., & Ward, A. (2007). Mice with a Disruption of the Imprinted Grb10 Gene Exhibit Altered Body Composition, Glucose Homeostasis, and Insulin Signaling during Postnatal Life. *Molecular* and Cellular Biology, 27(16), 5871–5886. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.02087-06
- Spencer, T. E., & Bazer, F. W. (2004). Conceptus signals for establishing and maintenance of pregnancy. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*, 2, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7827-2-49
- Spencer, T. E., Ott, T. L., & Bazer, F. W. (1996). τ-Interferon: Pregnancy recognition signal in ruminants. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 213(3), 215–229. https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-213-44053
- Stalker, L. A., Adams, D. C., Klopfenstein, T. J., Feuz, D. M., & Funston, R. N. (2006). Effects of pre- and postpartum nutrition on reproduction in spring calving cows and calf feedlot performance. *Journal of Animal Science*, 84(9), 2582–2589. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2005-640
- Steyn, C., Hawkins, P., Saito, T., Noakes, D. E., Kingdom, J. C. P., & Hanson, M. A. (2001). Undernutrition during the ® rst half of gestation increases the predominance of fetal tissue in late-gestation ovine placentomes. 98, 165–170.
- Stress, N. R. C. (US) S. on E. (1981). Effect of Environment on Nutrient Requirements of Domestic Animals. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/4963
- Su, Q., & Wang, H. (2019). Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Oxidative Stress in the Pathogenesis. *Handbook of Mitochondrial Dysfunction*, 409.
- Sulewska, A., Niklińska, W., Kozłowski, M., Minarowski, Ł., Naumnik, W., Nikliński, J., Dabrowska, K., & Chyczewski, L. (2007). DNA methylation in states of cell physiology and pathology. *Folia Histochemica et Cytobiologica*, 45(3), 149–158. https://doi.org/10.5603/4518
- Suzuki, M. M., & Bird, A. (2008). DNA methylation landscapes: Provocative insights from epigenomics. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 9(6), 465–476. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2341
- Swanson, T. J., Hammer, C. J., Luther, J. S., Carlson, D. B., Taylor, J. B., Redmer, D. A., Neville, T. L., Reed, J. J., Reynolds, L. P., Caton, J. S., & Vonnahme, K. A. (2008). Effects of gestational plane of nutrition and selenium supplementation on mammary development

and colostrum quality in pregnant ewe lambs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 86(9), 2415–2423. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2008-0996

- Symonds, M. E., Pearce, S., Bispham, J., Gardner, D. S., & Stephenson, T. (2004). Timing of nutrient restriction and programming of fetal adipose tissue development. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 63(3), 397–403. https://doi.org/10.1079/pns2004366
- Szyf, M. (2009). Epigenetics, DNA methylation, and chromatin modifying drugs. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 49, 243–263. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-061008-103102
- T. A. YARNEYI, L. M. SANFORD, An. W. M. P. (1990). PUBERTAL DEVELOPMENT OF RAM LAMBS: BODY WEIGHT AND TESTICULAR SIZE MEASUREMENTS AS INDICES OF POSTPUBERTAL REPRODUCTIVE FUNCTION. J. Anim, 147, 139–147.
- Tahiliani, M., Koh, K. P., Shen, Y., Pastor, W. A., Bandukwala, H., Brudno, Y., Agarwal, S., Iyer, L. M., Liu, D. R., Aravind, L., & Rao, A. (2009). Conversion of 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mammalian DNA by MLL partner TET1. *Science*, 324(5929), 930–935. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1170116
- Takeda, K., Kobayashi, E., Akagi, S., Nishino, K., Kaneda, M., & Watanabe, S. (2017). Differentially methylated CpG sites in bull spermatozoa revealed by human DNA methylation arrays and bisulfite analysis. *Journal of Reproduction and Development*, 63(3), 279–287. https://doi.org/10.1262/jrd.2016-160
- Taplin, D. E., & Everitt, G. C. (1964). The influence of prenatal nutrition on postnatal performance of Merino lambs. *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production*, 5(i), 72–81.
- Team, R. C. F. for S. C. (2021). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing* (4.1.1). https://www.r-project.org
- Thomas, G., Aslan, J. E., Thomas, L., Shinde, P., Shinde, U., & Simmen, T. (2017). Caught in the act -protein adaptation and the expanding roles of the PACS proteins in tissue homeostasis and disease. *Journal of Cell Science*, 130(11), 1865–1876. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.199463
- Thomas, H. S. (2011). Cow Nutrition During Early Gestation Is Important. https://www.beefmagazine.com/genetics/1001-cow-nutrition-fetal-programming
- Thompson, R. P., Nilsson, E., & Skinner, M. K. (2020). Environmental epigenetics and epigenetic inheritance in domestic farm animals. *Animal Reproduction Science*, 220(November 2019), 106316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anireprosci.2020.106316
- Thornton, K. J. (2019). TRIENNIAL GROWTH SYMPOSIUM: The NUTRITION of MUSCLE GROWTH: Impacts of nutrition on the proliferation and differentiation of satellite cells in livestock species. *Journal of Animal Science*, *97*(5), 2258–2269. https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skz081
- Thu, K. L., Pikor, L. A., Kennett, J. Y., Alvarez, C. E., & Lam, W. L. (2010). Methylation analysis by DNA immunoprecipitation. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 222(3), 522–531. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.22009

- Tiffon, C. (2018). The impact of nutrition and environmental epigenetics on human health and disease. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *19*(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19113425
- Tipton, K. D., & Phillips, S. M. (2013). Dietary protein for muscle hypertrophy. *Nestle Nutrition Institute Workshop Series*, *76*, 73–84. https://doi.org/10.1159/000350259
- Tobi, E. W., Goeman, J. J., Monajemi, R., Gu, H., Putter, H., Zhang, Y., Slieker, R. C., Stok, A. P., Thijssen, P. E., Müller, F., Van Zwet, E. W., Bock, C., Meissner, A., Lumey, L. H., Eline Slagboom, P., & Heijmans, B. T. (2014). DNA methylation signatures link prenatal famine exposure to growth and metabolism. *Nature Communications*, 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6592
- Tong, J., Zhu, M. J., Underwood, K. R., Hess, B. W., Ford, S. P., & Du, M. (2008). AMPactivated protein kinase and adipogenesis in sheep fetal skeletal muscle and 3T3-L1 cells. *Journal of Animal Science*, 86(6), 1296–1305. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2007-0794
- Toschi, P., & Baratta, M. (2021). Ruminant Placental Adaptation in Early Maternal Undernutrition: An Overview. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 8(October). https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2021.755034
- Tost, J. (2016). Current and Emerging Technologies for the Analysis of the Genome-Wide and Locus-Specific DNA Methylation Patterns. In A. Jeltsch & R. Z. Jurkowska (Eds.), DNA Methyltransferases - Role and Function (pp. 343–430). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-43624-1 15
- Trahair, J. F., DeBarro, T. M., Robinson, J. S., & Owens, J. A. (1997). Restriction of nutrition in utero selectively inhibits gastrointestinal growth in fetal sheep. *Journal of Nutrition*, 127(4), 637–641. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/127.4.637
- Trotta, R. J., & Swanson, K. C. (2021). Prenatal and postnatal nutrition influence pancreatic and intestinal carbohydrase activities of ruminants. *Animals*, *11*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11010171
- Turek-Plewa, J., & Jagodziński, P. P. (2005). The role of mammalian DNA methyltransferases in the regulation of gene expression. *Cellular & Molecular Biology Letters*, *10*(4), 631–647.
- Vaessen, N., Janssen, J. A., Heutink, P., Hofman, A., Lamberts, S. W. J., Oostra, B. A., Pols, H. A. P., & Van Duijn, C. M. (2002). Association between genetic variation in the gene for insulin-like growth factor-I and low birthweight. *Lancet*, 359(9311), 1036–1037. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08067-4
- Van Emon, M. L., Schauer, C. S., Eckerman, S. R., Maddock Carlin, K. R., & Vonnahme, K. A. (2015). Supplementing metabolizable protein to ewes during late gestation: II. effects on ewe lamb performance and reproductive efficiency. *Journal of Animal Science*, 93(3), 1332–1339. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2014-7609
- Van Soest, P. J., Robertson, J. B., & Lewis, B. A. (1991). Methods for Dietary Fiber, Neutral Detergent Fiber, and Nonstarch Polysaccharides in Relation to Animal Nutrition. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 74(10), 3583–3597. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(91)78551-2

Verkauskiene, R., Jaquet, D., Deghmoun, S., Chevenne, D., Czernichow, P., & Lévy-Marchal, C.

(2005). Smallness for gestational age is associated with persistent change in insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) and the ratio of IGF-I/IGF-binding protein-3 in adulthood. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 90(10), 5672–5676. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2005-0423

- Verma, A., Rajput, S., De, S., Kumar, R., Chakravarty, A. K., & Datta, T. K. (2014). Genomewide profiling of sperm DNA methylation in relation to buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) bull fertility. *Theriogenology*, 82(5), 750-759.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2014.06.012
- Vilanova, C. S., Hirakata, V. N., De Souza Buriol, V. C., Nunes, M., Goldani, M. Z., & Da Silva, C. H. (2019). The relationship between the different low birth weight strata of newborns with infant mortality and the influence of the main health determinants in the extreme south of brazil. *Population Health Metrics*, 17(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12963-019-0195-7
- Vo, T., & Hardy, D. B. (2012). Molecular mechanisms underlying the fetal programming of adult disease. 139–153. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12079-012-0165-3
- von Maltzahn, J., Chang, N. C., Bentzinger, C. F., & Rudnicki, M. A. (2012). Wnt signaling in myogenesis. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 22(11), 602–609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2012.07.008
- Vonnahme, K. A. (2012). How the maternal environment impacts fetal and placental development: implications for livestock production. *Anim. Reprod., V, 9*(4), 789–797. http://www.animal-reproduction.org/article/5b5a6053f7783717068b46ca
- Vonnahme, K. A., Hess, B. W., Hansen, T. R., Mccormick, R. J., Rule, D. C., Moss, G. E., Murdoch, W. J., Nijland, M. J., Skinner, D. C., Nathanielsz, P. W., & Ford, S. P. (2003). *Maternal Undernutrition from Early- to Mid-Gestation Leads to Growth Retardation , Cardiac Ventricular Hypertrophy , and Increased Liver Weight in the Fetal Sheep.* 140(February), 133–140. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.102.012120
- Vorherr, H. (1982). Factors influencing fetal growth. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 142(5), 577–588. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9378(82)90765-7
- Waddington, C. H. (2012). The epigenotype. 1942. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 41(1), 10–13. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyr184
- Wallace, J. M., Aitken, R. P., & Cheyne, M. A. (1996). Nutrient partitioning and fetal growth in rapidly growing adolescent ewes. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility*, 107(2), 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1530/jrf.0.1070183
- Wallace, L. R. (1948). THE GROWTH OF LAMBS BEFORE AND AFTER BIRTH IN RELATION TO THE LEVEL OF NUTRITION. 38(July 1948).
- Wang, H., Ke, H., Zheng, Y., Lai, J., Luo, Q., & Chen, Q. (2017). A modified bisulfite conversion method for the detection of DNA methylation. *Epigenomics*, 9(7), 955–969. https://doi.org/10.2217/epi-2016-0174
- Wang, J., Chen, L., Li, D., Yin, Y., Wang, X., Li, P., Dangott, L. J., Hu, W., & Wu, G. (2008).

Intrauterine growth restriction affects the proteomes of the small intestine, liver, and skeletal muscle in newborn pigs. *Journal of Nutrition*, *138*(1), 60–66. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/138.1.60

- Wang, J., Wu, Z., Li, D., Li, N., Dindot, S. V., Satterfield, M. C., Bazer, F. W., & Wu, G. (2012). Nutrition, epigenetics, and metabolic syndrome. *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling*, 17(2), 282–301. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2011.4381
- Wang, S., & Wu, W. (2018). Chapter 5 DNA Methylation Alterations in Human Cancers. In Epigenetics in Human Disease. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812215-0.00005-4
- Wang, T., Yong, J. H., Shi, F., Ruo, J. X., & Hutz, R. J. (2005). Effects of intrauterine growth retardation on development of the gastrointestinal tract in neonatal pigs. *Biology of the Neonate*, 88(1), 66–72. https://doi.org/10.1159/000084645
- Wang, X., Lan, X., Radunz, A. E., & Khatib, H. (2013). Maternal nutrition during pregnancy is associated with differential expression of imprinted genes and DNA methyltranfereases in muscle of beef cattle offspring 1. 2, 35–40. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas2014-8148
- Wang, X., Tang, X., Gong, X., Albanis, E., Friedman, S. L., & Mao, Z. (2004). Regulation of hepatic stellate cell activation and growth by transcription factor myocyte enhancer factor 2. *Gastroenterology*, 127(4), 1174–1188. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2004.07.007
- Wang, Y. N., Yang, W. C., Li, P. W., Wang, H. B., Zhang, Y. Y., & Zan, L. Sen. (2018). Myocyte enhancer factor 2A promotes proliferation and its inhibition attenuates myogenic differentiation via myozenin 2 in bovine skeletal muscle myoblast. *PLoS ONE*, 13(4), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0196255
- Wang, Z., Qin, G., & Zhao, T. C. (2014). HDAC4: Mechanism of regulation and biological functions. *Epigenomics*, 6(1), 139–150. https://doi.org/10.2217/epi.13.73
- Wani, K., & Aldape, K. D. (2016). PCR Techniques in Characterizing DNA Methylation. Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.), 1392, 177–186. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-3360-0\_16
- Waterland, R. A., & Jirtle, R. L. (2003). Transposable Elements: Targets for Early Nutritional Effects on Epigenetic Gene Regulation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(15), 5293– 5300. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.23.15.5293-5300.2003
- Waterland, R. A., & Michels, K. B. (2007). Epigenetic epidemiology of the developmental origins hypothesis. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 27, 363–388. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.nutr.27.061406.093705
- Watson, R. E. (2014). Epigenetics. *Encyclopedia of Toxicology: Third Edition*, *2*, 438–443. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-386454-3.00966-0
- Willett, E. L., & Ohms, J. I. (1957). Measurement of Testicular Size and its Relation to Production of Spermatozoa by Bulls. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 40(12), 1559–1569. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(57)94678-7

Wilson, S. J., McEwan, J. C., Sheard, P. W., & Harris, A. J. (1992). Early stages of myogenesis

in a large mammal: Formation of successive generations of myotubes in sheep tibialis cranialis muscle. *Journal of Muscle Research and Cell Motility*, *13*(5), 534–550. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01737996

- Wlizla, M., & Zorn, A. M. (2015). Vertebrate Endoderm Formation. In Principles of Developmental Genetics: Second Edition (Second Edi). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-405945-0.00013-2
- Wu, G. (1998). Intestinal mucosal amino acid catabolism. *Journal of Nutrition*, *128*(8), 1249. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/128.8.1249
- Wu, G., Bazer, F. W., Wallace, J. M., & Spencer, T. E. (2006). Board-invited review: Intrauterine growth retardation: Implications for the animal sciences. *Journal of Animal Science*, 84(9), 2316–2337. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2006-156
- Wullschleger, S., Loewith, R., & Hall, M. N. (2006). TOR signaling in growth and metabolism. *Cell*, 124(3), 471–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.01.016
- Xu, C., Wang, X., Zhanwei, Z., Wu, J., Shenping, Z., & Quan, J. (2020). A Transcriptome Analysis Reveals that Hepatic Glycolysis and Lipid Synthesis Are Negatively Associated with Feed Efficiency in DLY Pigs. 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-66988-6
- Xue, Y., Guo, C., Hu, F., Zhu, W., & Mao, S. (2019). Maternal undernutrition induces fetal hepatic lipid metabolism disorder and affects the development of fetal liver in a sheep model. *FASEB Journal*, 33(9), 9990–10004. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201900406R
- Yan, X., Zhu, M.-J., Dodson, M. V., & Du, M. (2013). Developmental Programming of Fetal Skeletal Muscle and Adipose Tissue Development. *Journal of Genomics*, 1, 29–38. https://doi.org/10.7150/jgen.3930
- Yang, Y., Fan, X., Yan, J., Chen, M., Zhu, M., Tang, Y., Liu, S., & Tang, Z. (2021). A comprehensive epigenome atlas reveals DNA methylation regulating skeletal muscle development. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 49(3), 1313–1329. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa1203
- Yao, J., Huang, Y., Huang, R., Shi, R., Chen, P., Zhu, B., Li, M., Jiang, X., Zheng, M., Jiang, Y., & Yang, X. (2012). Epigenetic modifications and mRNA levels of the imprinted gene Grb10 in serially passaged fibroblast cells. *Biochimie*, 94(12), 2699–2705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2012.08.009
- Yasukochi, Y., Maruyama, O., Mahajan, M. C., Padden, C., Euskirchen, G. M., Schulz, V., Hirakawa, H., Kuhara, S., Pan, X. H., Newburger, P. E., Snyder, M., & Weissman, S. M. (2010). X chromosome-wide analyses of genomic DNA methylation states and gene expression in male and female neutrophils. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(8), 3704–3709. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0914812107
- Yoshida, Y., Fuchita, M., Ayumi, M. K., & Tomokazu, K. (2014). *Contribution of insulin* signaling to the regulation of pancreatic beta-cell mass during the catch-up growth period in a low birth weight mouse model. 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13340-013-0127-x
- Zaborski, D., Grzesiak, W., Szatkowska, I., Dybus, A., Muszynska, M., & Jedrzejczak, M.

(2009). Factors affecting dystocia in cattle. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals*, 44(3), 540–551. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0531.2008.01123.x

- Zago, D., Canozzi, M. E. A., & Barcellos, J. O. J. (2020). Pregnant beef cow's nutrition and its effects on postnatal weight and carcass quality of their progeny. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(8 August), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0237941
- Zambrano, E., Bautista, C. J., Deás, M., Martínez-Samayoa, P. M., González-Zamorano, M., Ledesma, H., Morales, J., Larrea, F., & Nathanielsz, P. W. (2006). A low maternal protein diet during pregnancy and lactation has sex- and window of exposure-specific effects on offspring growth and food intake, glucose metabolism and serum leptin in the rat. *Journal* of *Physiology*, 571(1), 221–230. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2005.100313
- Zhan, S., Ding, X., Zhong, T., Wang, L., Li, L., & Zhang, H. (2019). Comparison of IGF1R and IGF2R expression patterns in different tissues and muscle cells of Nanjiang Brown goats. *Acta Veterinaria et Zootechnica Sinica*, 50(4), 701–711.
- Zhang, S. S., Zhou, S., Crowley-Mchattan, Z. J., Wang, R. Y., & Li, J. P. (2021). A review of the role of endo/sarcoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria ca2+ transport in diseases and skeletal muscle function. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18083874
- Zhang, X., Wang, W., Mo, F., La, Y., Li, C., & Li, F. (2017). Association of residual feed intake with growth and slaughtering performance, blood metabolism, and body composition in growing lambs. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-13042-7
- Zhao, L., Huang, Y., & Du, M. (2019). Farm animals for studying muscle development and metabolism: Dual purposes for animal production and human health. *Animal Frontiers*, 9(3), 21–27. https://doi.org/10.1093/af/vfz015
- Zhao, L., Lu, T., Gao, L., Fu, X., Zhu, S., & Hou, Y. (2017). Enriched endoplasmic reticulummitochondria interactions result in mitochondrial dysfunction and apoptosis in oocytes from obese mice. *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology*, 8(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-017-0195-z
- Zhu, M. J., Ford, S. P., Means, W. J., Hess, B. W., Nathanielsz, P. W., & Du, M. (2006). Maternal nutrient restriction affects properties of skeletal muscle in offspring. *Journal of Physiology*, 575(1), 241–250. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2006.112110
- Zhu, M. J., Ford, S. P., Nathanielsz, P. W., & Du, M. (2004). Effect of maternal nutrient restriction in sheep on the development of fetal skeletal muscle. *Biology of Reproduction*, 71(6), 1968–1973. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.104.034561
- Zhu, Z., Cao, F., & Li, X. (2019). Epigenetic Programming and Fetal Metabolic Programming. Frontiers in Endocrinology, 10(December), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00764
- Zuo, T., Tycko, B., Liu, T. M., Lin, H. J. L., & Huang, T. H. M. (2009). Methods in DNA methylation profiling. *Epigenomics*, 1(2), 331–345. https://doi.org/10.2217/EPI.09.31
- Zurlo, F., Larson, K., Bogardus, C., & Ravussin, E. (1990). Skeletal muscle metabolism is a major determinant of resting energy expenditure. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 86(5), 1423–1427. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI114857